
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
SPECIAL WORKSHOP OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 29, 2020 
2:00 p.m. 

Dial:  301-715-8592 
Meeting ID: 841 6676 2914 

Password: 588592 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order Taylor Jones 

A. Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Our Mission and Vision Marty Kelsey 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Approval) Taylor Jones 

III. Community Communication  Taylor Jones 

IV. Old Business  Taylor Jones 

A. Board Policy (from the Governance Committee) (For Approval)     Barbara Sowada 

1. Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 

V. New Business  Taylor Jones  

A. Termination and Appeals Policy (For Review)        Richard Mathey 

B. Rules of Practice (For Review)          Richard Mathey 

C. Sentinel Event Policy (For Review)                 Kara Jackson, 

Director of Quality, Accreditation, Patient Safety 

D. Medical Imaging Project (For Approval)        Irene Richardson  

E. SLIB Capital Expenditure Request (For Ratification)       Richard Mathey 

VI. Committee Information 

A. Quality Committee Marty Kelsey 

B. Human Resources Committee  Ed Tardoni 

C. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

D. Compliance Committee Ed Tardoni 

E. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

F. Joint Conference Committee Richard Mathey 

VII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Taylor Jones 

VIII. Quality Committee Presentation at 4:00 PM Marty Kelsey 

IX. Action Following Executive Session                                                                      Taylor Jones  

X. Good of the Order                 Taylor Jones 

XI. Adjourn 

1/55



 

Our Mission 

Compassionate care for every 
life we touch. 

 

Our Vision 

To be our community’s trusted 
healthcare leader. 

 

Our Values 

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 
 

Our Strategies 

Patient Experience 

Workplace Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

 

 

2/55



 

1 
 

Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 
 

Statement of Purpose 
By law and regulatory requirements, the Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(Hospital) is responsible for the maintenance and retention of their records. Effective records 

management includes timely access to accurate and reliable information, assures transparency and 

accountability to the public, preserves the Hospital’s history, and preserves essential information.  

Definitions 
Board means Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Committee means any standing or ad hoc committee of the Board  

Custodian means the executive assistant of the CEO, who is responsible for the maintenance, care, and 

keeping of the public records. 

Meeting means any meeting duly convened, constituted and held by the Board; meetings convened by 

another entity to which the Board has been invited; and any meeting by one of the Board’s Committees. 

Minutes means the written record of the proceedings of the meeting, including actions, decisions, 

commitments and major discussion points  

Maintenance means the permanent and orderly preservation of minutes in either physical or digital 

mode  

Retention means the time period the minutes are required to be maintained. 

 

Policy 
Meeting minutes of the Board are the legal and official record of the Board’s actions and provide 

evidence of the Board’s interactions. Meeting minutes of Board Committees also provide a lasting 

record of actions and decisions by these Committees. 

It is the policy of the Board that its meeting minutes and those of its Committees shall be recorded and 

maintained in a manner that complies with Wyoming State statute and other regulatory requirements 

pertinent to governmental hospitals.1  

Procedure 
1. There shall be an official record, or minutes, of the proceedings of every meeting.  

2. Meeting minutes should include:  

a. Date of the meeting  

b. Time the meeting was called to order  

c. Names of the meeting participants and absentees  

d. Corrections and amendments to previous meeting minutes  

                                                           
1 W.S. 16-4-401 to 16-4-408 (2011) 

3/55



 

2 
 

e. Additions to the current agenda  

f. Whether a quorum is present  

g. Motions taken or rejected  

h. Voting-that there was a motion and second, and the outcome of the vote  

i. Actions taken or agreed to be taken  

j. Next steps  

k. Items to be held over  

l. New business 

m. Open discussion or public participation 

n. Next meeting date and time  

o. Time of adjournment 

3. The Board Secretary shall delegate the recording and drafting of Board meeting minutes to the 

executive assistant of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

4. For committees where someone other than the executive assistant of the CEO takes the 

minutes, the Committee chair is responsible for assuring that the CEO’s executive assistant has 

all the Committee meeting material for the upcoming Board meeting packet.  

5. Board meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by the Board and signed by 

the Board Secretary. Committee meeting minutes are official once they have been approved by 

Committee members.  

6. The minutes of executive sessions are confidential and are in the custody of the executive 

assistant of the CEO. 

7. Public meeting notice, as well as the meeting agenda, handouts and documents that were 

referred to during the meeting shall be attached to the official copy of the minutes. 

8. Storage and retention of all official records of the Board shall comply with Wyoming State 

statutes2 and are delegated to the executive assistant of the CEO. 

a. Minutes of all Board meetings shall be permanently retained in physical form. 

i. To protect from damage and destruction, physical copies of the minutes and 

their attached documents shall be retained in a safe, secure file cabinet in the 

office of the Hospital’s administration. 

ii. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the board portal. 

b. Minutes of all Committee meetings shall be retained for three years. 

i. Digital copies of the minutes and their attached documents shall be uploaded 

and retained in the appropriate Committee section of the board portal.  

ii. The administrative staff associated with the Committee shall be responsible for 

uploading each month’s meeting material into the board portal for storage. 

9. Board and Committee minutes are controlled from unauthorized access. 

a. Digital minutes are protected from unauthorized access through passwords. 

b. Access to paper minutes is under the purview of the executive assistant of the CEO. 

c. Minutes that are in the public domain shall be provided for public review without 

charge on equipment made available by the Hospital in its office. Copies of the minutes 

may be requested; the Hospital may set a fee to cover costs of copying. 

                                                           
2 W.S. 17-16-1601 and 17-19-1601 (2011) 

4/55



 

3 
 

10. Official minutes of all Board meetings will be part of the public material on the Board of 

Trustee’s section of the Hospital’s website. 

 

 

5/55



                                                                                                    Policy Stat #: 
 

Termination and Appeal 
General: 
This Termination and Appeal policy and procedure applies to all employees of Memorial 
Hospital excepting employed physicians and other providers. Only the Hospital’s Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) has the authority to terminate the employment of a Hospital employee 
and must provide a written directive to the Human Resources Office prior to any termination 
proceeding. 
 
This Termination and Appeal policy and procedure does not apply to reduction-in-force (layoffs) 
due to a lack of funds, lack of work or other reasons. 
 
From the time an employee is notified that he/she is being terminated, until all internal appeal 
avenues have been exhausted, the employee is entitled to continuing regular pay. At the 
discretion of the Hospital, the employee may be suspended with pay during this period of time, 
or may continue working. Should an employee resign, however, pay will cease at that time. 
 
Employees may not utilize the Hospital’s Conflict Resolution policy to address termination 
decisions. 
 

Definitions: 
At-Will Employee 
An employee who works for the Hospital and is in the “Introductory Period”, per Hospital 
policy. It is understood that no consideration has been furnished to the Hospital for the 
employment of the employee other than the employee’s services. Any employee has the right 
to terminate his/her employment with the Hospital and the Hospital has the same right. 
 
Part Time Employee 
An employee who occupies a position where the incumbent is scheduled to normally work less 
than thirty (30) hours in a work week. 
 
Full Time Employee 
An employee who occupies a position where the incumbent is scheduled to normally work 
thirty (30) hours a week or more. 
 
Termination: 
The involuntary termination of an employee by the Hospital’s CEO. 
 

Termination of “At-Will” Part Time Employees 
Notice of termination shall be provided by the Director of Human Resources, or designee, upon 
a written directive from the CEO, by registered or certified mail to the last known address of 
such employee. Proof of such written notice, together with the proof of mailing, shall be kept 

6/55



and retained in the records of the Hospital. Although one or more steps in the Hospital’s 
Corrective Action Policy may be applied, the Hospital will not necessarily give the employee 
formal reasons for the termination. 
 
Should the employee believe that the termination decision was based on the exercise of his or 
her constitutional rights, and/or that he or she has a reasonable expectation of continued 
employment, and/or that the action to terminate his or her employment would stigmatize him 
or her, the employee may appeal the decision to the CEO in writing within ten (10) calendar 
days of notification of termination. The CEO will review the written appeal and may (or may 
not) determine to interview the employee and/or discuss the matter with supervisory or other 
personnel. The CEO shall inform the employee of his or her decision in writing. The CEO’s 
decision in this matter is final. 
 

Termination of Non “At-Will” Part Time Employees 
Notice of termination shall be provided by the Director of Human Resources, or designee, upon 
a written directive from the CEO, by registered or certified mail to the last known address of 
such employee. Proof of such written notice, together with the proof of mailing, shall be kept 
and retained in the records of the Hospital. The employee shall be provided reasons for the 
termination by the Hospital. 
 
Should the employee decide to appeal the termination decision, the employee may appeal the 
decision to the CEO in writing within ten (10) calendar days of notification of termination. The 
CEO will review the written appeal and may (or may not) determine to interview the employee 
and/or discuss the matter with supervisory or other personnel. The CEO shall inform the 
employee of his or her decision in writing. The CEO’s decision in this matter is final. 
 

Termination of “At-Will” Full Time Employees 
The Director of Human Resources, or designee, having first received a written directive from 
the CEO, shall terminate the employment of a full time employee who is in the “Introductory 
Period” upon notification in writing of such decision by registered or certified mail to the last 
known address of such employee. Proof of such written notice together with the proof of 
mailing, shall be kept and retained in the records of the Hospital. Reasons for the termination 
decision shall not be given, other than outlined below. 
 
 Should the employee believe that the decision to terminate his or her employment was based 
on the exercise of his or her constitutional rights, and/or that he or she has a reasonable 
expectation of continued employment and/or that the action to terminate his or her 
employment would stigmatize him or her, the following procedure will take place: 
 

1. The employee may request a hearing before an Administrative Hearing Officer by 
requesting same in writing within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the termination 
notice. The request shall be made to the CEO. 

 

7/55



2. The CEO shall immediately notify the Board of Trustees’ attorney of the request and 
shall forward the written request for a hearing to him or her. The Board of Trustees’ 
attorney shall then arrange for an Administrative Hearing Officer to conduct a pre-
hearing conference as soon as practical. 
 

3. At the request of the Administrative Hearing Officer, the CEO shall submit to the 
Administrative Hearing Officer his or her reasons for termination. At the same time, the 
Administrative Hearing Officer shall request the employee to submit to the 
Administrative Hearing Officer substantial evidence that the termination decision was 
based upon an exercise of his or her constitutional rights and/or that he or she has a 
reasonable expectation of continued employment, and/or how the action of 
termination would stigmatize him or her. 
 

4. After reviewing the reasons for the termination and any evidence submitted by the 
employee, the Administrative Hearing Officer shall determine that: 
 
a. Sufficient evidence has been presented by the employee to warrant a formal hearing 

by the Administrative Hearing Officer. In such case, a hearing will be scheduled and, 
at the conclusion of the hearing, the Administrative Hearing Officer will submit a 
written copy of his or her findings, conclusions, and recommendations to the Board 
of Trustees for a final decision. 

OR 
 
b. Insufficient evidence has been presented by the employee to warrant a formal 

hearing by the Administrative Hearing Officer. In such a case, the Administrative 
Hearing Officer will inform both the CEO and the employee of his or her findings. 
The CEO shall discuss these findings with the Board of Trustees’ attorney and will 
subsequently make a recommendation to the Board of Trustees for a final decision. 

 
5. If the Administrative Hearing Officer determines that a formal hearing shall be held, he 

or she will immediately provide the employee the CEO’s reasons for termination and will 
immediately provide the CEO with any evidence submitted by the employee. 
OR 
 
If the Administrative Hearing Officer determines that a formal hearing is not warranted, 
upon request, he or she will provide the employee the CEO’s reasons for termination. 

 
6. Every reasonable effort shall be made by the Hospital to ensure that these due process 

proceedings are conducted in a timely manner. The Administrative Hearing Officer shall 
make a determination as to whether or not a formal hearing is warranted within thirty 
(30) calendar days from receipt of notice by the Board of Trustees’ attorney. Should the 
Administrative Hearing Officer determine that a formal hearing be conducted, he or she 
shall notify the Board of Trustees’ attorney of same. The Board of Trustees’ attorney 
shall then arrange for a pre-hearing conference as soon as practical. The formal hearing 

8/55



shall be held within thirty (30) calendar days following the pre-hearing conference. The 
Hospital shall pay for all administrative costs associated with the hearing including fees 
charged by the Hearing Officer and transcription services. The parties shall pay their 
own legal fees, if any. The Hospital’s Rules of Practice Governing Hearings shall be 
followed. Should the Administrative Hearing Officer determine that a formal hearing is 
not warranted, a recommendation regarding the disposition of the case shall be made 
to the Board of Trustees within thirty (30) calendar days of the Administrative Hearing 
Officer’s determination. 

 
 

Termination of Non “At-Will” Full Time Employees 
The Director of Human Resources, or designee, having first received a written directive from 
the CEO, shall terminate the employment of a full time employee who is not in the 
“Introductory Period”, upon notification in writing of such decision by registered or certified 
mail to the last known address of such employee. Proof of such written notice together with 
the proof of mailing, shall be kept and retained in the records of the Hospital.  
 
Prior to making the decision to terminate a full time employee in this category, and prior to 
notifying the employee of the decision, the CEO shall conduct an informal Pre-Determination 
Opportunity Meeting. The CEO shall notify the employee of the meeting by any appropriate 
means, giving the employee at least a week’s notice. The employee may waive his or her right 
to participate in the meeting. At the meeting, the Hospital’s Director of Human Resources, or 
designee, shall be in attendance. The employee’s supervisor shall also be in attendance, unless 
the employee plans to attend the meeting and objects to same. The employee is allowed to 
have a limited number of other individuals attend this meeting and to speak in support of the 
employee. 
 
At the Pre-Determination Opportunity Meeting, the CEO shall inform the employee that he or 
she is considering terminating the employee’s employment at the Hospital. The CEO’s reasons 
for considering the possible termination shall be shared with the employee. The employee shall 
be informed that this is an opportunity for the employee to share with the CEO information 
regarding his or her employment that the CEO can take into consideration prior to making a 
decision whether or not to terminate the employee. 
 
Subsequent to the Pre-Determination Opportunity Meeting, the CEO shall make a decision. 
Should the CEO make the decision to terminate the employee, the employee shall be notified 
as set forth above. If the employee decides to appeal the termination decision, the following 
procedure will take place. 
 

1. The employee may request a formal hearing before an Administrative Hearing 
Officer by requesting same in writing within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the 
termination notice provided by the Hospital’s Human Resources Office. The request 
shall be made to the CEO. 

 

9/55



2. The CEO shall immediately notify the Board of Trustees’ attorney of the request and 
shall forward the written request for a hearing to him or her. The Board of Trustees’ 
attorney shall then arrange for an Administrative Hearing Officer to conduct a pre-
hearing conference as soon as practical. 

 
3. Every reasonable effort shall be made by the Hospital to ensure that these due 

process proceedings are conducted in a timely manner. The hearing shall be held 
within thirty (30) calendar days following the pre-hearing conference. 

 
4. The Hospital shall pay all administrative costs associated with the hearing including 

fees charged by the Hearing Officer and transcription services. The parties shall pay 
their own legal fees, if any. 

 
5. The Hospital’s Rules of Practice Governing Hearings shall be followed. 
 

 

10/55



Physicians  
An independent (non-employed) physician who raises a constitutional defense to a 
credentialing or privileging decision by MEC may avail himself of this Termination and Appeal 
process.  
  
An employed physician who raises a constitutional defense to a credentialing or privileging 
decision by MEC may avail himself of this Termination and Appeal process. 
An employed physician who raises a constitutional defense to an adverse employment action, 
such as termination under his/her Professional Services Contract, and believes the termination 
was based on the exercise of his or her constitutional rights, and/or that he or she has a 
reasonable expectation of continued employment, and/or that the action to terminate his or 
her employment would stigmatize him or her may avail himself of the Termination and Appeal 
process.  
  
 

11/55



DRAFT

Current Status: Draft PolicyStat ID: 8766711 

Approved: N/A 
Review Due: N/A 
Document Area: Risk Management 
Reg. Standards: LD 03.09.01, MS 05.01.01, TJC 

RI.01.02.01, EP 21 

Sentinel Event Policy 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

TEXT 
Definitions 

I. Sentinel Event - An unexpected occurrence involving death or serious physical or psychological injury, or 

risk thereof.  Such events are called "sentinel" because they signal the need for immediate investigation 

and response.  Furthermore, a Sentinel Event can also be described as a patient safety event (not 

primarily related to the natural course of the patient’s illness or underlying condition) that reaches a 

patient and results in any of the following: 

A. Death 

B. Permanent Harm 

C. Severe Temporary Harm 

D. Any of the following events: 

1. Suicide of any patient receiving care, treatment, or services in a staffed around-the-clock care 

setting or within 72 hours of discharge, including from the organization’s emergency department 

(ED) 

2. Unanticipated death of a full-term infant 

3. Discharge of an infant to the wrong family 

4. Abduction of any patient receiving care, treatment, or services 

5. Any elopement (that is, unauthorized departure) of a patient from a staffed around-the- clock 

care setting (including the ED) leading to the death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm 

of the patient 

6. Administration of blood or blood products having unintended ABO and non-ABO (Rh, Duffy, 

It is the goal of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County to provide the safe, high-quality care that our 

community deserves and expects from our institution.  We must constantly work to reduce the occurrence of 

serious safety events and Sentinel Events in our facility.  When a Sentinel Event occurs, it is our responsibility 

to carry out an expeditious and thorough investigation to reduce or eradicate future harm to patients, staff, and 

facility, as well as report the appropriate event to the necessary federal agencies. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 6

12/55

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



DRAFT

Kell, Lewis, and other clinically important blood groups) incompatibilities, hemolytic transfusion 

reactions, or transfusions resulting in severe temporary harm, permanent harm, or death 

7. Rape, assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm), or homicide of 

any patient receiving care, treatment, or services while on site at the organization 

8. Rape, assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm), or homicide of a 

staff member, licensed independent practitioner, visitor, or vendor while on site at the 

organization 

9. Surgery or other invasive procedure performed at the wrong site, on the wrong patient, or that is 

the wrong (unintended) procedure for a patient 

10. Unintended retention of a foreign object in a patient after an invasive procedure, including 

surgery 

11. Severe neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (bilirubin >30 milligrams/deciliter) 

12. Prolonged fluoroscopy with cumulative dose >1,500 rads to a single field or any delivery of 

radiotherapy to the wrong body region or >25% above the planned radiotherapy dose 

13. Fire, flame, or unanticipated smoke, heat, or flashes occurring during direct patient care caused 

by equipment operated and used by the hospital. To be considered a sentinel event, equipment 

must be in use at the time of the event; staff do not need to be present 

14. Any intrapartum (related to the birth process) maternal death 

15. Any event in which it's classification as a Sentinel Event is unclear 

E. For further in depth definitions, please review attached document "The Joint Commission Sentinel 

Event Policy". 

II. Severe Temporary Harm- critical, potentially life-threatening harm lasting for a limited time with no 

permanent residual, but requires transfer to a higher level of care/monitoring for a prolonged period of 

time, transfer to a higher level of care for a life-threatening condition, or additional major surgery, 

procedure, or treatment to resolve the condition. 

III. Sexual Abuse/Assault - is defined as non-consensual sexual contact involving a patient and another 

patient, staff member, or other perpetrator while being treated or on the premises of the organization, 

including oral, vaginal, or anal penetration or fondling of the patients' sex organ(s) by another individual’s 

hand, sex organ, or object. One or more of the following must be present to determine that it is a sentinel 

event: 

A. Any staff-witnessed sexual contact as described above 

B. Admission by the perpetrator that sexual contact, as described above, occurred on the premises 

C. Sufficient clinical evidence obtained by the organization to support allegations of unconsented sexual 

contact 

IV. Invasive Procedure-procedure in which skin or mucous membranes and/or connective tissue are incised 

or punctured, an instrument is introduced through a natural body orifice, or insertion of foreign material 

into the body for diagnostic or treatment-related purposes. Examples of invasive procedures include 

central line and chest tube insertions, biopsies and excisions, and all percutaneous procedures (e.g., 

cardiac, electrophysiology, interventional radiology). 

V. Occurrence Report - The online form submitted by staff to the Risk/Compliance Department as 

described in the Occurrence Reporting procedure 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 6

13/55



DRAFT

VI. Root Cause Analysis (RCA) - A comprehensive systemic evaluation of an occurrence in an attempt to 

identify underlying causes or effects of a serious safety event. An RCA can also be described as an 

interdisciplinary team analysis to definitively determine the conditions that caused an event, with the 

understanding that if the undesirable condition where eliminated, changed, or controlled, the event could 

have been prevented. 

VII. Action plan - The product of a Root Cause Analysis that identifies the strategies that an organization 

plans to implement to reduce the risk of similar events occurring in the future. 

A. An appropriate action plan includes: 

1. Identification of changes that can be implemented to reduce risk, or formulates a rationale for 

not undertaking such changes. 

2. The plan should address responsibility for implementation, oversight, pilot testing if appropriate, 

time lines and methods for measuring the effectiveness of the recommended actions. 

3. Action plans will include the adequacy of staffing, including nursing staffing, in its analysis of 

possible causes 

Internal Reporting of Suspected Sentinel Events 

I. Identification of a Sentinel Event 

A. When a safety event, or occurrence takes place, the first course of action is to stabilize the patient or 

environment. 

B. Following the stabilization, any potential Sentinel Event is to be reported immediately to the Risk/

Compliance Department and/or Administrator On Call (AOC). An individual must also be designated 

to complete an Occurrence Report. 

C. Upon notification, this individual will undertake or direct an initial investigation to determine if the 

occurrence is indeed a Sentinel Event as defined by this policy. If the event is determined not to be 

sentinel in nature, it will be addressed in accordance with the established Occurrence Report 

procedure. 

D. If the event is determined to be sentinel in nature, then the Hospital shall respond as noted in this 

policy. 

II. Notification/Communication of Sentinel Events 

A. Upon determination that a Sentinel Event has occurred, the Risk/Compliance Department and/or 

available Administrator On Call will notify key representatives of the Hospital's leadership team. 

B. The Risk/Compliance Department or the AOC will also be responsible for notifying the Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) and Board President of the sentinel event. 

C. Per the Event Disclosure policy, the Risk/Compliance Department, in conjunction with the attending 

physician, and legal counsel will determine the proper time and method disclosure of the event to the 

patient and the family. 

III. Formation of a Sentinel Event Response Team 

A. A team is to be formed to respond to a Sentinel Event. The team should include, but not necessarily 

be limited to, the following: 

1. Appropriate representatives of administration, medical staff, legal, risk, quality, and public 

relations. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 6

14/55



DRAFT

2. Those individuals directly involved in the event 

B. The purpose of the team will be to coordinate an investigation into the incident, conduct a root cause 

analysis, and determine corrective actions to undertake in response to finding and/or identified 

opportunities for improvement. 

IV. Protection from Discovery 

A. All activities undertaken by the team should be done under the auspices of the quality management 

functions and medical staff quality assurance / peer review process. Other legal protections are to be 

implemented as determined by legal counsel. 

V. Immediate Remediation 

A. The team will undertake those actions necessary to remediate any immediate threat or likelihood of 

the Sentinel Event recurring. 

VI. Investigation of Event/Conducting a Root Cause Analysis 

A. The team is to undertake a thorough and credible Root Cause Analysis (RCA) of the Sentinel Event. 

The RCA should be completed within 45 days of the organization becoming aware of the event. 

1. A Root Cause Analysis may also be organized at the request of a leader in any department as a 

method to delineate cause in an occurrence of lesser significance. 

B. Facilitation must be done by 3 or more trained staff members in the following positions: 

1. Main facilitator(s) 

2. Staff member(s) to maintain the visual media 

3. Note taker(s) 

C. The RCA must follow the systems involved in the adverse event, not solely the staff or providers 

involved. 

D. All information discussed within the RCA is to be kept confidential within MHSC. 

E. Developing and Implementing an Action Plan 

1. Once the RCA has been completed, the team is to develop and implement a corrective action 

plan that will address both direct and root causes as well as – when appropriate -- special and 

common cause variation. Special cause is a factor that intermittently and unpredictably induces 

variation over and above what is inherent in the system. It often appears as an extreme point 

(such as a point beyond the control limits on a control chart) or some specific, identifiable 

pattern in data. Common cause is a factor that results from variation inherent in the process or 

system. The risk of a common cause can be reduced by redesigning the process or system. 

2. The action items are given due dates and responsible parties for completion. 

F. The notes/information from the RCA is documented in the the attached Appendix A: "RCA and 2.0 

Action Plan Worksheet" form. 

VII. Internal Reporting 

A. A summary, void of patient or practitioner identifiable information, of the Sentinel Event, the root 

cause(s) identified, and the corrective actions taken will be reported to the Patient Safety 

Committee, Quality Committee of the Board, Medical Executive Committee and to the Board of 

Trustees. The corrective action plan will also be communicated to other appropriate parties within the 

organization. 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 4 of 6

15/55



DRAFT

External Reporting of Sentinel Events 

I. Our Hospital has made the decision to voluntarily report Sentinel Events to The Joint Commission for 

review. 

II. The CEO or their designee will be responsible for correspondence with outside agencies inquiring about 

sentinel, or other serious safety events. The decision to report a potential Sentinel Event to The Joint 

Commission for review will be made with prior knowledge of the CEO. 

III. A report that complies with The Joint Commission requirements will be compiled following the RCA that 

will be available for external reporting.  This report must include: 

A. Comprehensive Systemic Analysis of the event 

B. Action plans and time-line for completion 

IV. Risk/Compliance will prepare report described above and will collaborate with Quality/Accreditation 

regarding submission of report to The Joint Commission within 45 business days of becoming aware of 

event.  

A. Should The Joint Commission become aware of a Sentinel Event by reporting from a third party, the 

official report with follow-up information is required within 45 business days of becoming aware of the 

event 

Confidentiality 

I. Record Keeping 

A. A record of the investigation into the Sentinel Event, the subsequent RCA, and any performance 

improvement activities undertaken is to be maintained and should be constructed in such a way as to 

be afforded statutory protection from discovery. 

II. WY Stat 35-2-910. Quality management function for health care facilities; confidentiality; immunity; whistle 

blowing; peer review. 

A. Subsection A. "Each licensee [hospital, healthcare facility and health services] shall implement a 

quality management function to evaluate and improve patient and resident care and services in 

accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the division. Quality management 

information relating to the evaluation or improvement of the quality of health care services is 

confidential. Any person who in good faith and within the scope of the function of a quality 

management program participate in the reporting, collection, evaluation, or use of quality 

management information or performs other functions as part of a quality management program with 

regards to a specific circumstance shall be immune from suit in any civil action based on such 

functions brought by a health care providers or person to whom the quality information pertains. In no 

event shall this immunity apply to any negligent or intention act or omission in the provision of care." 

III. All quality and patient safety data, materials, and information are private and confidential, shall be 

considered the property of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, and as such is protected by state 

and federal health care quality statutes. 

IV. Confidentiality shall be maintained based on full respect of the patient's right to privacy and in keeping 

with hospital policy and state and federal regulations governing the confidentiality of quality and patient 

safety work. 

V. Information, data results, reports and minutes generated by all quality management activities will be 

handled in a manner ensuring strict confidentiality 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 5 of 6

16/55



DRAFT

VI. Confidential information may include but is not limited to: Medical Staff committee minutes, organizational 

quality improvement committee minutes, electronic data gathering and reporting, and incident/occurrence 

reporting W.S 35-17-105 

VII. Quality improvement activities will occur in ways that preserve confidentiality of information consistent 

with policy and established law 

References 

Attachments 

Appendix A: RCA 2.0 and Action Plan Worksheet (non-fillable) 

The Joint Commission Sentinel Event Policy - Updated 1.2020 

Replaces: Sentinel Events, SPP 121 

I. United Regional. (LRG Healthcare. (August, 2020). Sentinel Event Policy & Procedure. Unpublished internal 

document, United Regional. 

 

Approval: MEC 09/22/2020; Quality Committee of the Board 10/21/2020; Board of Trustees 

Sentinel Event Policy. Retrieved 10/26/2020. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8766711/.

Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 6 of 6

17/55



18/55



19/55



20/55



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Chair’s Report…October Quality Committee Meeting 
Date:  October 24, 2020 
 
Below are some highlights of the October Quality Committee meeting. The meeting minutes 
given the Board provide more information and detail.  The Patient Safety Plan was presented 
for review and approval. The Quality Committee approved the plan. This plan will also be 
considered for approval by PIPS, MEC, and the Board of Trustees. Mr. Mathey will discuss the 
statute associated with confidentiality at the next Quality meeting. 
 
The Sentinel Event policy was presented for approval. It was approved. A sentinel event is an 
unexpected occurance involving the death or serious physical or psychological injury, or risk 
thereof. Immediate investigation and response is required. The Joint Commission addresses this 
policy.  
 
Mr. Corey Worden presented some statistical data relative to how MHSC is doing with respect 
to the Star Rating system. Mr. Worden said that our rating should be unchanged; but, a new 
system will probably be in place soon so we will have to see how it impacts the rating. 
 
Dr. Quickenden presented some information on how we evaluate clinical contracts. At the next 
Quality Committee meeting, there will be an executive session to discuss clinical contracts. 
 
Kara Jackson reviewed the “From the Director” section, highlighting significant achievements 
and areas of concern. 
 
The Quality staff is preparing for the Board presentation to be held on October 29th at 4:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

21/55



 

  Page 1 of 3 

Confidential   10/26/2020 

Quality Committee Meeting 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

October 21, 2020 

 
 

Present:  Voting Members: Kara Jackson (Quality Director), Dr. Kari Quickenden (CCO), 

Richard Mathey (Board Member), Irene Richardson (CEO), Marty Kelsey (Quality 

Board Chair), Leslie Taylor (Clinic Director), Tami Love (CFO), Dr. Banu Symington, 

Dr. Cielette Karn 

 

Non-voting Members:  Gabrielle Seilbach, Karali Plonsky, Corey Worden, Cindy 

Nelson, Dr. Melinda Poyer (CMO), Ann Clevenger (CNO), Noreen Hove 

 

Absent/Excused:  Voting Members:  

  

Non-voting Members: Kalpana Pokhrel 

 

Chair:   Mr. Marty Kelsey  

 

Approval of Agenda & Minutes 

Mr. Kelsey presented the Agenda for approval. Mr. Mathey motioned to approve, Ms. 

Richardson seconded the motion. Mr. Kelsey then present last month’s Quality Committee 

Minutes from September 16, 2020 for approval. Dr. Quickenden motioned to approve and Ms. 

Richardson seconded the motion. Both were approved unanimously. 

 

Mission Moment 

Ms. Richardson shared a moment from the Sweetwater feedback page – Shout out to Dr. 

Barton and his office for treating patient with caring and compassion, living up to our Mission: 

“Compassionate care for every life we touch”. 

 

Mr. Mathey gave a shout out to us – he had a procedure a few weeks ago and prior to 

procedure all his records from MHSC were easily pulled up. He noted something was obviously 

working well! 

 

Old Business 

The Surveys on Patient safety Culture PowerPoint was shared by Karali Plonsky and Gabriel 

Seilbach. See attached. Dr. Symington noted concern for anonymity for survey isn’t always a 

guarantee for small departments with specific job descriptions. Ms. Jackson stated that the 

survey doesn’t report on areas with less than 5 comments to preserve that anonymity. She also 

noted we need to convey that information to staff next time for additional confidence in 

anonymity. Dr. Symington further questioned could specific areas get a breakdown of results, to 

help them understand what they need to work on? Ms. Plonsky stated yes – that would be their 

next move in sharing the results and meetings will be set up. Dr. Karn noted problems with 

reporting concerns and occurrences is because MIDAS is often difficult to use. Dr. Quickenden 

responded, by assuring they were aware of the issue and are currently looking into another 

reporting system. 

 

Ms. Seilbach presented the updated Patient Safety Plan for review and approval. She noted 

that they developed this plan by evaluating and combining 4 other plans and included key 

points from The Joint Commission. Our goal with Patient Safety is to create a Just Culture which 

 

22/55



 

  Page 2 of 3 

Confidential   10/26/2020 

allows staff to feel supported and safe as well as empowered to speak up about their errors.  Mr. 

Kelsey commented that in many industries they state “Safety is first”, and the doctor’s oath 

states “Do no harm” – so question is who approves the plan? Ms. Jackson noted that this plan 

will be approved by PIPS, Quality, MEC, and the Board. Once those approvals are garnered the 

information will be added to the bottom of the document. Mr. Kelsey had a second question 

regarding confidentiality and the statute that is sited WY Stat 35-2-910 and what it means in 

layman’s terms. Mr. Mathey noted the statute is often misinterpreted and worthy of a 10-15 

minute discussion that he would be happy to more fully address at the next Quality meeting. Mr. 

Kelsey further questioned if there was a clear description of who holds whom accountable in 

the event of a safety issue? Dr. Quickenden stated the Just Culture algorithm will be utilized in 

terms of accountability and it starts from the top down. Mr. Kelsey requested a motion to 

approve the Patient Safety Plan, Mr. Mathey motioned to approve, Dr. Poyer seconded the 

motion. The motion was unanimously approved.  

 

Quality Reporting Program Results – HACRP Follow-up was presented by Noreen Hove. Ms. Hove 

noted the question leading to this report was about the penalty we incurred for our C.diff 

numbers. Ms. Hove worked with Sarah Roth, Infection Preventionist at Tufts Medical Center. Ms. 

Roth was our previous Infection Preventionist. They looked at our reported numbers and 

processes and have already placed process improvements, with plans for continued process 

improvements in place. See attached. Dr. Karn noted that they feel the Lab has already made 

some of these improvements and will communicate with Ms. Hove prior to C.diff testing to 

continue to work on rejection processes. Ms. Hove will work with Valerie Boggs, M/S Clinical 

Coordinator to possibly create a checklist, before sending specimens for testing. Mr. Kelsey 

questioned how can we ensure improvement processes are being followed? Ms. Hove stated 

we should see the answer in the decrease of C.diff hospital acquired cases, which is the goal. 

 

New Business 

Ms. Jackson and Dr. Quickenden presented the Sentinel Event policy. Wording was taken 

directly from The Joint Commission (TJC) Sentinel Event policy on the TJC website. We have 

defined for staff what exactly a sentinel event is and the process for determining one, as well as 

outlining the reporting process. Mr. Kelsey questioned whether Ms. Richardson, CEO was on the 

approval path. Ms. Clevenger, CNO noted she and Dr. Quickenden will work to ensure the 

committees and persons needed for approval will be listed on the document, prior to moving 

through the Approval process. Mr. Kelsey requested a motion to approve the Sentinel Event 

policy. Dr. Poyer motioned to approve and Mr. Mathey seconded the motion. Motion was 

unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Corey Worden presented the Hospital Compare statistics analysis. Mr. Worden noted  he has 

been working on this document for about a year with quarterly updates, with the idea to look at 

and predict our Star rating. Based on our best calculations, these current numbers shouldn’t 

change our 4-Star rating. 

 

Ms. Hove presented information on Root Cause Analysis (RCA), which is a process used to “drill 

down” on adverse or “never” events that occur, i.e. wrong site, wrong surgery. Events that 

should never happen. Ms. Hove outlined a recent process as an example. 

 

Ms. Quickenden presented Contract review and some of the new tools we have put in place 

for evaluating contracts. It was noted that the Medical Staff should be included in clinical 

contract selection and based on that information it was taken to MEC where increased 

23/55



 

  Page 3 of 3 

Confidential   10/26/2020 

monitoring parameters put in place.  It was also noted at a TJC Breakfast briefing we should be 

adding clinical and student contracts also for evaluation, i.e. nursing, lab, etc. It was stated that 

contract discussion is confidential and discussed in Executive session. Mr. Mathey requested we 

have an Executive session at the next meeting to discuss contracts. 

 

 

Medical Staff Update 

Dr. Poyer reported Medical Staff Updates as Dr. Karn had to leave meeting early. From Medical 

Staff standpoint we continue to have weekly Covid updates with staff and public health. We 

continue to have a significant increase in Covid statewide. Wyoming Medical Center has 

activated Code Orange and have stopped accepting non-emergent transports from outside 

the community, including stopping elective procedures. MHSC and Sweetwater County have 

continued to do incredibly well – which is a credit to our facility, laboratory, administration and 

public health. 

 

From the Director 

Ms. Jackson reviewed her Director of Quality Report – Significant Achievements and Progress.  

See attached. 

 

 
Meeting Adjourned   The meeting adjourned at 10:00 am 

 

Next Meeting    November 18, 2020 at 08:15 am, via ZOOM 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

_____________________________________________      

Robin Fife, Recording Secretary 

24/55



Quality Committee of the Board 

Quality, Risk, Safety, & Accreditation Summary  

October 2020 

 

Three Priorities FY 2021 

1. HCAHPS/Patient Experience 

2. High Level Disinfection  

3. Culture of Safety Survey Results and Action Plans 

 

1) Star Rating 

a. There are seven categories within the Star Rating and they are as follows: mortality, 

readmission, safety of care, efficient use of medical imaging, timeliness of care, patient 

experience (see next bullet) and effectiveness of care. Each of these seven categories 

contain several data metrics. Data within the following categories continues to trend in 

right direction: mortality. Opportunities for improvement exist within the efficient use of 

medical imaging category. OP-10 Abdomen CT with and without Contrast – Project 

Team is working on improvements of process at this time, will continue to monitor. June 

and July’s data within the readmission category has increased, an in-depth analysis of the 

data has been completed and did not yield any trending gaps in our processes. Case 

Management and Care Transition continue to monitor the data and their processes. Data 

for August has decreased, and will continue to monitor. An opportunity for improvement 

exists within the safety of care category, specifically for the CDI (Clostridioides difficile 

infection) measure, Infection Preventionist working on improvements with nursing 

departments and the medical staff.  

b. Within the Timeliness of Care category, Ed-2b: ED Median Admit Decision Time to ED 

Departure Time has seen an increase in the data over the past few months. The most 

recent month of data has trended down again. The project team is aware and is 

identifying and developing thresholds for each part of the part of the Patient Flow 

process. These thresholds have been identified and implemented on September 1st, so will 

continue to monitor data to see if these improvements were effective. Within the 

Effectiveness of Care category, we continue to see fluctuations with the data for Core 

Sep1 – Early Management Bundle, Severe Sepsis/Septic Shock. Scorecards identifying 

opportunities for improvement continue to be sent to physicians and nurses. Sepsis team 

developed new visual tool to ensure all elements of bundle are met in a timely manner 

and rounding and education have taken place. The sepsis project team continues to work 

towards their new goal related to improving compliance with ordering and obtaining 

blood cultures within specified timeframe. Improvement work continues for Core OP-23 

– Head CT/MRI Results for Stroke Pts within 45 minutes of Arrival.  

c. Patient Experience-HCAHPS: The “Inpatient HCAHPS” is the survey data that affects 

our Star Rating and Value Based Purchasing reimbursement program. This survey 

includes OB, ICU, and Med-Surg. Please see the “Introduction to Press Ganey” 

document for further information.  

2) Risk/Safety 

25/55



a. We recognize that this system is limited. The data brought forth is a work in progress. 

The falls average is 1.11 falls per month. During investigation of the falls, no recurrent 

themes are present. Medication errors continue to be the majority of the occurrence 

reports. During investigations for August (2) and September (2), wrong weights were 

identified as an issue. The corresponding departments have been notified and are working 

towards process improvements.  

b. Safety – An interdisciplinary team is working to create a new safety committee. 

Development of charter, agenda, and scheduling recurring meetings is underway. The 

Patient Safety Plan has been approved by PIPS Committee, and will be taken to MEC, in 

addition to Quality Committee of the Board, prior to presentation to the Board. The 

Culture of Safety Survey was administered in June, and results have been analyzed. 

Results were presented to Leadership in October, and will also be presented during Town 

Halls in October. Individual department data will be analyzed and presented to 

departments separately. Improvement work, goals, etc. will be addressed by the Patient 

Safety Committee. Please see “Culture of Safety Survey 2020 Presentation – Leadership 

2.0” in packet for further information.   

3)  PI Standards 

a. Our PI Standards within the dashboard include data metrics defined by Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and The Joint Commission (TJC), as well as 

priorities identified by MHSC on the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety 

(PIPS) plan.  

4) Accreditation 

a. We are currently in our Joint Commission triennial survey window and a survey will may 

occur in the next several weeks, depending on the COVID 19 situation in our County. 

CSR Committee continues to meet weekly in order to prepare. Joint Commission 

rounding and tracers have increased in frequency. There are some standards that need 

work to come into compliance and this work is underway. “Joint Points” continue to be 

shared with the hospital and clinics and we have increased the frequency of these as well 

to five times per week.   

 

 

 

 
 

 

26/55



Human Resources Committee Meeting 
Monday, October 19, 2020 
3:00 PM – Zoom meeting  

AGENDA 
 

Old Business  
I. Approval of minutes 
II. Turnover Report - Amber 
III. Open Positions –Amy 
IV. Employee policies– Suzan 

a. Workplace Violence Prevention policy 
b. Others needing discussion – Suzan 

New Business  
V. Committee member reports, other discussion(s) – as needed 
VI. Determination of Next Meeting Date (Auto-Scheduled for (11/16/20) 

 
 

27/55



Top Position(s) /  Turnover 2020 %
Registered Nurse 7 6%
Clinic Collections Clerk/Recp. 6 40%
EVS TECH 5 20%

Top Department(s) / Turnover 2020 %
Clinic 9 17%
EVS 7 13%
Nutrition Services 6 11%
Health Information Management 5 9%

Top Reasons / Turnover 2020 %
Discharged 18 34%
Resigned 10 19%
Other Employment 9 17%
Moving Out of Area/Relocation 5 9%
Retired 3 6%

Length of Service 2020 %
Less than 90 days 11 21%
91 - 365 days 14 26%
1-2 Yrs. 11 21%
3-5 Yrs. 8 15%
6-10 Yrs. 4
11-20 Yrs. 1
21-41Yrs. 4 8%
Total 53

Corrective Action % Discharged
Counseling
Verbal Warning
Written Warning 4% 100%
Final Written Warning 14% 100%
Administrative Leave

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY
2020 Overall  Turnover Data (As of 09/30/2020)

0%

5%

10%

15%

0
5

10
15

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%

Cl
in

ic

EV
S

N
ut

rit
io

n
Se

rv
ic

es

He
al

th
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
M

an
ag

em
en

t

0

20

Registered Nurse

Clinic Collections
Clerk/Recp.

EVS TECH

28/55



2020 Separations - Clinic

Separations
New 

Employees
Total 

Employees 110
January 0 0 110

February 1 1 110
March 2 2 110

April 1 0 109
May 1 0 108
June 0 0 108
July 1 1 108

August 3 3 108
September 0 1 109

October
November
December

Total

Separations Overall Turnover
Involuntary 5 2014 20 26%

Voluntary 4 2015 11 18%
Total 9 2016 16 14%

2017 26 23%
2018 13 12%

Classifications 2019 6 5%
RN 1 2020 9 8%

Classified 8
Total 9

Rolling 12 Months 
Jan 19 - Jan 20 7 6%
Feb 19 - Feb 20 8 7%
March 19- March 20 10 9%
April 19 - April 20 6 6%
May 19 - May 20 10 9%
June 19 - June 20 9 8%
July 19 - July 20 10 9%
Aug 19- - Aug 20 13 12%
Sept 19 - Sept 20 8 7%

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%

Jan 19 -
Jan 20

Feb 19 -
Feb 20

March 19-
March 20

April 19 -
April 20

May 19 -
May 20

June 19 -
June 20

July 19 -
July 20

Aug 19- -
Aug 20

Rolling 12 months

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Overall Turnover

29/55



Top  Position(s) /  Turnover 2020 %
Clinic Collections Clerk/Recep 6 40%
Registered Nurse 1 5%

Top Reason(s) / Turnover 2020 %
Discharged 5 56%
Resignation 2 22%

Length of Service 2020 %
Less than 90 days 3 33%
91 - 365 days 1 11%
1-2 Yrs. 2 22%
3-5 Yrs. 3 33%
6-10 Yrs.
11-20 Yrs.
21-30 Yrs.
Total 9

Counseling
Verbal Warning
Written Warning
Final Written Warning 1% 100%
Disciplinary Suspension

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY - CLINIC DATA
2020 Clinic Turnover Data (as of 09/30/2020)

Corrective Action

0%

500%

Less
than 90

days

91 -
365
days

1-2 Yrs. 3-5 Yrs. 6-10
Yrs.

11-20
Yrs.

21-30
Yrs.

0%

100%

Discharged Resignation

0%

1%

1%

2%

Counseling Verbal
Warning

Written
Warning

Final Written
Warning

Disciplinary
Suspension

Clinic Collections
Clerk/Recep

Registered Nurse

30/55



2020 Separations - Clinic

Separations
New 

Employees
Total 

Employees 110
January 0 0 110

February 1 1 110
March 2 2 110

April 1 0 109
May 1 0 108
June 0 0 108
July 1 1 108

August 3 3 108
September 0 1 109

October
November
December

Total

Separations Overall Turnover
Involuntary 5 2014 20 26%

Voluntary 4 2015 11 18%
Total 9 2016 16 14%

2017 26 23%
2018 13 12%

Classifications 2019 6 5%
RN 1 2020 9 8%

Classified 8
Total 9

Rolling 12 Months 
Jan 19 - Jan 20 7 6%
Feb 19 - Feb 20 8 7%
March 19- March 20 10 9%
April 19 - April 20 6 6%
May 19 - May 20 10 9%
June 19 - June 20 9 8%
July 19 - July 20 10 9%
Aug 19- - Aug 20 13 12%
Sept 19 - Sept 20 8 7%

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%

Jan 19 -
Jan 20

Feb 19 -
Feb 20

March 19-
March 20

April 19 -
April 20

May 19 -
May 20

June 19 -
June 20

July 19 -
July 20

Aug 19- -
Aug 20

Rolling 12 months

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Overall Turnover

31/55



From: Suzan Campbell
To: Ed Tardoni; Barbara Sowada; Irene Richardson; Tami Love; Kari Quickenden; Ann Marie Clevenger; Amber Fisk
Subject: Workplace Violence Prevention Plans
Date: Monday, October 12, 2020 11:35:27 AM
Attachments: Preventing Workplace Violence in Healthcare - Worker Safety in Hospitals Occupational Safety and Health

Administration.html
osha3148.pdf
OSHA3826.pdf
OSHA3828.pdf
OSHA3827.pdf

Ed and Barbara,  at the September HR committee meeting the Workplace Violence Prevention Policy
was discussed.  Also discussed was the  idea that a Workplace Violence Prevention Plan should
accompany the Policy when sent for approval .  A  workplace violence prevention plan is referenced
in the policy and it provides the basic tenets of a plan but not the plan itself.  I started researching
actual prevention plans for hospitals and I found a lot of hospital plans. However, they were very
comprehensive and very long (some were 80 pages or more).  The more I read various  plans the
more I realized that this is not something that I should do as legal but needs to come from an ad hoc
hospital committee that can put together a plan that works for our hospital.  To that end I have
attached numerous documents from OSHA  regarding Healthcare Workplace Prevention plans so
that the committee can see what is entailed in a good plan and then decide how to move forward.
 Thanks Suzan  
 

Suzan Campbell, JD
WSB # 5-2644
In House Counsel MHSC
1200 College Drive
Rock Springs, WY 82901
307-352-8162
sucampbell@sweetwatermemorial.com
 
This message is being sent by or on behalf of a Lawyer.  It is intended for the exclusive use of
its intended recipient(s) and may contain information that is privileged or confidential or
otherwise legally exempt from disclosure.  If you are not the intended recipient or an
employee or agent responsible for delivering this message to the intended recipient, you are
not authorized to read, print, retain, copy or disseminate this message or any part of it.   If you
have received this message in error, please notify us immediately by email, discard any paper
copies and delete all electronic files of the message.  If you are not sure as to whether you are
the intended recipient, please respond to the above email address.
 
 

32/55








   

   









Select Language:

Select Language
Afrikaans
Albanian
Amharic
Arabic
Armenian
Azerbaijani
Basque
Belarusian
Bengali
Bosnian
Bulgarian
Catalan
Cebuano
Chichewa
Chinese (Simplified)
Chinese (Traditional)
Corsican
Croatian
Czech
Danish
Dutch
Esperanto
Estonian
Filipino
Finnish
French
Frisian
Galician
Georgian
German
Greek
Gujarati
Haitian Creole
Hausa
Hawaiian
Hebrew
Hindi
Hmong
Hungarian
Icelandic
Igbo
Indonesian
Irish
Italian
Japanese
Javanese
Kannada
Kazakh
Khmer
Korean
Kurdish (Kurmanji)
Kyrgyz
Lao
Latin
Latvian
Lithuanian
Luxembourgish
Macedonian
Malagasy
Malay
Malayalam
Maltese
Maori
Marathi
Mongolian
Myanmar (Burmese)
Nepali
Norwegian
Pashto
Persian
Polish
Portuguese
Punjabi
Romanian
Russian
Samoan
Scots Gaelic
Serbian
Sesotho
Shona
Sindhi
Sinhala
Slovak
Slovenian
Somali
Spanish
Sundanese
Swahili
Swedish
Tajik
Tamil
Telugu
Thai
Turkish
Ukrainian
Urdu
Uzbek
Vietnamese
Welsh
Xhosa
Yiddish
Yoruba
Zulu



Select Language
Afrikaans
Albanian
Amharic
Arabic
Armenian
Azerbaijani
Basque
Belarusian
Bengali
Bosnian
Bulgarian
Catalan
Cebuano
Chichewa
Chinese (Simplified)
Chinese (Traditional)
Corsican
Croatian
Czech
Danish
Dutch
Esperanto
Estonian
Filipino
Finnish
French
Frisian
Galician
Georgian
German
Greek
Gujarati
Haitian Creole
Hausa
Hawaiian
Hebrew
Hindi
Hmong
Hungarian
Icelandic
Igbo
Indonesian
Irish
Italian
Japanese
Javanese
Kannada
Kazakh
Khmer
Kinyarwanda
Korean
Kurdish (Kurmanji)
Kyrgyz
Lao
Latin
Latvian
Lithuanian
Luxembourgish
Macedonian
Malagasy
Malay
Malayalam
Maltese
Maori
Marathi
Mongolian
Myanmar (Burmese)
Nepali
Norwegian
Odia (Oriya)
Pashto
Persian
Polish
Portuguese
Punjabi
Romanian
Russian
Samoan
Scots Gaelic
Serbian
Sesotho
Shona
Sindhi
Sinhala
Slovak
Slovenian
Somali
Spanish
Sundanese
Swahili
Swedish
Tajik
Tamil
Tatar
Telugu
Thai
Turkish
Turkmen
Ukrainian
Urdu
Uyghur
Uzbek
Vietnamese
Welsh
Xhosa
Yiddish
Yoruba
Zulu


Powered by [image: Google]Translate


Powered by [image: Google Translate]Translate











[image: Google Translate]


Original text




Contribute a better translation











	
		
			
				
					UNITED STATES

					DEPARTMENT OF LABOR


				
			

			
				
							Facebook


							Twitter


							Instagram


							RSS


							Subscribe


							YouTube


				


			

		

	






	
		
			Occupational Safety and Health Administration OSHA
		
	


	
		
				Contact Us
				FAQ
				A to Z Index
				English
				Español
		

		
					
				
					Menu
				

			 


		


	






	
		        
            
                
                    
                        
							Search
                            
                                
 								
									
									
								

                            

                        


                        
                            		
                                OSHA 
                                
                                    		
                                        
													OSHA


                                            		About OSHA


                                            		Find an OSHA Office


  	                                        		State Plans


                                            		Newsroom


                                        			QuickTakes Newsletter


                                            		Careers


                                            		Freedom of Information Act


                                        


                                    


                               


                            


                            		
                                STANDARDS 
                                
                                			
                                    	
													Standards


                                        			Law and Regulations


                                            		Open for Comment


                                            		Regulatory Agenda


                                            		Standard Interpretations


                                            		Training Requirements by Standard


                                        


                                    


                                


                            


                            		
                                TOPICS 
                                
                                    		
                                    	
                                        			Topics


                                        			Employer Help


                                            		Worker Rights


                                            		Fall Prevention


                                            		Heat


                                        			Personal Protective Equipment


                                        			Recordkeeping Requirements and Forms


                                            		Trenching and Excavation


                                        


                                    


                                			
                                    	
                                        			By Sector


                                            		Agriculture


                                            		Construction


                                            		Federal Agencies


                                            		Health Care


                                            		Maritime


                                            		Oil and Gas


                                        


                                    


                                    		
                                    	
                                            		Key Topics


                                         			10- or 30-Hour Training Cards


                                        			Enforcement


                                       				Hazard Communication


                                            		Safety and Health Programs


                                            		Whistleblower Protections


                                        


                                    


                                


                            


                            		
                                HELP AND RESOURCES 
                                
                                    		
                                        
                                            		Help and Resources


                                        			Annual Inspection Data


													Data and Statistics


                                        			E-Tools


													Establishment Search


                                            		Fatality Reports


                                            		File a Complaint


                                            		Publications


                                            		Safety and Health Topics Pages


													Suicide Prevention


                                          			Training


                                            		Videos


                                        


                                    


                                    		
                                    	
                                            		Compliance Assistance Resources


                                            		Compliance Assistance Specialists


                                            		Consultation Services


                                            		Cooperative Programs


                                            		Small Business Resources


                                        


                                    


									
                                


                            


									Contact Us


									FAQ


									A to Z Index


									English Español


							

                            
                        


                	

                

            

        


	















   

   Worker Safety in Hospitals

   Caring for our Caregivers


   [image: swoop]




   
      
			Worker Safety in Hospitals Home


			Understanding the Problem


			Safety & Health Management Systems


			Safe Patient Handling


	
				MSD Assessment


				Management Support


				Policy / Program Development


				Facility & Patient Needs Assessment


				Facilitating Change


				Safe Patient Handling Equipment


				Education & Training


				Program Evaluation


				Additional Resources


	


			Workplace Violence


			NEW OSHA's Request for Information: Preventing Workplace Violence in Healthcare and Social Assistance


			NEW Patient Safety Awareness Week is March 11-17






   

   
      Preventing Workplace Violence in Healthcare

 
     
     
 
              Workers in hospitals, nursing homes, and other 
healthcare settings face significant risks of workplace violence. Many 
factors contribute to this risk, including working directly with people 
who have a history of violence or who may be delirious or under the 
influence of drugs. From 2002 to 2013, the rate of serious workplace 
violence incidents (those requiring days off for an injured worker to 
recuperate) was more than four times greater in healthcare than in 
private industry on average. In fact, healthcare accounts for nearly as 
many serious violent injuries as all other industries combined. Many 
more assaults or threats go unreported. Workplace violence comes at a 
high cost; however, it can be prevented. OSHA has compiled a suite of 
resources to help you build and implement a comprehensive workplace 
violence program in your healthcare facility.


              The  strategies and tools presented here are intended to complement OSHA's Guidelines for Preventing Workplace  Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers*, updated in 2015. The Guidelines describe the five  components of an effective workplace violence prevention program, with extensive examples. 


               The products below: Workplace Violence in Healthcare: Understanding the Challenge*, presents some estimates of the extent of the problem from various sources; Preventing Workplace Violence: A  Road Map for Healthcare Facilities*
 expands on OSHA's guidelines by  presenting case studies and successful
 strategies from a variety of healthcare  facilities; and Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture*
 explains how you can achieve synergies between workplace violence 
prevention, broader safety and health  objectives, and a "culture of 
safety." 


     

 

         
            The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
 defines workplace violence as "violent acts, including physical 
assaults and threats of assault, directed toward persons at work or on 
duty." Even if no physical injury takes place, threats, abuse, 
hostility, harassment, and other forms of verbal violence can cause 
significant psychological trauma and stress—and potentially escalate to 
physical violence.


         






            Related OSHA Safety and Health Topics


            
              		Workplace  Violence (all industries)


              		Healthcare (all hazards)


            




      

      

      Tools & Resources


      Click on the products below to learn more about worker safety in hospitals.



      
         
            		
               
                  [image: Workplace Violence in Healthcare: Understanding the Challenge]
                  
                     The problem of workplace violence


                     An executive summary for hospital administrators
 and others who want to learn more about the prevalence of workplace 
violence in healthcare, associated costs, key risk factors, and what 
organizations can do to address the problem.


                  

                  PDF Download*


               

            


            		
               
                  [image: Road map - Learn from the leaders]
                  
                     Road map - Learn from the leaders


                     This "road map" uses real-life examples from 
healthcare organizations to illustrate the components of a workplace 
violence prevention program. Learn how other healthcare facilities have 
addressed this challenge and discover resources that are available to 
help your organization develop and implement your own program.


                  

                  PDF Download*


               

            


            		
               
                  [image: How does workplace violence prevention fit with other goals?]
                  
                     How does workplace violence prevention fit with other goals?


                     You don’t need to tackle workplace violence in 
isolation. Learn how preventing workplace violence can go hand-in-hand 
with strategies that your organization might already be using for 
compliance, accreditation, worker safety and quality patient care. 


                  

                  PDF Download*


               

            


         


      


      


Accessibility Assistance: Contact OSHA's 
Directorate of Standards and Guidance at (202) 693-1950 for assistance accessing 
DOC, EPS, GIF, MP4, PDF, PPT or XLS documents.


*These files are provided for downloading.




   













 
	
 		
 			
			 	
					
						
							UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR


						

					
				

			

		


		
			
				
					
						Occupational Safety and Health Administration

						200 Constitution Ave NW

						Washington, DC 20210

						 800-321-6742 (OSHA)

						TTY

						www.OSHA.gov


					

					
						FEDERAL GOVERNMENT


						
									White House


									Severe Storm and Flood Recovery Assistance


									Disaster Recovery Assistance


									DisasterAssistance.gov


									USA.gov


									No Fear Act Data


									U.S. Office of Special Counsel


						


					

					
						OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH


						
									Frequently Asked Questions


									A - Z Index


									Freedom of Information Act


									Read the OSHA Newsletter


									Subscribe to the OSHA Newsletter


									OSHA Publications


									Office of Inspector General


						


					

					
						ABOUT THE SITE


						
									Freedom of Information Act


									Privacy & Security Statement


									Disclaimers


									Important Website Notices


									Plug-Ins Used by DOL


									Accessibility Statement


						


					

				

			

 		

	


	
	
		
			
				
					
						UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR


					
				

			

		



		
			
				
					Occupational Safety and Health Administration

					200 Constitution Ave NW

					Washington, DC 20210

					 800-321-6742 (OSHA)

					TTY

					www.OSHA.gov


				

			

			
				
					FEDERAL GOVERNMENT


					
								White House


								Severe Storm and Flood Recovery Assistance


								Disaster Recovery Assistance


								DisasterAssistance.gov


								USA.gov


								No Fear Act Data


								U.S. Office of Special Counsel


					


				

				
					OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH


					
								Frequently Asked Questions


								A - Z Index


								Freedom of Information Act


								Read the OSHA Newsletter


								Subscribe to the OSHA Newsletter


								OSHA Publications


								Office of Inspector General


					


				

				
					ABOUT THE SITE


					
								Freedom of Information Act


								Privacy & Security Statement


								Disclaimers


								Important Website Notices


								Plug-Ins Used by DOL


								Accessibility Statement


					


				

			

	 	

	








	
		Thank You for Visiting Our Website


		You are exiting the Department of Labor's Web server.


		
		The Department of Labor does not endorse, takes no
 responsibility for, and exercises no control over the linked 
organization or its views, or contents, nor does it vouch for the 
accuracy or accessibility of the information contained on the 
destination server. The Department of Labor also cannot authorize the 
use of copyrighted materials contained in linked Web sites. Users must 
request such authorization from the sponsor of the linked Web site. 
Thank you for visiting our site. Please click the button below to 
continue.


		
		
		

		
		Close


	

	
	




















workp acevio ence
Guidelines for Preventing


for Healthcare 


and Social Service 


Workers


OSHA 3148-06R 2016
U.S. Department of Labor


www.osha.gov
www.osha.gov







Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970
“To assure safe and healthful working conditions for 
working men and women; by authorizing enforcement 
of the standards developed under the Act; by assisting 
and encouraging the States in their efforts to assure 
safe and healthful working conditions; by providing for 
research, information, education, and training in the field 
of occupational safety and health...”


This publication provides a general overview of worker rights 
under the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSH Act). 
This publication does not alter or determine compliance 
responsibilities which are set forth in OSHA standards and the 
OSH Act. Moreover, because interpretations and enforcement 
policy may change over time, for additional guidance on OSHA 
compliance requirements the reader should consult current 
administrative interpretations and decisions by the Occupational 
Safety and Health Review Commission and the courts.


Material contained in this publication is in the public domain 
and may be reproduced, fully or partially, without permission. 
Source credit is requested but not required.


This information will be made available to sensory-impaired 
individuals upon request. Voice phone: (202) 693-1999; 
teletypewriter (TTY) number: 1-877-889-5627. 







Guidelines for Preventing 
Workplace Violence  
for Healthcare and Social 
Service Workers


U.S. Department of Labor
Occupational Safety and Health Administration


OSHA 3148-06R 2016







This guidance document is advisory in nature and informational 
in content. It is not a standard or regulation, and it neither creates 
new legal obligations nor alters existing obligations created by the 
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) standards 
or the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSH Act or Act). 
Pursuant to the OSH Act, employers must comply with safety and 
health standards and regulations issued and enforced either by 
OSHA or by an OSHA-approved state plan. In addition, the Act’s 
General Duty Clause, Section 5(a)(1), requires employers to provide 
their workers with a workplace free from recognized hazards that 
are causing or likely to cause death or serious physical harm. In 
addition, Section 11(c)(1) of the Act provides that “No person shall 
discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee 
because such employee has filed any complaint or instituted or 
caused to be instituted any proceeding under or related to this 
Act or has testified or is about to testify in any such proceeding or 
because of the exercise by such employee on behalf of himself or 
others of any right afforded by this Act.” Reprisal or discrimination 
against an employee for reporting an incident or injury related 
to workplace violence, related to this guidance, to an employer 
or OSHA would constitute a violation of Section 11(c) of the Act. 
In addition, 29 CFR 1904.36 provides that Section 11(c) of the Act 
prohibits discrimination against an employee for reporting a work-
related fatality, injury or illness.







Table of Contents


Overview of the Guidelines   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1


Violence in the Workplace: The Impact of Workplace Violence 
on Healthcare and Social Service Workers   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 2


Risk Factors: Identifying and Assessing Workplace  
Violence Hazards  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3


Violence Prevention Programs  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5


1.  Management Commitment and Worker Participation . . . . . 6


2. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification  . . . . . . . . . . . . 8


3. Hazard Prevention and Control . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12


4. Safety and Health Training . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24


5. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27


Workplace Violence Program Checklists  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 30


Bibliography  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 40


Workers’ Rights   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 46


OSHA Assistance, Services and Programs   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 46


NIOSH Health Hazard Evaluation Program   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 50


OSHA Regional Offices  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 51


How to Contact OSHA  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 53











Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1


Overview of the Guidelines


Healthcare and social service workers face significant risks of 
job-related violence and it is OSHA’s mission to help employers 
address these serious hazards. This publication updates 
OSHA’s 1996 and 2004 voluntary guidelines for preventing 
workplace violence for healthcare and social service workers. 
OSHA’s violence prevention guidelines are based on industry 
best practices and feedback from stakeholders, and provide 
recommendations for developing policies and procedures to 
eliminate or reduce workplace violence in a range of healthcare 
and social service settings. 


These guidelines reflect the variations that exist in different 
settings and incorporate the latest and most effective ways to 
reduce the risk of violence in the workplace. Workplace setting 
determines not only the types of hazards that exist, but also the 
measures that will be available and appropriate to reduce or 
eliminate workplace violence hazards. 


For the purpose of these guidelines, we have identified five 
different settings:


 ■ Hospital settings represent large institutional medical facilities;


 ■ Residential Treatment settings include institutional facilities 
such as nursing homes, and other long-term care facilities;


 ■ Non-residential Treatment/Service settings include small 
neighborhood clinics and mental health centers; 


 ■ Community Care settings include community-based 
residential facilities and group homes; and


 ■ Field work settings include home healthcare workers or 
social workers who make home visits. 


Indeed, these guidelines are intended to cover a broad spectrum 
of workers, including those in: psychiatric facilities, hospital 
emergency departments, community mental health clinics, drug 
abuse treatment centers, pharmacies, community-care centers, 
and long-term care facilities. Healthcare and social service 
workers covered by these guidelines include: registered nurses, 
nurses’ aides, therapists, technicians, home healthcare workers, 







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2


social workers, emergency medical care personnel, physicians, 
pharmacists, physicians’ assistants, nurse practitioners, and 
other support staff who come in contact with clients with known 
histories of violence. Employers should use these guidelines to 
develop appropriate workplace violence prevention programs, 
engaging workers to ensure their perspective is recognized and 
their needs are incorporated into the program. 


Violence in the Workplace: The Impact 
of Workplace Violence on Healthcare 
and Social Service Workers 


Healthcare and social service workers face a significant risk of 
job-related violence. The National Institute for Occupational 
Safety and Health (NIOSH) defines workplace violence as 
“violent acts (including physical assaults and threats of 
assaults) directed toward persons at work or on duty.”1 
According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), 27 out of 
the 100 fatalities in healthcare and social service settings that 
occurred in 2013 were due to assaults and violent acts.


While media attention tends to focus on reports of workplace 
homicides, the vast majority of workplace violence incidents 
result in non-fatal, yet serious injuries. Statistics based on 
the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) and National Crime 
Victimization Survey (NCVS)2 data both reveal that workplace 
violence is a threat to those in the healthcare and social service 
settings. BLS data show that the majority of injuries from 
assaults at work that required days away from work occurred 
in the healthcare and social services settings. Between 2011 
and 2013, workplace assaults ranged from 23,540 and 25,630 
annually, with 70 to 74% occurring in healthcare and social 
service settings. For healthcare workers, assaults comprise 
10-11% of workplace injuries involving days away from work, as 
compared to 3% of injuries of all private sector employees. 


1 CDC/NIOSH. Violence. Occupational Hazards in Hospitals. 2002.
2 Cited in the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice 


Statistics report, Workplace Violence, 1993-2009 National Crime Victimization Survey and the 
Census of Fatal Occupational Injuries.  March 2011. (www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/wv09.pdf)



www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/wv09.pdf





Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3


In 2013, a large number of the assaults involving days away 
from work occurred at healthcare and social assistance facilities 
(ranging from 13 to 36 per 10,000 workers). By comparison, the 
days away from work due to violence for the private sector as 
a whole in 2013 were only approximately 3 per 10,000 full-time 
workers. The workplace violence rates highlighted in BLS data 
are corroborated by the NCVS, which estimates that between 
1993 and 2009 healthcare workers had a 20% (6.5 per 1,000) 
overall higher rate of workplace violence than all other workers 
(5.1 per 1,000).3 In addition, workplace violence in the medical 
occupations represented 10.2% of all workplace violence 
incidents. It should also be noted that research has found that 
workplace violence is underreported—suggesting that the 
actual rates may be much higher. 


Risk Factors: Identifying and Assessing 
Workplace Violence Hazards 


Healthcare and social service workers face an increased 
risk of work-related assaults resulting primarily from violent 
behavior of their patients, clients and/or residents. While no 
specific diagnosis or type of patient predicts future violence, 
epidemiological studies consistently demonstrate that inpatient 
and acute psychiatric services, geriatric long term care settings, 


3 The report defined medical occupations as: physicians, nurses, technicians, and other 
medical professionals.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4


high volume urban emergency departments and residential and 
day social services present the highest risks. Pain, devastating 
prognoses, unfamiliar surroundings, mind and mood altering 
medications and drugs, and disease progression can also cause 
agitation and violent behaviors. 


While the individual risk factors will vary, depending on the type 
and location of a healthcare or social service setting, as well as 
the type of organization, some of the risk factors include:


Patient, Client and Setting-Related Risk Factors


 ■ Working directly with people who have a history of violence, 
abuse drugs or alcohol, gang members, and relatives of 
patients or clients;


 ■ Transporting patients and clients;


 ■ Working alone in a facility or in patients’ homes;


 ■ Poor environmental design of the workplace that may 
block employees’ vision or interfere with their escape from 
a violent incident;


 ■ Poorly lit corridors, rooms, parking lots and other areas;4


 ■ Lack of means of emergency communication;


 ■ Prevalence of firearms, knives and other weapons among 
patients and their families and friends; and


 ■ Working in neighborhoods with high crime rates.


Organizational Risk Factors


 ■ Lack of facility policies and staff training for recognizing and 
managing escalating hostile and assaultive behaviors from 
patients, clients, visitors, or staff; 


 ■ Working when understaffed—especially during mealtimes 
and visiting hours;


 ■ High worker turnover;


 ■ Inadequate security and mental health personnel on site;


4 CDC/NIOSH. Violence. Occupational Hazards in Hospitals. 2002.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
5


 ■ Long waits for patients or clients and overcrowded, 
uncomfortable waiting rooms; 


 ■ Unrestricted movement of the public in clinics and 
hospitals; and


 ■ Perception that violence is tolerated and victims will not be 
able to report the incident to police and/or press charges.


Violence Prevention Programs


A written program for workplace violence prevention, 
incorporated into an organization’s overall safety and health 
program, offers an effective approach to reduce or eliminate 
the risk of violence in the workplace. The building blocks 
for developing an effective workplace violence prevention 
program include:


(1) Management commitment and employee participation,


(2) Worksite analysis,


(3) Hazard prevention and control, 


(4) Safety and health training, and 


(5) Recordkeeping and program evaluation. 


A violence prevention program focuses on developing processes 
and procedures appropriate for the workplace in question.  


Specifically, a workplace’s violence prevention program should 
have clear goals and objectives for preventing workplace 
violence, be suitable for the size and complexity of operations 
and be adaptable to specific situations and specific facilities or 
units. The components are interdependent and require regular 
reassessment and adjustment to respond to changes occurring 
within an organization, such as expanding a facility or changes in 
managers, clients, or procedures. And, as with any occupational 
safety and health program, it should be evaluated and 
reassessed on a regular basis. Those developing a workplace 
violence prevention program should also check for applicable 
state requirements. Several states have passed legislation and 
developed requirements that address workplace violence. 







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
6


1.  Management Commitment and 
Worker Participation


Management commitment and worker participation are essential 
elements of an effective violence prevention program. The 
leadership of management in providing full support for the 
development of the workplace’s program, combined with worker 
involvement is critical for the success of the program. Developing 
procedures to ensure that management 
and employees are involved in the 
creation and operation of a workplace 
violence prevention program can be 
achieved through regular meetings—
possibly as a team or committee.5 


Effective management leadership 
begins by recognizing that workplace 
violence is a safety and health hazard. 
Management commitment, including the endorsement and 
visible involvement of top management, provides the motivation 
and resources for workers and employers to deal effectively with 
workplace violence. This commitment should include:


 ■ Acknowledging the value of a safe and healthful, violence-free 
workplace and ensuring and exhibiting equal commitment to 
the safety and health of workers and patients/clients;


 ■ Allocating appropriate authority and resources to all 
responsible parties. Resource needs often go beyond 
financial needs to include access to information, personnel, 
time, training, tools, or equipment; 


 ■ Assigning responsibility and authority for the various aspects 
of the workplace violence prevention program to ensure that 
all managers and supervisors understand their obligations;


 ■ Maintaining a system of accountability for involved 
managers, supervisors and workers;


 ■ Supporting and implementing appropriate 
recommendations from safety and health committees;


5  If employers take this approach, they should consult and follow the applicable provisions 
of the National Labor Relations Act—29 U.S.C. 151-169. 


Effective management 
leadership begins 
by recognizing that 
workplace violence 
is a safety and health 
hazard.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
7


 ■ Establishing a comprehensive program of medical and 
psychological counseling and debriefing for workers who have 
experienced or witnessed assaults and other violent incidents 
and ensuring that trauma-informed care is available; and


 ■ Establishing policies that ensure the reporting, recording, and 
monitoring of incidents and near misses and that no reprisals 
are made against anyone who does so in good faith.


Additionally, management should: (1) articulate a policy and 
establish goals; (2) allocate sufficient resources; and (3) uphold 
program performance expectations. 


Through involvement and feedback, workers can provide useful 
information to employers to design, implement and evaluate 
the program. In addition, workers with different functions 
and at various organizational levels bring a broad range of 
experience and skills to program design, implementation, 
and assessment. Mental health specialists have the ability to 
appropriately characterize disease characteristics but may need 
training and input from threat assessment professionals. Direct 
care workers, in emergency departments or mental health, may 
bring very different perspectives to committee work. The range 
of viewpoints and needs should be reflected in committee 
composition. This involvement should include:


 ■ Participation in the development, implementation, 
evaluation, and modification of the workplace violence 
prevention program;


 ■ Participation in safety and health committees that receive 
reports of violent incidents or security problems, making 
facility inspections and responding to recommendations for 
corrective strategies;


 ■ Providing input on additions to or redesigns of facilities;


 ■ Identifying the daily activities that employees believe put 
them most at risk for workplace violence;


 ■ Discussions and assessments to improve policies and 
procedures—including complaint and suggestion programs 
designed to improve safety and security;







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
8


 ■ Ensuring that there is a way to report and record 
incidents and near misses, and that issues are addressed 
appropriately;


 ■ Ensuring that there are procedures to ensure that employees 
are not retaliated against for voicing concerns or reporting 
injuries; and


 ■ Employee training and continuing education programs.


2. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification 


A worksite analysis involves a mutual step-by-step 
assessment of the workplace to find existing or potential 
hazards that may lead to incidents of workplace violence. 
Cooperation between workers 
and employers in identifying and 
assessing hazards is the foundation 
of a successful violence prevention 
program. The assessment should be 
made by a team that includes senior 
management, supervisors and 
workers. Although management is 
responsible for controlling hazards, 
workers have a critical role to play 
in helping to identify and assess 
workplace hazards, because of their 
knowledge and familiarity with facility operations, process 
activities and potential threats. Depending on the size and 
structure of the organization, the team may also include 
representatives from operations; employee assistance; 
security; occupational safety and health; legal; and human 
resources staff. The assessment should include a records 
review, a review of the procedures and operations for different 
jobs, employee surveys and workplace security analysis. 


Once the worksite analysis is complete, it should be used to 
identify the types of hazard prevention and control measures 
needed to reduce or eliminate the possibility of a workplace 
violence incident occurring. In addition, it should assist in the 
identification or development of appropriate training. The 
assessment team should also determine how often and under 


Cooperation between 
workers and employers 
in identifying and 
assessing hazards is 
the foundation of a 
successful violence 
prevention program.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
9


what circumstances worksite analyses should be conducted. 
For example, the team may determine that a comprehensive 
annual worksite analysis should be conducted, but require that 
an investigative analysis occur after every incident or near miss. 


Additionally, those conducting the worksite analysis should 
periodically inspect the workplace and evaluate worker tasks in 
order to identify hazards, conditions, operations and situations 
that could lead to potential violence. The advice of independent 
reviewers, such as safety and health professionals, law 
enforcement or security specialists, and insurance safety 
auditors may be solicited to strengthen programs. These 
experts often provide a different perspective that serves to 
improve a program. 


Information is generally collected through: (1) records analysis; 
(2) job hazard analysis; (3) employee surveys; and (4) patient/
client surveys. 


Records analysis and tracking


Records review is important to identify patterns of assaults or 
near misses that could be prevented or reduced through the 
implementation of appropriate controls. Records review should 
include medical, safety, specific threat assessments, workers’ 
compensation and insurance records. The review should also 
include the OSHA Log of Work-Related Injuries and Illnesses 
(OSHA Form 300) if the employer is required to maintain one. 
In addition, incident/near-miss logs, a facility’s general event 
or daily log and police reports should be reviewed to identify 
assaults relative to particular:


 ■ Departments/Units;


 ■ Work areas;


 ■ Job titles;


 ■ Activities—such as transporting patients between units or 
facilities, patient intake; and


 ■ Time of day.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
1 0


Possible Findings from Records Review:


Hospital
Residential 
Treatment


Non-
residential 
Treatment/


Service
Community 


Care


Field Workers 
(Home 


Healthcare and 
Social Service)


De
pa


rt
m


en
ts


/
Un


its


 x Emergency 
Department


 x Psychiatric 
Unit


 x Geriatric Unit


 x Dementia Unit
 x Adolescent 
Unit


W
or


k 
ar


ea
s


 x Waiting room
 x Nurses’ 
station


 x Hallway
 x Treatment 
rooms


 x Therapy room
 x Patient’s 
room


 x Dining area
 x Van/Car 
transport


 x Waiting area
 x Therapy room


 x Kitchen
 x Car


 x Kitchen
 x Car
 x Bedroom


Jo
b 


tit
le


s


 x Security 
guard


 x Nurse
 x Therapist
 x Doctor
 x Receptionist
 x Health aide
 x Technician


 x Social worker
 x Therapist
 x Nurse
 x Health aide
 x Security 
guard


 x Driver
 x Technician


 x Social worker
 x Behavioral 
health 
specialist


 x Nurse
 x Technician


 x Social worker
 x Therapist
 x Health aide


 x Social worker
 x Health aide
 x Child Support 
services


 x Emergency 
medical 
personnel


A
ct


iv
iti


es


 x Patient intake
 x Transferring 
patients from 
one floor to 
another


 x Meal time
 x Bathing
 x Changing of 
staff


 x Scanning for 
weapons


 x Conducting 
therapy


 x Transitioning 
patients from 
one area to 
another


 x Driving 
patients


 x Feeding 
patient


 x Therapy room
 x Client intake


 x Conducting 
therapy


 x Bathing/ 
changing/ 
feeding client


 x Administering 
meds


 x Driving 
patient


 x Bathing/ 
changing/ 
feeding client


 x Administering 
meds


 x Driving 
patient


 x Interacting 
with clients’ 
families


Ti
m


e 
of


 
da


y


 x After 10 PM
 x Meal times


 x Late 
afternoon and 
evening


 x No pattern  x Entry or exit  x Entry or exit
 x Meal times







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1 1


Job Hazard Analysis


A job hazard analysis is an assessment that focuses on job 
tasks to identify hazards. Through review of procedures and 
operations connected to specific tasks or positions to identify 
if they contribute to hazards related to workplace violence 
and/or can be modified to reduce the likelihood of violence 
occurring, it examines the relationship between the employee, 
the task, tools, and the work environment. Worker participation 
is an essential component of the analysis. As noted in OSHA’s 
publication on job hazard analyses,6 priority should be given to 
specific types of job. For example, priority should be given to:


 ■ Jobs with high assault rates due to workplace violence;


 ■ Jobs that are new to an operation or have undergone 
procedural changes that may increase the potential for 
workplace violence; and


 ■ Jobs that require written instructions, such as procedures 
for administering medicine, and steps required for 
transferring patients.


After an incident or near miss, the analysis should focus on:


 ■ Analyzing those positions that were affected;


 ■ Identifying if existing procedures and operations were 
followed and if not, why not (in some instances, not following 
procedures could result in more effective protections); 


 ■ Identifying if staff were adequately qualified and/or trained 
for the tasks required; and


 ■ Developing, if necessary, new procedures and operations to 
improve staff safety and security. 


Employee surveys


Employee questionnaires or surveys are effective ways for 
employers to identify potential hazards that may lead to 
violent incidents, identify the types of problems workers face 
in their daily activities, and assess the effects of changes in 


6  OSHA 3071-2002 (Revised). Job Hazard Analysis.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
1 2


work processes. Detailed baseline screening surveys can help 
pinpoint tasks that put workers at risk. Periodic surveys—
conducted at least annually or whenever operations change or 
incidents of workplace violence occur—help identify new or 
previously unnoticed risk factors and deficiencies or failures in 
work practices. The periodic review process should also include 
feedback and follow-up. The following are sample questions:


 ■ What daily activities, if any, expose you to the greatest risk 
of violence? 


 ■ What, if any, work activities make you feel unprepared to 
respond to a violent action?


 ■ Can you recommend any changes or additions to the 
workplace violence prevention training you received? 


 ■ Can you describe how a change in a patient’s daily routine 
affected the precautions you take to address the potential for 
workplace violence?


Client/Patient Surveys


Clients and patients may also have valuable feedback that may 
enable those being served by the facility to provide useful 
information to design, implement, and evaluate the program. 
Clients and patients may be able to participate in identifying 
triggers to violence, daily activities that may lead to violence, 
and effective responses.


3. Hazard Prevention and Control


After the systematic worksite analysis is complete, the 
employer should take the appropriate steps to prevent or 
control the hazards that were identified. To do this, the 
employer should: (1) identify and evaluate control options for 
workplace hazards; (2) select effective and feasible controls 
to eliminate or reduce hazards; (3) implement these controls 
in the workplace; (4) follow up to confirm that these controls 
are being used and maintained properly; and (5) evaluate the 
effectiveness of controls and improve, expand, or update them 
as needed.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1 3


In the field of industrial hygiene, these steps are generally 
categorized, in order of effectiveness, as (1) substitution; (2) 
engineering controls; and (3) administrative and work practice 
controls. These principles, which are described in more detail 
below, can also be applied to the field of workplace violence. 
In addition, employers should ensure that, if an incident of 
workplace violence occurs, post-incident procedures and 
services are in place and/or immediately made available.


Substitution


The best way to eliminate a hazard is to eliminate it or substitute 
a safer work practice. While these substitutions may be difficult 
in the therapeutic healthcare environment, an example may 
be transferring a client or patient to a more appropriate facility 
if the client has a history of violent behavior that may not be 
appropriate in a less secure therapeutic environment. 


Engineering controls and workplace adaptations to 
minimize risk


Engineering controls are physical changes that either remove 
the hazard from the workplace or create a barrier between 
the worker and the hazard. In facilities where it is appropriate, 
there are several engineering control measures that can 
effectively prevent or control workplace hazards. Engineering 
control strategies include: (a) using physical barriers (such 
as enclosures or guards) or door locks to reduce employee 
exposure to the hazard; (b) metal detectors; (c) panic buttons, 
(d) better or additional lighting; and (e) more accessible exits 
(where appropriate). The measures taken should be site-
specific and based on the hazards identified in the worksite 
analysis appropriate to the specific therapeutic setting. For 
example, closed circuit videos and bulletproof glass may be 
appropriate in a hospital or other institutional setting, but 
not in a community care facility. Similarly, it should be noted 
that services performed in the field (e.g., home health or 
social services) often occur in private residences where some 
engineering controls may not be possible or appropriate. 







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
1 4


If new construction or modifications are planned for a facility, 
assess any plans to eliminate or reduce security hazards. 


The following are possible engineering controls that could apply 
in different settings. Note that this is a list of suggested measures 
whose appropriateness will depend on a number of factors.


Possible engineering controls for different healthcare and social 
service settings


Hospital
Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/


Service
Community 


Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)
Security/
silenced 
alarm systems


 x Panic buttons or paging system at workstations or 
personal alarm devices worn by employees


 x Paging system
 x GPS tracking7 
 x Cell phones


 x Security/silenced alarm systems should be regularly maintained and managers and staff 
should fully understand the range and limitations of the system.


Exit routes  x Where possible, rooms should 
have two exits


 x Provide employee ‘safe room’ 
for emergencies


 x Arrange furniture so workers 
have a clear exit route


 x Where possible, 
counseling 
rooms should 
have two exits


 x Arrange 
furniture so 
workers have a 
clear exit route


 x Managers and workers should 
assess homes for exit routes


 x Workers should be familiar with a site and identify the different exit routes available.
Metal 
detectors – 
hand-held or 
installed


 x Employers and workers will have to determine the appropriate balance of creating the 
suitable atmosphere for services being provided and the types of barriers put in place.


 x Metal detectors should be regularly maintained and assessed for effectiveness in 
reducing the weapons brought into a facility.


 x Staff should be appropriately assigned, and trained to use the equipment and remove 
weapons.


Monitoring 
systems 
& natural 
surveillance


 x Closed-circuit video – inside 
and outside


 x Curved mirrors
 x Proper placement of nurses’ 
stations to allow visual 
scanning of areas


 x Glass panels in doors/walls for 
better monitoring


 x Closed-circuit 
video – inside 
and outside


 x Curved mirrors
 x Glass panels in 
doors for better 
monitoring


 x Employers and workers will have to determine the appropriate balance of creating the 
suitable atmosphere for services being provided and the types of barriers put in place.


 x Staff should know if video monitoring is in use or not and whether someone is always 
monitoring the video or not.


7 Employers and workers should determine the most effective method for ensuring the 
safety of workers without negatively impacting working conditions.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1 5


Hospital
Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/


Service
Community 


Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)
Barrier 
protection


 x Enclosed 
receptionist 
desk with 
bulletproof 
glass


 x Deep 
counters 
at nurses’ 
stations


 x Lock doors 
to staff 
counseling 
and treatment 
rooms


 x Provide 
lockable (or 
keyless door 
systems) 
and secure 
bathrooms 
for staff 
members 
(with locks on 
the inside)—
separated 
from patient/
client and 
visitor 
facilities


 x Lock all 
unused 
doors to limit 
access, in 
accord with 
local fire 
codes


 x Deep 
counters in 
offices


 x Provide 
lockable (or 
keyless door 
systems) 
and secure 
bathrooms 
for staff 
members 
(with locks on 
the inside)—
separated 
from patient/
client and 
visitor 
facilities


 x Lock all 
unused 
doors to limit 
access, in 
accord with 
local fire 
codes


 x Deep counters
 x Provide lockable 
(or keyless 
door systems) 
and secure 
bathrooms for 
staff members 
(with locks on 
the inside)—
separated from 
patient/client 
and visitor 
facilities


 x Employers and workers will have to determine the appropriate balance of creating the 
suitable atmosphere for the services being provided and the types of barriers put in place.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
1 6


Hospital
Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/


Service
Community 


Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)
Patient/client 
areas


 x Establish 
areas for 
patients/ 
clients to 
de-escalate


 x Provide 
comfortable 
waiting areas 
to reduce 
stress


 x Divide 
waiting areas 
to limit the 
spreading 
of agitation 
among 
clients/
visitors


 x Establish 
areas for 
patients/ 
clients to 
de-escalate


 x Provide 
comfortable 
waiting areas 
to reduce 
stress


 x Assess staff 
rotations 
in facilities 
where clients 
become 
agitated by 
unfamiliar 
staff


 x Provide 
comfortable 
waiting areas to 
reduce stress


 x Establish 
areas for 
patients/ 
clients to 
de-escalate


 x Establish areas 
for patients/ 
clients to 
de-escalate


 x Employers and workers will have to determine the appropriate balance of creating the 
suitable atmosphere for the services being provided and the types of barriers put in place.


Furniture, 
materials & 
maintenance


 x Secure furniture and other items that could be used 
as weapons


 x Replace open hinges on doors with continuous 
hinges to reduce pinching hazards


 x Ensure cabinets and syringe drawers have working 
locks


 x Pad or replace sharp edged objects (such as metal 
table frames)


 x Consider changing or adding materials to reduce 
noise in certain areas


 x Recess any hand rails, drinking fountains and any 
other protrusions


 x Smooth down or cover any sharp surfaces


 x When feasible, 
secure 
furniture or 
other items 
that could 
be used as 
weapons


 x Ensure 
cabinets 
and syringe 
drawers have 
working locks


 x Pad or replace 
sharp edged 
objects (such 
as metal table 
frames)


 x Ensure 
carrying 
equipment 
for medical 
equipment, 
medicines and 
valuables have 
working locks


 x Ensure carrying 
equipment 
for medical 
equipment, 
medicines and 
valuables have 
working locks


 x Employers and workers will have to establish a balance between creating the appropriate 
atmosphere for the services being provided and securing furniture.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1 7


Hospital
Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/


Service
Community 


Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)
Lighting  x Install bright, effective lighting—both indoors 


and outdoors on the grounds, in parking areas 
and walkways


 x Ensure 
lighting is 
adequate 
in both the 
indoor and 
outdoor areas


 x Work with 
client to ensure 
lighting is 
adequate in both 
the indoor and 
outdoor areas


 x Ensure burned out lights are replaced immediately.
 x While lighting should be effective it should not be harsh or cause undue glare.


Travel 
vehicles


 x Ensure vehicles are properly 
maintained


 x Where appropriate, consider 
physical barrier between driver 
and patients


 x Ensure vehicles are properly 
maintained


Administrative and work practice controls 


Administrative and work practice controls are appropriate 
when engineering controls are not feasible or not completely 
protective. These controls affect the way staff perform jobs or 
tasks. Changes in work practices and administrative procedures 
can help prevent violent incidents. As with engineering 
controls, the practices chosen to abate workplace violence 
should be appropriate to the type of site and in response to 
hazards identified. 


In addition to the specific measures listed below, training for 
administrative and treatment staff should include therapeutic 
procedures that are sensitive to the cause and stimulus of 
violence. For example, research has shown that Trauma Informed 
Care is a treatment technique that has been successfully 
instituted in inpatient psychiatric units as a way to reduce 
patient violence, and the need for seclusion and restraint. As 
explained by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
Administration, trauma-informed services are based on an 
understanding of the vulnerabilities or triggers of trauma for 
survivors and can be more supportive than traditional service 
delivery approaches, thus avoiding re-traumatization.8 


8  Referenced on the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration’s website 
on February 25, 2013 (www.samhsa.gov/nctic).



http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic





Occupational Safety and Health Administration
1 8


The following are possible administrative controls that could 
apply in different settings.


Possible administrative and work practice controls for different 
healthcare and social service settings


Hospital Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/Service


Community 
Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)


Workplace 
violence 
response 
policy


 x Clearly state to patients, clients, visitors and workers that violence is not permitted and 
will not be tolerated.


 x Such a policy makes it clear to workers that assaults are not considered part of the job or 
acceptable behavior.


Tracking 
workers9


Traveling 
workers 
should:
 x have specific 
log-in and 
log-out 
procedures


 x be required 
to contact 
the office 
after each 
visit and 
managers 
should have 
procedures 
to follow-up 
if workers 
fail to do so


Workers should: 
 x have specific log-in and log-out 
procedures


 x be required to contact the office 
after each visit and managers 
should have procedures to follow-
up if workers fail to do so


 x be given discretion as to whether 
or not they begin or continue a 
visit if they feel threatened or 
unsafe


 x Log-in/log-out procedures should include:
 x the name and address of client visited;
 x the scheduled time and duration of visit;
 x a contact number;
 x a code word used to inform someone of an incident/threat;
 x worker’s vehicle description and license plate number;
 x details of any travel plans with client;
 x contacting office/supervisor with any changes.


Tracking 
clients with a 
known history 
of violence


 x Supervise the movement of 
patients throughout the facility


 x Update staff in shift report 
about violent history or incident


 x Update staff in 
shift report about 
violent history or 
incident


 x Report all violent incidents to 
employer


9 Massachusetts Department of Mental Health Task Force on Staff and Client Safety. (2011). Report 
of the Massachusetts Department of Mental Health Task Force on Staff and Client Safety. 







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
1 9


Hospital Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/Service


Community 
Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)


 x Determine the behavioral history of new and transferred patients and clients to learn 
about any past violent or assaultive behaviors.


 x Identify any event triggers for clients, such as certain dates or visitors.
 x Identify the type of violence including severity, pattern and intended purpose.
 x Information gained should be used to formulate individualized plans for early 
identification and prevention of future violence.


 x Establish a system—such as chart tags, log books or verbal census reports—to identify 
patients and clients with a history of violence and identify triggers and the best responses 
and means of de-escalation.


 x Ensure workers know and follow procedures for updates to patients’ and clients’ behavior. 
 x Ensure patient and client confidentiality is maintained. 
 x Update as needed.
 x If stalking is suspected, consider varying check-in and check-out times for affected 
workers and plan different travel routes for those workers.


Working 
alone or in 
secure areas


 x Treat and interview 
aggressive or agitated clients 
in relatively open areas that 
still maintain privacy and 
confidentiality


 x Ensure workers are not alone 
when performing intimate 
physical examinations of 
patients


 x Advise staff to exercise 
extra care in elevators and 
stairwells


 x Provide staff members with 
security escorts to parking 
areas during evening/ late 
hours— Ensure these areas 
are well lit and highly visible


 x Advise staff to 
exercise extra 
care in elevators, 
stairwells


 x Provide staff 
members with 
security escorts 
to parking areas 
during evening/ 
late hours. 
Ensure these 
areas are well lit 
and highly visible


 x Ensure 
workers have 
means of 
communica-
tion—either 
cell phones of 
panic buttons


 x Develop 
policy to 
determine 
when a 
buddy system 
should be 
implemented


 x Advise staff to 
exercise extra 
care in unfamiliar 
residences


 x Workers 
should be given 
discretion to 
receive backup 
assistance by 
another worker or 
law enforcement 
officer


 x Workers should 
be given discre-
tion as to whether 
or not they begin 
or continue a 
visit if they feel 
threatened or 
unsafe


 x Ensure workers 
have means of 
communica-
tion—either cell 
phones or panic 
buttons


 x Limit workers from working alone in emergency areas or walk-in clinics, particularly at 
night or when assistance is unavailable. 


 x Establish policies and procedures for secured areas and emergency evacuations.
 x Use the “buddy system,” especially when personal safety may be threatened.


Reporting  x Require workers to report all assaults or threats to a supervisor or manager (for example, 
through a confidential interview). Keep logbooks and reports of such incidents to help 
determine any necessary actions to prevent recurrences.


 x Establish a liaison with local police, service providers who can assist (e.g., counselors) 
and state prosecutors. When needed, give police physical layouts of facilities to expedite 
investigations.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2 0


Hospital Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/Service


Community 
Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)


Entry 
procedures


 x Provide 
responsive, 
timely 
information 
to those 
waiting; 
adopt 
measures 
to reduce 
waiting times


 x Institute 
sign-in 
procedures 
and visitor 
passes


 x Enforce 
visitor 
hours and 
procedures 
for being in 
the hospital


 x Have a 
“restricted 
visitors” list 
for patients 
with a history 
of violence/ 
gang activity; 
make copies 
available 
to security, 
nurses, and 
sign-in clerk


 x Institute 
sign-in 
procedures 
with passes 
for visitors


 x Enforce 
visitor 
hours and 
procedures


 x Establish 
a list of 
“restricted 
visitors” for 
patients with 
a history of 
violence or 
gang activity; 
make copies 
available 
at security 
checkpoints, 
nurses’ 
stations and 
visitor sign-in 
areas


 x Provide 
responsive, timely 
information to 
those waiting; 
adopt measures 
to reduce waiting 
times


 x Ensure 
workers 
determine 
how best to 
enter facilities


 x Ensure workers 
determine how 
best to enter 
clients’ homes


Incident 
response/ 
high risk 
activities


 x Use properly trained security 
officers and counselors 
to respond to aggressive 
behavior; follow written 
security procedures


 x Ensure that adequate and 
qualified staff members 
are available at all times, 
especially during high-
risk times such as patient 
transfers, emergency 
responses, mealtimes and 
at night


 x Ensure that adequate and 
qualified staff members are 
available to disarm and de-
escalate patients if necessary


 x Assess changing client 
routines and activities to 
reduce or eliminate the 
possibility of violent outbursts


 x Use properly 
trained security 
officers and 
counselors 
to respond to 
aggressive 
behavior; follow 
written security 
procedures


 x Ensure 
assistance if 
children will be 
removed from 
the home







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
2 1


Hospital Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/Service


Community 
Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)


 x Advise workers of company procedures for requesting police assistance or filing charges 
when assaulted—and assist them in doing so if necessary.


 x Provide management support during emergencies. Respond promptly to all complaints.
 x Ensure that adequately trained staff members and counselors are available to de-escalate 
a situation and counsel patients.


 x Prepare contingency plans to treat clients who are “acting out” or making verbal or 
physical attacks or threats.


 x Emergency action plans should be developed to ensure that workers know how to call for 
help or medical assistance.


Employee 
uniforms/
dress


 x Provide staff with identification badges, preferably without last names, to readily verify 
employment.


 x Discourage workers from wearing necklaces or chains to help prevent possible 
strangulation in confrontational situations.


 x Discourage workers from wearing expensive jewelry or carrying large sums of money.
 x Discourage workers from carrying keys or other items that could be used as weapons.
 x Encourage the use of head netting/cap so hair cannot be grabbed and used to pull or shove 
workers.


Facility 
& work 
procedures 


 x Survey facility periodically to 
remove tools or possessions 
left by visitors or staff that 
could be used inappropriately 
by patients


 x Survey facilities regularly to 
ensure doors that should be 
locked are locked—smoking 
policies should not allow these 
doors to be propped open


 x Keep desks and work areas 
free of items, including extra 
pens and pencils, glass photo 
frames, etc.


 x Survey facility 
periodically to 
remove tools 
or possessions 
left by visitors 
or staff that 
could be used 
inappropriately 
by patients


 x Keep desks 
and work areas 
free of items, 
including extra 
pens and pencils, 
glass photo 
frames, etc.


 x Survey 
facility 
periodically 
to remove 
tools or 
possessions 
left by visitors 
or staff that 
could be used 
inappro-
priately by 
patients


 x Establish 
daily work 
plans to keep 
a designated 
contact 
person 
informed 
about 
employees’ 
whereabouts 
throughout 
the workday; 
have a 
contact 
person 
follow up if 
an employee 
does not 
report in as 
expected


 x Have clear 
contracts on 
how home 
visits will be 
conducted, the 
presence of 
others in the 
home during 
visits and 
the refusal to 
provide services 
in clearly 
hazardous 
situations


 x Establish 
daily work 
plans to keep 
a designated 
contact person 
informed about 
employees’ 
whereabouts 
throughout the 
workday; have a 
contact person 
follow up if an 
employee does 
not report in as 
expected







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2 2


Hospital Residential 
Treatment


Non-residential 
Treatment/Service


Community 
Care


Field Workers 
(Home Healthcare, 


Social Service)


Transportation 
procedures


 x Develop safety procedures 
that specifically address the 
transport of patients.


 x Ensure that workers 
transporting patients have an 
effective and reliable means 
of communicating with their 
home office


 x Develop safety procedures that 
specifically address the transport 
of patients.


 x Ensure that workers transporting 
patients have an effective and 
reliable means of communicating 
with their home office


Post-incident procedures and services


Post-incident response and evaluation are important 
components to an effective violence prevention program. 
Investigating incidents of workplace violence thoroughly will 
provide a roadmap to avoiding fatalities and injuries associated 
with future incidents. The purpose of the investigation should 
be to identify the “root cause” of the incident. Root causes, if 
not corrected, will inevitably recreate the conditions for another 
incident to occur. 


When an incident occurs, the immediate first steps are to 
provide first aid and emergency care for the injured worker(s) 
and to take any measures necessary to prevent others from 
being injured. All workplace violence programs should provide 
comprehensive treatment for workers who are victimized 
personally or may be traumatized by witnessing a workplace 
violence incident. Injured staff should receive prompt treatment 
and psychological evaluation whenever an assault takes place, 
regardless of its severity—free of charge. Also, injured workers 
should be provided transportation to medical care if not 
available on site.


Victims of workplace violence could suffer a variety of 
consequences in addition to their actual physical injuries. These 
may include: 


 ■ Short- and long-term psychological trauma; 
 ■ Fear of returning to work; 
 ■ Changes in relationships with coworkers and family; 
 ■ Feelings of incompetence, guilt, powerlessness; and 
 ■ Fear of criticism by supervisors or managers. 







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
2 3


Consequently, a strong follow-up program for these workers will 
not only help them address these problems but also help prepare 
them to confront or prevent future incidents of violence.


Several types of assistance can be incorporated into the post-
incident response. For example, trauma-crisis counseling, 
critical-incident stress debriefing or employee assistance 
programs may be provided to assist victims. As explained by the 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 
trauma-informed services are based on an understanding of 
the vulnerabilities or triggers of trauma for survivors and can be 
more supportive than traditional service delivery approaches, 
thus avoiding re-traumatization.10 Whether the support is trauma-
informed or not, certified employee assistance professionals, 
psychologists, psychiatrists, clinical nurse specialists or social 
workers should provide this counseling. Alternatively, the 
employer may refer staff victims to an outside specialist. In 
addition, the employer may establish an employee counseling 
service, peer counseling, or support groups.


Counselors should be well trained and have a good 
understanding of the issues and consequences of assaults and 
other aggressive, violent behavior. Appropriate and promptly 
rendered post-incident debriefings and counseling reduce acute 
psychological trauma and general stress levels among victims 
and witnesses. In addition, this type of counseling educates 
staff about workplace violence and positively influences 
workplace and organizational cultural norms to reduce trauma 
associated with future incidents.


Investigation of Incidents 


Once these immediate needs are taken care of, the investigation 
should begin promptly. The basic steps in conducting incident 
investigations are:


1. Report as required. Determine who needs to be notified, 
both within the organization and outside (e.g., authorities), 
when there is an incident. Understand what types of 


10 Referenced on the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration’s website 
on February 25, 2013 (www.samhsa.gov/nctic).



http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic





Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2 4


incidents must be reported, and what information needs 
to be included. If the incident involves hazardous materials 
additional reporting requirements may apply.


2. Involve workers in the incident investigation. The employees 
who work most closely in the area where the event occurred 
may have special insight into the causes and solutions.


3. Identify Root Causes: Identify the root causes of the 
incident. Don’t stop an investigation at “worker error” or 
“unpredictable event.” Ask “why” the patient or client acted, 
“why” the worker responded in a certain way, etc. 


4. Collect and review other information. 
Depending on the nature of the 
incident, records related to training, 
maintenance, inspections, audits, 
and past incident reports may be 
relevant to review. 


5. Investigate Near Misses. In addition 
to investigating all incidents 
resulting in a fatality, injury or 
illness, any near miss (a situation 
that could potentially have resulted 
in death, injury, or illness) should 
be promptly investigated as well. Near misses are caused by 
the same conditions that produce more serious outcomes, 
and signal that some hazards are not being adequately 
controlled, or that previously unidentified hazards exist.


4. Safety and Health Training


Education and training are key elements of a workplace violence 
protection program, and help ensure that all staff members are 
aware of potential hazards and how to protect themselves and 
their coworkers through established policies and procedures. Such 
training can be part of a broader type of instruction that includes 
protecting patients and clients (such as training on de-escalation 
techniques). However, employers should ensure that worker safety 
is a separate component that is thoroughly addressed. 


Identify the root causes 
of the incident. Don’t 
stop an investigation 
at “worker error” or 
“unpredictable event.” 
Ask “why” the patient 
or client acted, “why” 
the worker responded 
in a certain way, etc.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
2 5


Training for all workers


Training can: (1) help raise the overall safety and health 
knowledge across the workforce, (2) provide employees with 
the tools needed to identify workplace safety and security 
hazards, and (3) address potential problems before they arise 
and ultimately reduce the likelihood of workers being assaulted. 
The training program should involve all workers, including 
contract workers, supervisors, and managers. Workers who 
may face safety and security hazards should receive formal 
instruction on any specific or potential hazards associated 
with the unit or job and the facility. Such training may include 
information on the types of injuries or problems identified in 
the facility and the methods to control the specific hazards. It 
may also include instructions to limit physical interventions in 
workplace altercations whenever possible. 


Every worker should understand the concept of “universal 
precautions for violence”— that is, that violence should be 
expected but can be avoided or mitigated through preparation. 
In addition, workers should understand the importance of a 
culture of respect, dignity, and active mutual engagement in 
preventing workplace violence.


New and reassigned workers should receive an initial 
orientation before being assigned their job duties. All workers 
should receive required training annually. In high-risk settings 
and institutions, refresher training may be needed more 
frequently, perhaps monthly or quarterly, to effectively reach 
and inform all workers. Visiting staff, such as physicians, 
should receive the same training as permanent staff and 
contract workers. Qualified trainers should instruct at the 
comprehension level appropriate for the staff. Effective training 
programs should involve role-playing, simulations and drills.


Training topics


Training topics may include management of assaultive 
behavior, professional/police assault-response training, or 
personal safety training on how to prevent and avoid assaults. 







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2 6


A combination of training programs may be used, depending 
on the severity of the risk.


In general, training should cover the policies and procedures for a 
facility as well as de-escalation and self-defense techniques. Both 
de-escalation and self-defense training should include a hands-
on component. The following provides a list of possible topics:


 ■ The workplace violence prevention policy; 


 ■ Risk factors that cause or contribute to assaults; 


 ■ Policies and procedures for documenting patients’ or clients’ 
change in behavior; 


 ■ The location, operation, and coverage of safety devices such 
as alarm systems, along with the required maintenance 
schedules and procedures; 


 ■ Early recognition of escalating behavior or recognition of 
warning signs or situations that may lead to assaults; 


 ■ Ways to recognize, prevent or diffuse volatile situations or 
aggressive behavior, manage anger and appropriately use 
medications; 


 ■ Ways to deal with hostile people other than patients and 
clients, such as relatives and visitors; 


 ■ Proper use of safe rooms—areas where staff can find shelter 
from a violent incident;


 ■ A standard response action plan for violent situations, 
including the availability of assistance, response to alarm 
systems and communication procedures; 


 ■ Self-defense procedures where appropriate;


 ■ Progressive behavior control methods and when and how to 
apply restraints properly and safety when necessary; 


 ■ Ways to protect oneself and coworkers, including use of the 
“buddy system“;


 ■ Policies and procedures for reporting and recordkeeping;


 ■ Policies and procedures for obtaining medical care, trauma-
informed care, counseling, workers‘ compensation or legal 
assistance after a violent episode or injury. 







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
2 7


Training for supervisors and managers


Supervisors and managers must be trained to recognize high-
risk situations, so they can ensure that workers are not placed 
in assignments that compromise their safety. Such training 
should include encouraging workers 
to report incidents and to seek the 
appropriate care after experiencing 
a violent incident.


Supervisors and managers should 
learn how to reduce safety hazards 
and ensure that workers receive 
appropriate training. Following 
training, supervisors and managers 
should be able to recognize a 
potentially hazardous situation 
and make any necessary changes in 
the physical plant, patient care treatment program and staffing 
policy, and procedures to reduce or eliminate the hazards.


Training for security personnel


Security personnel need specific training from the hospital 
or clinic, including the psychological components of handling 
aggressive and abusive clients, and ways to handle aggression 
and defuse hostile situations.


Evaluation of training


The training program should also include an evaluation. At 
least annually, the team or coordinator responsible for the 
program should review its content, methods and the frequency 
of training. Program evaluation may involve supervisor and 
employee interviews, testing, observing and reviewing reports 
of behavior of individuals in threatening situations.


5. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation


Recordkeeping and evaluation of the violence prevention 
program are necessary to determine its overall effectiveness 
and identify any deficiencies or changes that should be made. 


Supervisors and 
managers must be 
trained to recognize 
high-risk situations, so 
they can ensure that 
workers are not placed 
in assignments that 
compromise their safety.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
2 8


Accurate records of injuries, illnesses, incidents, assaults, 
hazards, corrective actions, patient histories and training can 
help employers determine the severity of the problem; identify 
any developing trends or patterns in particular locations, jobs or 
departments; evaluate methods of hazard control; identify training 
needs and develop solutions for an effective program. Records 
can be especially useful to large organizations and for members 
of a trade association that “pool” data. Key records include: 


 ■ OSHA Log of Work-Related Injuries and Illnesses (OSHA 
Form 300). Covered employers are required to prepare 
and maintain records of serious occupational injuries and 
illnesses, using the OSHA 300 Log. As of January 2015, all 
employers must report: (1) all work-related fatalities within 
8 hours and (2) all work-related inpatient hospitalizations, all 
amputations and all losses of an eye within 24 hours. Injuries 
caused by assaults must be entered on the log if they meet 
the recording criteria.11


 ■ Medical reports of work injury, workers’ compensation reports 
and supervisors’ reports for each recorded assault. These 
records should describe the type of assault, such as an 
unprovoked sudden attack or patient-to-patient altercation, 
who was assaulted, and all other circumstances of the incident. 
The records should include a description of the environment or 
location, lost work time that resulted and the nature of injuries 
sustained. These medical records are confidential documents 
and should be kept in a locked location under the direct 
responsibility of a healthcare professional. 


 ■ Records of incidents of abuse, reports conducted by security 
personnel, verbal attacks or aggressive behavior that may 
be threatening, such as pushing or shouting and acts of 
aggression toward other clients. This may be kept as part 
of an assaultive incident report. Ensure that the affected 
department evaluates these records routinely. 


 ■ Information on patients with a history of past violence, drug 
abuse or criminal activity recorded on the patient’s chart. 
Anyone who cares for a potentially aggressive, abusive or 


11 29 CFR Part 1904, revised 2014.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
2 9


violent client should be aware of the person’s background and 
history, including triggers and de-escalation responses. Log the 
admission of violent patients to help determine potential risks. 
Log violent events on patients’ charts and flagged charts.12


 ■ Documentation of minutes of safety meetings, records 
of hazard analyses and corrective actions recommended 
and taken. 


 ■ Records of all training programs, attendees, and 
qualifications of trainers. 


Elements of a program evaluation


As part of their overall program, employers should evaluate their 
safety and security measures. Top management should review 
the program regularly and, with each incident, to evaluate its 
success. Responsible parties (including managers, supervisors 
and employees) should reevaluate policies and procedures on a 
regular basis to identify deficiencies and take corrective action.


Management should share workplace violence prevention 
evaluation reports with all workers. Any changes in the 
program should be discussed at regular meetings of the safety 
committee, union representatives or other employee groups.


All reports should protect worker and patient confidentiality 
either by presenting only aggregate data or by removing 
personal identifiers if individual data are used.


Processes involved in an evaluation include: 


 ■ Establishing a uniform violence reporting system and 
regular review of reports; 


 ■ Reviewing reports and minutes from staff meetings on 
safety and security issues; 


 ■ Analyzing trends and rates in illnesses, injuries or fatalities 
caused by violence relative to initial or “baseline” rates; 


 ■ Measuring improvement based on lowering the frequency 
and severity of workplace violence; 


12 Proper patient confidentiality must be maintained.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
3 0


 ■ Keeping up-to-date records of administrative and work 
practice changes to prevent workplace violence to evaluate 
how well they work; 


 ■ Surveying workers before and after making job or worksite 
changes or installing security measures or new systems to 
determine their effectiveness; 


 ■ Tracking recommendations through to completion;


 ■ Keeping abreast of new strategies available to prevent and 
respond to violence in the healthcare and social service 
fields as they develop; 


 ■ Surveying workers periodically to learn if they experience 
hostile situations in performing their jobs; 


 ■ Complying with OSHA and state requirements for recording 
and reporting injuries, illnesses, and fatalities; and 


 ■ Requesting periodic law enforcement or outside consultant 
review of the worksite for recommendations on improving 
worker safety. 


Workplace Violence Program Checklists


These checklists can help you or your workplace violence/crime 
prevention committee evaluate the workplace and job tasks to 
identify situations that may place workers at risk of assault. It 
is not designed for a specific industry or occupation, and may 
be used for any workplace. Adapt the checklist to fit your own 
needs. It is very comprehensive and not every question will 
apply to your workplace—if the question does not apply, either 
delete or write “N/A” in the NOTES column. Add any other 
questions that may be relevant to your worksite.


1 . RISK FACTORS FOR WORKPLACE VIOLENCE


Cal/OSHA and NIOSH have identified the following risk factors 
that may contribute to violence in the workplace. If you have 
one or more of these risk factors in your workplace, there may 
be a potential for violence. 







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3 1


YES NO Notes/Follow-up Action


Do employees have contact with the public?


Do they exchange money with the public?


Do they work alone?


Do they work late at night or during early 
morning hours? 


Is the workplace often understaffed?


Is the workplace located in an area with a high 
crime rate?


Do employees enter areas with a high crime rate?


Do they have a mobile workplace (patrol 
vehicle, work van, etc.)?


Do they deliver passengers or goods?


Do employees perform jobs that might put them 
in conflict with others?


Do they ever perform duties that could upset 
people (deny benefits, confiscate property, 
terminate child custody, etc.)?


Do they deal with people known or suspected of 
having a history of violence?


Do any employees or supervisors have a history 
of assault, verbal abuse, harassment, or other 
threatening behavior? 


Other risk factors – please describe:


2 . INSPECTING WORK AREAS


 ■ Who is responsible for building security?   
 


 ■ Are workers told or can they identify who is responsible for 
security? Yes No


You or your workplace violence/crime prevention committee 
should now begin a “walkaround” inspection to identify 
potential security hazards. This inspection can tell you which 
hazards are already well controlled, and what control measures 
need to be added. Not all of the following questions may be 
answered through simple observation. You may also need to 
talk to workers or investigate in other ways. 







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
3 2


All 
Areas


Some 
Areas


Few 
Areas


No 
Areas


NOTES/FOLLOW-UP 
ACTION


Are nametags or ID cards 
required for employees (omitting 
personal information such as last 
name and home address)?


Are workers notified of past 
violent acts in the workplace?


Are trained security and 
counseling personnel 
accessible to workers in a 
timely manner?


Do security and counseling 
personnel have sufficient 
authority to take all necessary 
action to ensure worker safety?


Is there an established liaison 
with state police and/or local 
police and counseling agencies?


Are bullet-resistant windows or 
similar barriers used when money 
is exchanged with the public?


Are areas where money 
is exchanged visible to 
others who could help in an 
emergency? (For example, can 
you see cash register areas 
from outside?)


Is a limited amount of cash 
kept on hand, with appropriate 
signs posted?


Could someone hear a worker 
who calls for help?


Can employees observe patients 
or clients in waiting areas?


Do areas used for patient 
or client interviews allow 
co-workers to observe any 
problems?


Are waiting areas and work 
areas free of objects that could 
be used as weapons?


Are chairs and furniture secured 
to prevent their use as weapons?


Is furniture in waiting areas and 
work areas arranged to prevent 
entrapment of workers?


Are patient or client waiting 
areas designed to maximize 
comfort and minimize stress?







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3 3


All 
Areas


Some 
Areas


Few 
Areas


No 
Areas


NOTES/FOLLOW-UP 
ACTION


Are patients or clients in 
waiting areas clearly informed 
how to use the department’s 
services so they will not 
become frustrated?


Are waiting times for patient 
or client services kept short to 
prevent frustration?


Are private, locked restrooms 
available for employees?


Is there a secure place for 
workers to store personal 
belongings?


3 . INSPECTING EXTERIOR BUILDING AREAS


Yes No NOTES/FOLLOW-UP ACTION


Do workers feel safe walking to and from 
the workplace?


Are the entrances to the building clearly visible 
from the street?


Is the area surrounding the building free of 
bushes or other hiding places?


Is lighting bright and effective in outside areas?


Are security personnel provided outside 
the building?


Is video surveillance provided outside 
the building?


Are remote areas secured during off shifts?


Is a buddy escort system required to remote 
areas during off shifts?


Are all exterior walkways visible to 
security personnel?







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
3 4


4 . INSPECTING PARKING AREAS


Yes No NOTES/FOLLOW-UP ACTION


Is there a nearby parking lot reserved for 
employees only?


Is the parking lot attended or 
otherwise secured?


Is the parking lot free of blind spots and is 
landscaping trimmed back to prevent hiding places?


Is there enough lighting to see clearly in the 
parking lot and when walking to the building?


Are security escorts available to employees 
walking to and from the parking lot?


5 . SECURITY MEASURES 


Does the workplace have: 
In 


Place
Should 


Add
Doesn’t 
Apply NOTES/FOLLOW-UP ACTION


Physical barriers (plexiglass 
partitions, bullet-resistant customer 
window, etc.)?


Security cameras or closed-circuit 
TV in high-risk areas?


Panic buttons?


Alarm systems?


Metal detectors?


Security screening device?


Door locks?


Internal telephone system to contact 
emergency assistance?


Telephones with an outside line 
programmed for 911?


Two-way radios, pagers, or cellular 
telephones?


Security mirrors (e.g., convex mirrors)?


Secured entry (e.g., “buzzers”)?


Personal alarm devices?


“Drop safes” to limit the amount of 
cash on hand?


Broken windows repaired promptly?


Security systems, locks, etc. tested 
on a regular basis and repaired 
promptly when necessary?







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3 5


6 . COMMENTS


Checklist completed by:   Date:  


Department/Location:    


Phone Number:    


Workplace Violence Prevention Program Assessment Checklist


Use this checklist as part of a regular safety and health 
inspection or audit to be conducted by the Health and Safety, 
Crime/Workplace Violence Prevention Coordinator, or joint 
labor/management committee. If a question does not apply to 
the workplace, then write “N/A” (not applicable) in the notes 
column. Add any other questions that may be appropriate. 


Yes No NOTES


STAFFING


Is there someone responsible for building security?


Who is it?


Are workers told who is responsible for security? 


Is adequate and trained staffing available 
to protect workers who are in potentially 
dangerous situations?


Are there trained security personnel accessible 
to workers in a timely manner?


Do security personnel have sufficient authority to 
take all necessary action to ensure worker safety?


Are security personnel provided outside 
the building?


Is the parking lot attended or otherwise secure?


Are security escorts available to walk 
employees to and from the parking lot?







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
3 6


Yes No NOTES


TRAINING


Are workers trained in the emergency response 
plan (for example, escape routes, notifying the 
proper authorities)?


Are workers trained to report violent incidents 
or threats?


Are workers trained in how to handle difficult 
clients or patients?


Are workers trained in ways to prevent or 
defuse potentially violent situations?


Are workers trained in personal safety and 
self-defense?


FACILITY DESIGN


Are there enough exits and adequate routes 
of escape?


Can exit doors be opened only from the inside to 
prevent unauthorized entry?


Is the lighting adequate to see clearly in 
indoor areas?


Are there employee-only work areas that are 
separate from public areas?


Is access to work areas only through a 
reception area?


Are reception and work areas designed to 
prevent unauthorized entry?


Could someone hear a worker call for help?


Can workers observe patients or clients in 
waiting areas?


Do areas used for patient or client interviews 
allow co-workers to observe any problems?


Are waiting and work areas free of objects that 
could be used as weapons?


Are chairs and furniture secured to prevent 
their use as weapons?


Is furniture in waiting and work areas arranged 
to prevent workers from becoming trapped?


Are patient or client areas designed to maximize 
comfort and minimize stress?


Is a secure place available for workers to store 
their personal belongings?


Are private, locked restrooms available for staff?







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3 7


Yes No NOTES


SECURITY MEASURES –  
Does the workplace have?


Physical barriers (Plexiglas partitions, elevated 
counters to prevent people from jumping over 
them, bullet-resistant customer windows, etc.)?


Security cameras or closed-circuit TV in high-
risk areas?


Panic buttons – (portable or fixed)


Alarm systems?


Metal detectors?


X-ray machines?


Door locks?


Internal phone system to activate emergency 
assistance?


Phones with an outside line programmed to 
call 911?


Security mirrors (convex mirrors)?


Secured entry (buzzers)?


Personal alarm devices?


OUTSIDE THE FACILITY


Do workers feel safe walking to and from 
the workplace?


Are the entrances to the building clearly visible 
from the street?


Is the area surrounding the building free of 
bushes or other hiding places?


Is video surveillance provided outside the building?


Is there enough lighting to see clearly outside 
the building?


Are all exterior walkways visible to 
security personnel?


Is there a nearby parking lot reserved for 
employees only?


Is the parking lot free of bushes or other 
hiding places?


Is there enough lighting to see clearly in the 
parking lot and when walking to the building?


Have neighboring facilities and businesses 
experienced violence or crime?







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
3 8


Yes No NOTES


WORKPLACE PROCEDURES


Are employees given maps and clear directions 
in order to navigate the areas where they will 
be working?


Is public access to the building controlled?


Are floor plans posted showing building 
entrances, exits, and location of security 
personnel?


Are these floor plans visible only to staff and not 
to outsiders?


Is other emergency information posted, such as 
the telephone numbers?


Are special security measures taken to protect 
people who work late at night (escorts, locked 
entrances, etc.)?


Are visitors or clients escorted to offices for 
appointments?


Are authorized visitors to the building required 
to wear ID badges?


Are identification tags required for staff 
(omitting personal information such as the 
person’s last name and social security number)?


Are workers notified of past violent acts by 
particular clients, patients, etc.?


Is there an established liaison with local police 
and counseling agencies?


Are patients or clients in waiting areas clearly 
informed how to use the department’s services 
so they will not become frustrated? 


Are waiting times for patient or client services 
kept short to prevent frustration?


Are broken windows and locks repaired promptly?


Are security devices (locks, cameras, alarms, 
etc.) tested on a regular basis and repaired 
promptly when necessary?


FIELD WORK – Staffing:


Are escorts or “buddies” provided for people 
who work in potentially dangerous situations?


Is assistance provided to workers in the field in 
a timely manner when requested?


FIELD WORK – Training:


Are workers briefed about the area in which 
they will be working (gang colors, neighborhood 
culture, language, drug activity, etc.)?







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
3 9


Yes No NOTES


Can workers effectively communicate with people 
they meet in the field (same language, etc.)?


Are people who work in the field late at night 
or early mornings advised about special 
precautions to take?


FIELD WORK – Work Environment:


Is there enough lighting to see clearly in all 
areas where workers must go?


Are there safe places for workers to eat, use 
the restroom, store valuables, etc.?


Are there places where workers can go for 
protection in an emergency?


Is safe parking readily available for employees 
in the field?


FIELD WORK – Security Measures:


Are workers provided two-way radios, pagers, 
or cellular phones?


Are workers provided with personal alarm 
devices or portable panic buttons?


Are vehicle door and window locks controlled 
by the driver?


Are vehicles equipped with physical barriers 
(Plexiglas partitions, etc.)?


FIELD WORK – Work Procedures:


Are employees given maps and clear directions 
for covering the areas where they will be working?


Are employees given alternative routes to use 
in neighborhoods with a high crime rate?


Does a policy exist to allow employees to refuse 
service to clients or customers (in the home, 
etc.) in a hazardous situation?


Has a liaison with the police been established?


Do workers avoid carrying unnecessary items 
that someone could use as weapon against them?


Does the employer provide a safe vehicle or 
other transportation for use in the field?


Are vehicles used in the field routinely 
inspected and kept in good working order?


Is there always someone who knows where 
each employee is?


Are nametags required for workers in the field 
(omitting personal information such as last 
name and social security number)?


Are workers notified of past violent acts by 
particular clients, patients, etc.?







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4 0


Yes No NOTES


FIELD WORK – Are special precautions taken 
when workers:


Have to take something away from people 
(remove children from the home)?


Have contact with people who behave violently?


Use vehicles or wear clothing marked with the 
name of an organization that the public may 
strongly dislike?


Perform duties inside people’s homes?


Have contact with dangerous animals (dogs, etc.)?


Adapted from the workplace violence prevention program 
checklist, California Department of Human Resources, see www.
calhr.ca.gov/Documents/model-workplace-violence-and-bullying-
prevention-program.pdf (last accessed November 25, 2014). 


Bibliography


Center for Disease Control. (2002). Violence: Occupational 
Hazards in Hospitals. Cincinnati: National Institute of 
Occupational Safety and Health.


Chapman, R., Perry, L., Styles, I., & Combs, S. (2009). Predicting 
patient agression against nurses in all hospital areas. British 
Journal of Nursing, 476-483.


Dillon, B. L. (2012). Workplace violence: Impact, causes, and 
prevention. Work, 15-20.


Duxbury, J., & Whittington, R. (2005). Causes and management 
of patient aggression and violence: staff and patient 
perspectives. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 469-478.


ECRI Institue. (2011). Healthcare Risk Control: Violence in 
Healthcare Facilities. Plymouth Meeting: ECRI Institute.


Erdmann, S. L. (2008-2009). Eat the Carrot and Use the Stick: 
the Prevalence of Workplace Violence Demands Proactive 
Federal Regulation of Employers. Valparaiso University Law 
Review, 725-770.



http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Documents/model-workplace-violence-and-bullying-prevention-program.pdf

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Documents/model-workplace-violence-and-bullying-prevention-program.pdf

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Documents/model-workplace-violence-and-bullying-prevention-program.pdf





Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
4 1


Farkas, G. M., & Tsukayama, J. K. (2012). An integrative 
approach to threat assessment and management: Security and 
mental health response to a threatening client. Work, 9-14.


Ferns, T., & Cork, A. (2008). Managing alcohol related 
aggression in the emergency department (Part I). International 
Emergency Nursing, 43-47.


Foley, M. (2012). Evaluating progress in reducing workplace 
violence: Trends in Washington State workers’ compensation 
claims rates, 1997-2007. Work, 67-81.


Forster, J. A., Petty, M. T., Schleiger, C., & Walters, H. C. (2005). 
kNOw workplace violence: developing programs for managing 
the risk of aggression in the health care setting. Medical Journal 
of Australia, 357-361.


Gallant-Roman, M. A. (2008). Strategies and Tools to Reduce 
Workplace Violence. American Association of Occupational 
Health Nurses , 449-454.


Gates, D., Fitzwater, E., Telintelo, S., Succop, P., & Sommers, 
M. (2004). Preventing Assaults by Nursing Home Residents: 
Nursing Assistants’ Knowledge and Confidence--A Pilot Study. 
Journal of American Medical Directors Association, S16-S21.


Geiger-Brown, J., Muntaner, C., McPhaul, K., Libscomb, J., & 
Trinkoff, A. http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/homecare/pdf/geiger.
pdf. Retrieved September 14, 2012, from http://laborcenter.
berkeley.edu. 


Gerson, R. R., Pogorzelska, M., Qureshi, K. A., Stone, P. W., 
Canton, A. N., Samar, S. M., et al. http://www.ahrq.gov/
downloads/pub/advances2/vol1/Advances-Gershon_88.pdf. 
Retrieved September 14, 2012, from www.ahrq.gov.


Gillespie, G. L., Gates, D. M., Miller, M., & Howard, P. K. (2010). 
Workplace Violence in Healthcare Settings: Risk Factors and 
Protective Strategies. Rehabilitation Nursing, 177-184.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4 2


Gillespie, G. L., Gates, D. M., Miller, M., & Howard, P. K. (2012). 
Emergency department workers’ perceptions of security 
officers’ effectiveness during violent events. Work, 21-27.


Greenspan, A. I., & Noonan, R. K. (2012). Twenty years of 
scientific progress in injury and violence research and the next 
public health frontier. Journal of Safety Research, Article in Press.


Harthill, S. (2009-2010). The Need for a Revitalized Regulatory 
Scheme to Address Workplace Bullying in the United States: 
Harnessing the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act. 
University of Cincinnati Law Review, 1250-1306.


Hartley, D., Doman, B., Hendricks, S. A., & Jenkins, E. L. (2012). 
Non-fatal workplace violence injuries in the United States 2003-
2004: A follow back study. Work, 125-135.


Ho, J. D., Clinton, J. E., Lappe, M. A., Heegaard, W. G., Williams, M. 
F., & Miner, J. R. (2011). Violence: Recognition, Management and 
Prevention: Introduction of the conducted electrical weapon into 
hospital setting. The Journal of Emergency Medicine, 317-323.


Hutchings, D., Lundrigan, E., Mathews, M., Lynch, A., & 
Goosney, J. (2010). Keeping Community Health Care Workers 
Safe. Home Health Care Management Practice OnlineFirst.


International Association for Healthcare Security & Safety 
(IAHSS). (2012). IAHSS Handbook: Healthcare Security Basic 
Industry Guidelines. Glendale Heights: IAHSS.


International Association for Healthcare Security & Safety. 
(2012). Security Design Guidelines for Healthcare Facilities. 
Glendale Heights: IAHSS.


Jenkins, E. L., Fisher, B. S., & Hartley, D. (2012). Safe and secure 
at work?: Findings from 2002 Workplace Risk Supplement. 
Work, 57-66.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
4 3


Johns, D. V. (2008-2009). Action Should Follow Words: 
Assessing the Arbitral Response to Zero-Tolerance Workplace 
Violence Policies. Ohio State Journal on Dispute Resolution, 
263-290.


Joint Programme on Workplace Violence in the Health Sector; 
International Labour Office (ILO); International Council of 
Nurses (IC); World Health Organization (WHO); Public Services 
International (PSI). (2002). Framework Guidelines for Addressing 
Workplace Violence in the Health Sector. Geneva: International 
Labour Office.


Kelen, G. D., & Catlett, C. L. (2010). Violence in the Health Care 
Setting. The Journal of the American Medical Association, 2530-
2531.


Kowalenko, T., Cunningham, R., Sachs, C. J., Gore, R., Barata, 
I. A., Gates, D., et al. (2012). Violence: Recognition, Management 
and Prevention - Workplace Violence in Emergency Medicine: 
Current Knowledge and Future Directions. The Journal of 
Emergency Medicine, 523-531.


La, M. l., & Loomis, D. P. (2007). Frequency and determinants 
of recommended workplace violence prevention measures. 
Journal of Safety Research, 643-650.


Laden, V. A., & Schwartz, G. (2000). Psychiatric Disabilities, the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, and the New Workplace Violence 
Account. Berkeley Journal of Employment and Labor Law, 246-270.


Lipscomb, J. A., London, M., Chen, Y., Flannery, K., Watt, M. 
G.-B., Johnson, J., et al. (2012). Safety climate and workplace 
violence prevention in state-run residential addiction treatment 
centers. Work, 47-56.


Lipscomb, J., McPhaul, K., Rosen, J., Brown, J. G., Choi, M., 
Soeken, K., et al. (2006). Violence Prevention in the Mental Health 
Setting: The New York State Experience. Canadian Journal of 
Nursing Research, 96-117.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4 4


Lipscomb, J., Silverstein, B., Slavin, T. J., Cody, E., & Jenkins, L. 
(2002). Perspectives on Legal Strategies to Prevent Workplace 
Violence. The Journal of Law, Medicine, & Ethics, 166-172.


Magnavita, N. (2011). Violence Prevention in a Small-scale 
Psychiatric Unit: Program Planning and Evaluation. International 
Journal of Occupational Environmental Health, 336-344.


Massachusetts Department of Mental Health Task Force on Staff 
and Client Safety. (2011). Report of the Massachusetts Department 
of Mental Health Task Force on Staff and Client Safety. 


McPaul, K., Libscomb, J., & Johnson, J. (2010). Assessing Risk for 
Violence on Home Health Visits. Home Healthcare Nurse, 278-289.


McPhaul, K. M., London, M., Murrett, K., Flannery, K., Rosen, J., 
& Lipscomb, J. (2008). Environmental Evaluation for Workplace 
Violence in Healthcare and Social Services. Journal of Safety 
Research, 39, 237-250.


Medley, D. B., Morris, J. E., Stone, C. K., Song, J., Delmas, T., 
& Thakrar, K. (2012). Administration of Emergency Medicine: 
An association between occupancy rates in the emergency 
department and rates of violence toward staff. The Journal of 
Emergency Medicine, 1-9.


Nachreiner, N. M., Hansen, H. E., Okano, A., Gerberich, S. G., 
Ryan, A. D., McGovern, P. M., et al. (2007). Difference in Work-
Related Violence by Nurse License Type. Journal of Professional 
Nursing, 290-300.


NIOSH Fast Facts: Home Healthcare Workers - How to Prevent 
Violence on the Job. (2012, February). NIOSH.


Ontario Safety Association for Community & Healthcare. 
(2003). Health & Safety in the Home Care Environment, Second 
Addition. Toronto: Ontario Safety Association for Community & 
Healthcare.







Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
4 5


Phillips, S. (2007). Countering Workplace Aggression: An Urban 
Tertiary Care Institutional Exemplar. Nursing Administration 
Quarterly, 209-218.


Rodriguez-Acosta, R., Myers, D., Richardson, D., Lipscomb, H., 
Chen, J., & Dement, J. (2010). Physical assault among nursing 
staff employed in acute care. Work, 191-200.


Sawyer, J. R. (2009). Preventing hospital gun violence: best 
practices for security professionals to review and adopt. 
Journal of Healthcare Protection Management, 99-103.


Smith, T. J. (2012). Active life-threatenting violence--are you 
prepared. Journal of Healthcare Protection Management, 28(1), 
44-49.


Tak, S., Sweeney, M. H., Alterman, T. B., & Calvert, G. M. (2010). 
Workplace Assaults on Nursing Assistants in U.S. Nursing 
Homes: A Multilevel Analysis. American Journal of Public 
Health, 1938-45.


The Joint Commission. (2010, June 03). Sentinel Event Alert: 
Preventing violence in the health care setting. (45). The Joint 
Commission.


Wiskow, C. (2003). Guidelines on Workplace Violence in the 
Health Sector - Comparison of major known national guidelines 
and strategies: United Kingdom, Australia, Sweden, USA (OSHA 
and California). Geneva: ILO/ICN/WHO/PSI Joint Programme on 
Workplace Violence in the Health Sector.







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4 6


Workers’ Rights


Workers have the right to:


 ■ Working conditions that do not pose a risk of serious harm. 


 ■ Receive information and training (in a language and 
vocabulary the worker understands) about workplace 
hazards, methods to prevent them, and the OSHA standards 
that apply to their workplace. 


 ■ Review records of work-related injuries and illnesses. 


 ■ File a complaint asking OSHA to inspect their workplace if 
they believe there is a serious hazard or that their employer 
is not following OSHA’s rules. OSHA will keep all identities 
confidential.


 ■ Exercise their rights under the law without retaliation, 
including reporting an injury or raising health and safety 
concerns with their employer or OSHA. If a worker has been 
retaliated against for using their rights, they must file a 
complaint with OSHA as soon as possible, but no later than 
30 days. 


For more information, see OSHA’s Workers page.


OSHA Assistance, Services and Programs 


OSHA has a great deal of information to assist employers in 
complying with their responsibilities under OSHA law. Several 
OSHA programs and services can help employers identify and 
correct job hazards, as well as improve their injury and illness 
prevention program.


Establishing an Injury and Illness  
Prevention Program


The key to a safe and healthful work environment is a 
comprehensive injury and illness prevention program.



http://www.osha.gov/workers





Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
4 7


Injury and illness prevention programs are systems that can 
substantially reduce the number and severity of workplace 
injuries and illnesses, while reducing costs to employers. 
Thousands of employers across the United States already 
manage safety using injury and illness prevention programs, and 
OSHA believes that all employers can and should do the same. 
Thirty-four states have requirements or voluntary guidelines 
for workplace injury and illness prevention programs. Most 
successful injury and illness prevention programs are based 
on a common set of key elements. These include management 
leadership, worker participation, hazard identification, hazard 
prevention and control, education and training, and program 
evaluation and improvement. Visit OSHA’s Injury and Illness 
Prevention Programs web page at www.osha.gov/dsg/topics/
safetyhealth for more information.


Compliance Assistance Specialists


OSHA has compliance assistance specialists throughout the 
nation located in most OSHA offices. Compliance assistance 
specialists can provide information to employers and workers 
about OSHA standards, short educational programs on specific 
hazards or OSHA rights and responsibilities, and information on 
additional compliance assistance resources. For more details, 
visit www.osha.gov/dcsp/compliance_assistance/cas.html or 
call 1-800-321-OSHA (6742) to contact your local OSHA office.


Free On-site Safety and Health Consultation 
Services for Small Business


OSHA’s On-site Consultation Program offers free and 
confidential advice to small and medium-sized businesses 
in all states across the country, with priority given to high-
hazard worksites. Each year, responding to requests from small 
employers looking to create or improve their safety and health 
management programs, OSHA’s On-site Consultation Program 
conducts over 29,000 visits to small business worksites 
covering over 1.5 million workers across the nation.



http://www.osha.gov/dsg/topics/safetyhealth

http://www.osha.gov/dsg/topics/safetyhealth

http://www.osha.gov/dcsp/compliance_assistance/cas.html





Occupational Safety and Health Administration
4 8


On-site consultation services are separate from enforcement 
and do not result in penalties or citations. Consultants from state 
agencies or universities work with employers to identify workplace 
hazards, provide advice on compliance with OSHA standards, and 
assist in establishing safety and health management programs.


For more information, to find the local On-site Consultation office 
in your state, or to request a brochure on Consultation Services, 
visit www.osha.gov/consultation, or call 1-800-321-OSHA (6742).


Under the consultation program, certain exemplary employers 
may request participation in OSHA’s Safety and Health 
Achievement Recognition Program (SHARP). Eligibility for 
participation includes, but is not limited to, receiving a full-
service, comprehensive consultation visit, correcting all 
identified hazards and developing an effective safety and 
health management program. Worksites that receive SHARP 
recognition are exempt from programmed inspections during 
the period that the SHARP certification is valid.


Cooperative Programs


OSHA offers cooperative programs under which businesses, 
labor groups and other organizations can work cooperatively 
with OSHA. To find out more about any of the following 
programs, visit www.osha.gov/cooperativeprograms.


Strategic Partnerships and Alliances


The OSHA Strategic Partnerships (OSP) provide the opportunity 
for OSHA to partner with employers, workers, professional or 
trade associations, labor organizations, and/or other interested 
stakeholders. OSHA Partnerships are formalized through unique 
agreements designed to encourage, assist, and recognize 
partner efforts to eliminate serious hazards and achieve model 
workplace safety and health practices. Through the Alliance 
Program, OSHA works with groups committed to worker safety 
and health to prevent workplace fatalities, injuries and illnesses 
by developing compliance assistance tools and resources to 
share with workers and employers, and educate workers and 
employers about their rights and responsibilities.



http://www.osha.gov/consultation

http://www.osha.gov/cooperativeprograms





Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
4 9


Voluntary Protection Programs (VPP)


The VPP recognize employers and workers in private industry 
and federal agencies who have implemented effective safety and 
health management programs and maintain injury and illness rates 
below the national average for their respective industries. In VPP, 
management, labor, and OSHA work cooperatively and proactively 
to prevent fatalities, injuries, and illnesses through a system 
focused on: hazard prevention and control, worksite analysis, 
training, and management commitment and worker involvement.


Occupational Safety and Health Training


The OSHA Training Institute partners with 27 OSHA Training 
Institute Education Centers at 42 locations throughout the United 
States to deliver courses on OSHA standards and occupational 
safety and health topics to thousands of students a year. For more 
information on training courses, visit www.osha.gov/otiec.


OSHA Educational Materials


OSHA has many types of educational materials in English, 
Spanish, Vietnamese and other languages available in print or 
online. These include:


 ■ Brochures/booklets;


 ■ Fact Sheets;


 ■ Guidance documents that provide detailed examinations of 
specific safety and health issues;


 ■ Online Safety and Health Topics pages;


 ■ Posters;


 ■ Small, laminated QuickCards™ that provide brief safety and 
health information; and


 ■ QuickTakes, OSHA’s free, twice-monthly online 
newsletter with the latest news about OSHA initiatives 
and products to assist employers and workers in finding 
and preventing workplace hazards. To sign up for 
QuickTakes visit www.osha.gov/quicktakes.



http://www.osha.gov/otiec

http://www.osha.gov/quicktakes





To view materials available online or for a listing of free 
publications, visit www.osha.gov/publications. You can also call 
1-800-321-OSHA (6742) to order publications.


Select OSHA publications are available in e-Book format. 
OSHA e-Books are designed to increase readability on 
smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices. For access, 
go to www.osha.gov/ebooks.


OSHA’s web site also has information on job hazards and 
injury and illness prevention for employers and workers. To 
learn more about OSHA’s safety and health resources online, 
visit www.osha.gov or www.osha.gov/html/a-z-index.html.


NIOSH Health Hazard Evaluation Program


Getting Help with Health Hazards


The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health 
(NIOSH) is a federal agency that conducts scientific and medical 
research on workers’ safety and health. At no cost to employers 
or workers, NIOSH can help identify health hazards and 
recommend ways to reduce or eliminate those hazards in the 
workplace through its Health Hazard Evaluation (HHE) Program.


Workers, union representatives and employers can request a 
NIOSH HHE. An HHE is often requested when there is a higher 
than expected rate of a disease or injury in a group of workers. 
These situations may be the result of an unknown cause, a new 
hazard, or a mixture of sources. To request a NIOSH Health 
Hazard Evaluation go to www.cdc.gov/niosh/hhe/request.html. 
To find out more, in English or Spanish, about the Health Hazard 
Evaluation Program: 


E-mail HHERequestHelp@cdc.gov or call 800-CDC-INFO
(800-232-4636).


Occupational Safety and Health Administration
5 0



http://www.osha.gov/publications

http://www.osha.gov/ebooks

http://www.osha.gov

http://www.osha.gov/html/a-z-index.html

mailto:HHERequestHelp@cdc.gov





Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers
5 1


OSHA Regional Offices


Region I
Boston Regional Office
(CT*, ME*, MA, NH, RI, VT*) 
JFK Federal Building, Room E340
Boston, MA 02203
(617) 565-9860 (617) 565-9827 Fax 


Region II
New York Regional Office
(NJ*, NY*, PR*, VI*) 
201 Varick Street, Room 670
New York, NY 10014
(212) 337-2378 (212) 337-2371 Fax


Region III
Philadelphia Regional Office
(DE, DC, MD*, PA, VA*, WV)
The Curtis Center
170 S. Independence Mall West
Suite 740 West
Philadelphia, PA 19106-3309
(215) 861-4900 (215) 861-4904 Fax


Region IV 
Atlanta Regional Office
(AL, FL, GA, KY*, MS, NC*, SC*, TN*)
61 Forsyth Street, SW, Room 6T50
Atlanta, GA 30303
(678) 237-0400 (678) 237-0447 Fax
 
Region V
Chicago Regional Office
(IL*, IN*, MI*, MN*, OH, WI)
230 South Dearborn Street 
Room 3244
Chicago, IL 60604
(312) 353-2220 (312) 353-7774 Fax







Occupational Safety and Health Administration
5 2


Region VI
Dallas Regional Office
(AR, LA, NM*, OK, TX)
525 Griffin Street, Room 602
Dallas, TX 75202
(972) 850-4145 (972) 850-4149 Fax
(972) 850-4150 FSO Fax


Region VII
Kansas City Regional Office
(IA*, KS, MO, NE)
Two Pershing Square Building
2300 Main Street, Suite 1010
Kansas City, MO 64108-2416
(816) 283-8745 (816) 283-0547 Fax


Region VIII
Denver Regional Office
(CO, MT, ND, SD, UT*, WY*)
Cesar Chavez Memorial Building
1244 Speer Boulevard, Suite 551
Denver, CO 80204
(720) 264-6550 (720) 264-6585 Fax


Region IX 
San Francisco Regional Office
(AZ*, CA*, HI*, NV*, and American Samoa, 
Guam and the Northern Mariana Islands)
90 7th Street, Suite 18100
San Francisco, CA 94103
(415) 625-2547 (415) 625-2534 Fax


Region X
Seattle Regional Office
(AK*, ID, OR*, WA*)
300 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1280
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 757-6700 (206) 757-6705 Fax







* These states and territories operate their own OSHA-approved 
job safety and health plans and cover state and local government 
employees as well as private sector employees. The Connecticut, 
Illinois, Maine, New Jersey, New York and Virgin Islands 
programs cover public employees only. (Private sector workers 
in these states are covered by Federal OSHA). States with 
approved programs must have standards that are identical to, 
or at least as effective as, the Federal OSHA standards.


Note: To get contact information for OSHA area offices, OSHA-
approved state plans and OSHA consultation projects, please visit 
us online at www.osha.gov or call us at 1-800-321-OSHA (6742).


How to Contact OSHA


For questions or to get information or advice, to report an 
emergency, fatality, inpatient hospitalization, amputation, 


or loss of an eye, or to file a confidential complaint, contact 
your nearest OSHA office, visit www.osha.gov or call OSHA 


at 1-800-321-OSHA (6742), TTY 1-877-889-5627.


For assistance, contact us .
We are OSHA . We can help . 



http://www.osha.gov

http://www.osha.gov





U .S . Department of Labor


For more information:


Occupational
Safety and Health
Administration


www.osha.gov  (800) 321-OSHA (6742)



http://www.osha.gov



		Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers

		Table of Contents

		Overview of the Guidelines

		Violence in the Workplace: The Impact of Workplace Violence on Healthcare and Social Service Workers 

		Risk Factors: Identifying and Assessing Workplace Violence Hazards 



		Violence Prevention Programs

		1. �Management Commitment and Worker Participation

		2. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification 

		3. Hazard Prevention and Control

		4. Safety and Health Training

		5. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation



		Workplace Violence Program Checklists

		Bibliography

		Workers’ Rights

		OSHA Assistance, Services and Programs 

		NIOSH Health Hazard Evaluation Program

		OSHA Regional Offices

		How to Contact OSHA












CARING FOR OUR CAREGIVERS CARING FOR OUR CAREGIVERS 


Workplace Violence in Healthcare


Understanding the 
Challenge 


Workplace violence is a serious problem. Different organizations have defined 
workplace violence in various ways. The National Institute for Occupational 
Safety and Health defines workplace violence as “violent acts, including 


physical assaults and threats of assault, directed toward persons at work or on duty.” 
Enforcement activities typically focus on physical assaults or threats that result or can 
result in serious physical harm. However, many people who study this issue and the 
workplace prevention programs highlighted here include verbal violence—threats, 
verbal abuse, hostility, harassment, and the like—which can cause significant psycho-
logical trauma and stress, even if no physical injury takes place. Verbal assaults can 
also escalate to physical violence.


In hospitals, nursing homes, and other healthcare settings, possible sources of 
violence include patients, visitors, intruders, and even coworkers. Examples include 
verbal threats or physical attacks by patients, a distraught family member who may 
be abusive or even become an active shooter, gang violence in the emergency depart-
ment, a domestic dispute that spills over into the workplace, or coworker bullying. 


Healthcare workers are at an increased risk for workplace violence. From 
2002 to 2013, incidents of serious workplace violence (those requiring days off for 
the injured worker to recuperate) were four times more common in healthcare than 
in private industry on average. In 2013, the broad “healthcare and social assistance” 
sector had 7.8 cases of serious workplace violence per 10,000 full-time employees 
(see graph below). Other large sectors such as construction, manufacturing, and retail 
all had fewer than two cases per 10,000 full-time employees. 


Violent Injuries Resulting in Days Away from Work, by Industry, 
2002–2013


Workplace violence risk 
factors vary by healthcare 
setting, but common factors 
include the following:1 


• Working with people who have
a history of violence or who
may be delirious or under the
influence of drugs


• Lifting, moving, and
transporting patients


• Working alone
• Poor environmental design that


may block vision or escape
routes


• Poor lighting in hallways or
exterior areas


• Lack of means of emergency
communication


• Presence of firearms
• Working in neighborhoods with


high crime rates
• Lack of training and policies for


staff
• Understaffing in general, and


especially during meal times
and visiting hours


• High worker turnover
• Inadequate security staff
• Long wait times and


overcrowded waiting rooms
• Unrestricted public access
• Perception that violence


is tolerated and reporting
incidents will have no effect


U.S. Department of Labor


www.osha.gov • (800) 321-OSHA (6742)
OSHA 3826 - 12/2015



http://www.osha.gov





2


 Violent incidents come from a variety of sources. Many are not reported.


Patients are the largest source of violence in healthcare settings, but 
they are not the only source. In 2013, 80 percent of serious violent incidents 
reported in healthcare settings were caused by interactions with patients (see 
graph). Other incidents were caused by visitors, coworkers, or other people. 


Healthcare Worker Injuries Resulting in Days Away from Work,  
by Source


Data source: Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), 2013 data. These data cover three broad industry 
sectors: ambulatory healthcare services, hospitals, and nursing and residential care facilities. Source 
categories are defined by BLS. 


Violence is vastly underreported. The numbers above only include incidents 
that led to time away from work. While some data are available for other violent 
incidents, surveys show that many incidents go unreported, even at facilities 
with formal incident reporting systems.2 For example, a survey of 4,738 Minne-
sota nurses found that only 69 percent of physical assaults and 71 percent of 
non-physical assaults were reported to a manager,3 while one medical center 
found that half of verbal and physical assaults by patients against nurses were 
never reported in writing.4 Bullying and other forms of verbal abuse are par-
ticularly prone to underreporting. Reasons for underreporting include lack of a 
reporting policy, lack of faith in the reporting system, and fear of retaliation. 


Placeholder Photo


Assailant/suspect/inmate
1%


Other client or customer
12%


Student
3%


Coworker
3%


Other person (not specified)
1%


Patient
80% Unique challenges 


in healthcare 
Healthcare has some unique 
cultural factors that may contribute 
to underreporting or acceptance of 
workplace violence. For example, 
caregivers feel a professional and 
ethical duty to “do no harm” to 
patients. Some will put their own 
safety and health at risk to help a 
patient, and many in healthcare 
professions consider violence to 
be “part of the job.” Healthcare 
workers also recognize that many 
injuries caused by patients are 
unintentional, and are therefore 
likely to accept them as routine or 
unavoidable. Another consideration 
is unwillingness among healthcare 
workers to stigmatize the 
perpetrators due to their illness or 
impairment.


Healthcare is also evolving in 
ways that increase the challenge. 
For example, because of reduced 
funding for mental health services, 
severely ill patients with violent 
tendencies are increasingly using 
emergency departments rather 
than more specialized facilities for 
treatment.







3


Workplace violence is widespread in healthcare professions.


Surveys highlight the prevalence of workplace violence among healthcare occupations: 


• 21 percent of registered nurses and nursing students reported being physically assaulted—and over 50 percent ver-
bally abused—in a 12-month period (2014 American Nurses Association’s Health Risk Appraisal survey of 3,765 registered 
nurses and nursing students).5 


• 12 percent of emergency department nurses experienced physical violence—and 59 percent experienced verbal 
abuse—during a seven-day period (2009–2011 Emergency Nurses Association survey of 7,169 nurses).6


• 13 percent of employees in Veterans Health Administration hospitals reported being assaulted in a year (2002 survey of 
72,349 workers at 142 facilities).7


Some professions and settings are more at risk than others. In 2013, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, 
psychiatric aides experienced the highest rate of violent injuries that resulted in days away from work, at approximately 590 
injuries per 10,000 full-time employees. This rate is more than 10 times higher than the next group, nursing assistants, who 
experienced about 55 such injuries per 10,000 full-time employees. Registered nurses experienced about 14 violent injuries 
resulting in days away from work per 10,000 full-time employees, compared with a rate of 4.2 in U.S. private industry as a 
whole. Surveys show that high-risk areas include emergency departments, geriatrics, and behavioral health, among others.6,7


In 2013, the most common causes of violent injuries resulting in days away from work across several healthcare occupations 
were hitting, kicking, beating, and/or shoving (see graph).


Violent Injuries Resulting in Days Away from Work, by Cause


0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 7,000 8,000


Licensed practical and
vocational nurses


Registered nurses


Nursing, psychiatric,
and home health aides


Data source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2013 data.


Number of cases


Hitting, kicking, beating, shoving


Injury by physical contact with person while 
moving that person—unintentional


Injury by other person—unintentional or 
intent unknown—not elsewhere classified


Injury by physical contact with person while 
restraining or subduing—unintentional


Intentional injury by other person—not 
elsewhere classified







4


Workplace violence is costly—and preventable.


Workplace violence comes at a high cost. If an employee requires medical treatment or misses work because of a 
workplace injury, workers’ compensation insurance will typically have to pay the cost. For example, one hospital system had 
30 nurses who required treatment for violent injuries in a particular year, at a total cost of $94,156 ($78,924 for treatment 
and $15,232 for lost wages).8 If your organization self-insures (as some large healthcare organizations do), it will bear the full 
cost. If your organization does not, its claim experience can still affect insurance premiums.


Violence can also lead to other less obvious costs. For example:


• Caregiver fatigue, injury, and stress are tied to a higher risk of medication errors and patient infections.9


• Studies have found higher patient satisfaction levels in hospitals where fewer nurses are dissatisfied or burned out.10  


• Injuries and stress are common factors that drive some caregivers to leave the profession. The estimated cost of replacing a 
nurse is $27,000 to $103,000.11 This cost includes separation, recruiting, hiring, orientation, and training. Some estimates 
also account for lost productivity while a replacement is hired and trained.


Healthcare facilities can reduce workplace violence by following a comprehensive workplace violence 
prevention program. An effective program includes five key components:


• Management commitment and worker participation


• Worksite analysis and hazard identification


• Hazard prevention and control


• Safety and health training


• Recordkeeping and program evaluation


A workplace violence prevention program can also fit effectively into a broader safety and health management system, and 
it can help your facility enhance employee and patient safety, improve the quality of patient care, and promote constructive 
labor-management relations.


Workplace Violence Prevention Resources
• OSHA’s Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers describe the five components of an 


effective workplace violence prevention program, with extensive examples. See www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf.


• Preventing Workplace Violence: A Road Map for Healthcare Facilities expands on OSHA’s guidelines by presenting case studies and 
successful strategies from a variety of healthcare facilities. See www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3827.pdf.


• Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture explains how you can achieve synergies between workplace violence 
prevention, broader safety and health objectives, accreditation, and a “culture of safety.” See www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3828.pdf.


1   Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). 2015. Guidelines for preventing 
workplace violence for healthcare and social service workers. No. 3148-04R. 


2   Findorff, M.J., McGovern, P.M., Wall, M.M., and Gerberich, S.G. 2005. Reporting violence to a 
health care employer: A cross-sectional study. AAOHN Journal. 53(9): 399–406.


3   Gerberich, S.G., Church, T.R., McGovern, P.M., Hansen, H.E., Nachreiner, N.M., Geisser, M.S., 
Ryan, A.D., Mongin, S.J., and Watt, G.D. 2004. An epidemiological study of the magnitude 
and consequence of work related violence: The Minnesota Nurses’ Study. Occupational and 
Environmental Medicine. 61(6):495–503.


4   ASIS International. 2011. Managing Disruptive Behavior and Workplace Violence in Healthcare.


5   American Nurses Association. 2014. American Nurses Association Health Risk Appraisal 
(HRA): Preliminary Findings October 2013–October 2014.


6   Emergency Nurses Association and Institute for Emergency Nursing Research. 2010. 
Emergency Department Violence Surveillance Study.


7   Hodgson, M.J., Reed, R., Craig, T., Murphy, F., Lehmann, L., Belton, L., and Warren, N. 2004. 
Violence in healthcare facilities: Lessons from the Veterans Health Administration. Journal of 
Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 46(11): 1158–1165.


8   Speroni, K.G., Fitch, T., Dawson, E., Dugan, L., and Atherton, M. 2014. Incidence and cost 
of nurse workplace violence perpetrated by hospital patients or patient visitors. Journal of 
Emergency Nursing. 40(3): 218–228.


9   Rogers, A.E., Hwang, W.T., and Scott, L.D. 2004. The effects of work breaks on staff nurse 
performance. Journal of Nursing Administration. 34(11): 512–519.


10   McHugh, M.D., Kutney-Lee, A., Cimiotti, J.P., Sloane, D.M., and Aiken, L.H. 2011. Nurses’ 
widespread job dissatisfaction, burnout, and frustration with health benefits signal 
problems for patient care. Health Affairs. 30(2): 202–210. 


11   Li, Y., and Jones, C.B. 2012. A literature review of nursing turnover costs. Journal of Nursing 
Management. 21(3): 405–418. (Dollar amounts presented here are adjusted to 2013 prices.) 



http://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

www.osha.gov/SLTC/workplaceviolence/index.html

http://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3827.pdf

http://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3828.pdf










CARING FOR OUR CAREGIVERS 


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals


The Big Picture


Workers in hospitals, nursing homes, and other healthcare settings face signif-
icant risks of workplace violence. Leading healthcare organizations have 
shared some of their solutions and shown that one does not need to tackle 


workplace violence in isolation. This document illustrates how a workplace violence 
prevention program can complement and enhance your organization’s strategies for 
compliance, accreditation, and quality of care.


Regulatory Compliance
Federal Requirements
Although OSHA has no specific standard on the prevention of workplace violence, an 
employer has a general duty to “furnish to each of his employees employment and a 
place of employment which are free from recognized hazards that are causing or are likely 
to cause death or serious physical harm to his employees.” This requirement comes 
from Section 5(a)(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSH Act). 


In addition to the federal OSHA program, 26 states, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin 
Islands have OSHA-approved State Plans. Of these State Plans, 22 (21 states and 
Puerto Rico) cover both private and state and local government workplaces. The 
remaining six State Plans (five states and the U.S. Virgin Islands) cover state and local 
government workers only. These state plans must be “at least as effective” as Federal 
OSHA (Section 18(c) of the OSH Act).


Section 11(c) of the OSH Act provides protection for employees who exercise a variety 
of rights guaranteed under the Act, such as filing a safety and health complaint with 
OSHA. In states with approved state plans, employees may file a complaint under the 
OSH Act with both the state and Federal OSHA. More information can be found at 
www.whistleblowers.gov. 


In 2015, OSHA published an update to its Guidelines for Preventing Workplace 
Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers (see “Resources” at the end of 
this publication). These voluntary guidelines provide a compendium of research-based 
strategies to help prevent violent injuries to healthcare workers, and they emphasize 
the value of a comprehensive written workplace violence prevention program.


A workplace violence 


prevention program can 


complement and enhance 


your organization’s 


strategies for compliance, 


accreditation, and quality 


of care.


U.S. Department of Labor


www.osha.gov • (800) 321-OSHA (6742)
OSHA 3828 - 12/2015



http://www.whistleblowers.gov





22 3


State Requirements
As of August 2015, nine states require certain healthcare facilities to have some type of workplace violence prevention program. As these require-
ments are established by state law, they are enforced by the states and not by OSHA.  


In 1993, California became the first state to require healthcare facilities to develop and maintain a violence prevention program. Subsequent state 
laws incorporated elements of the initial California state law. Currently, California is working on updating state requirements.


The requirements in these states differ. State laws in California, Washington, New York, New Jersey, and Connecticut require healthcare employers 
to provide comprehensive workplace violence prevention programs. In New York, the law applies to public workplaces but not to the private 
sector. In the other states, laws are directed toward specific healthcare settings such as acute psychiatric care, long-term and residential care, or 
ambulatory surgical centers. States with workplace violence prevention legislation can be models for other states that are considering their own 
legislation.


Washington State’s efforts to reduce workplace violence in the healthcare industry have led to lower injury rates and workers’ 
compensation costs. From 1997 to 2007, the state’s average annual rate of workers’ compensation claims associated with 
workplace violence in the healthcare and social assistance industry was 75.5 per 10,000 full-time equivalent workers (FTEs). 
From 2007 to 2013, the rate had fallen to 54.5 claims per 10,000 FTEs—a decrease of 28 percent. This improvement 
coincides with Washington’s 2009 rule that required hazard assessments, training, and incident tracking for workplace 
violence.


Source: Foley, M., and Rauser, E. 2012. Evaluating progress in reducing workplace violence: Trends in Washington State workers’ 
compensation claims rates, 1997–2007. Work. 42: 67–81. (Updated data provided by the authors in 2015.)


Maine (Sec. 1. 22 MRSA §1832)
Who is covered: Hospitals
Penalties for perpetrators: No
Maine’s law requires a safety and security plan 
to be implemented annually, and hospitals must 
have a process to receive and record incidents or 
threats of violent behavior.


California (State Health and Safety Code and SB-1299)
Who is covered: General acute care, acute psychiatric, and certain other types of hospitals
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
California’s law requires a designated committee to develop a safety plan, which must be updated based 
on findings from an annual facility assessment. This plan should take into account physical layout, staffing, 
security personnel, policy and training related to appropriate responses, and coordination with local law 
enforcement. Facilities must track incidents of violent behavior and evaluate trends. Affected employees and 
collective bargaining agents must be engaged in worksite analysis. Safety and health training is required.


Connecticut (Public Act No. 11-175)
Who is covered: Hospitals, long-term and residential care, behavioral 
health, outpatient and ambulatory care, home care, and other 
facilities with 50 or more full- or part-time employees
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
Connecticut’s law requires a workplace safety committee with equal 
representation among management and employees. The committee 
must meet quarterly, conduct an annual risk assessment, and 
implement a violence prevention plan. An employee has the right to 
request accompaniment when caring for a patient who previously 
assaulted them, or they may ask to be reassigned. Employers must 
keep detailed incident records and must report assaults to authorities 
within 24 hours (with some exceptions).


Washington (Title 49, Chapter 49.19)
Who is covered: Hospitals, home health, hospice, home care agencies, 
community mental health programs, and evaluation and treatment facilities
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
Washington’s law requires facilities to perform a hazard assessment and 
record review, then develop a violence prevention plan. Training must 
be provided regularly to all affected employees identified in the violence 
prevention plan, and it must occur within 90 days of an employee’s start 
date. Records must be available for incidents occurring during the last five 
years.


Oregon (2013 ORS, Vol. 14, Chapter 654)
Who is covered: Hospitals, ambulatory surgical centers, and home 
healthcare services
Penalties for perpetrators: No
Oregon’s law requires periodic hazard assessments and record 
reviews, which must feed into a violence prevention plan. The 
plan must take into account the physical attributes of the facility, 
staffing, personnel policies, first-aid and emergency procedures, 
reporting of violent acts, and employee education and training. 
Employees have the right not to treat a patient who has assaulted 
them if the employer denies the employee’s request to have a 
second employee present. An employee in home healthcare may 
refuse to treat a patient unless the employer provides the employee 
with a two-way communication device. Training must occur within 
90 days of an employee’s start date and is provided as needed 
thereafter. Records must be kept for five years. 


Maryland (Senate Bill 483)
Who is covered: Hospitals, state residential facilities, and nursing homes licensed for 45 beds or more
Penalties for perpetrators: No
Maryland’s law requires each facility to conduct an annual assessment and have a workplace safety committee. Hospitals and state residential 
facilities’ committees must have equal representation among management and employees, their employees must receive regular training, and 
they must have a system for reporting, responding to, and tracking incidents.


New Jersey (P.L. 2007, Chapter 236)
Who is covered: Hospitals and nursing homes
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
New Jersey’s law requires a violence prevention committee to conduct an annual risk assessment 
and develop a violence prevention plan. At least half of the committee must be direct caregivers. 
The assessment must consider the facility’s layout, crime rate in surrounding areas, lighting in 
surrounding areas, communication and alarm devices, and staffing; it must include a records 
review and a review of existing policies. The plan must specify risk reduction strategies and must 
establish a post-incident response system. Employees must receive annual training in identifying 
precipitating factors of violence and appropriate responses. Records of violent events must be 
kept for five years. 


New York (Labor Law Article 2)
Who is covered: Public facilities with at least 20 full-time 
permanent employees, including state-run healthcare and 
social service facilities 
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
New York’s law requires a risk assessment of the 
workplace, which includes consideration of hazards such 
as working late, working alone, and exchanging money. 
Each facility must have a violence prevention plan that 
addresses the identified hazards. Employees are required 
to complete training at the start of employment and 
annually thereafter. Each facility must have a system for 
reporting incidents. Strong requirements for employee 
involvement have served as a model for other states’ laws.


Illinois (405 ILCS 90/)
Who is covered: Mental health and developmental disability 
facilities
Penalties for perpetrators: Yes
Illinois’ law requires a violence prevention plan to be 
implemented based on findings from a risk assessment and 
record review. The plan must be reviewed at least once every 
three years and must take into account the facility’s physical 
layout, personnel policies, first-aid and emergency procedures, 
reporting of violent acts, and employee education and training. 
All affected employees must be trained within 90 days of their 
start date, and they must receive periodic refresher training. The 
facility must keep records of workplace violence incidents.


Sources: 


• Penalties for perpetrators are based on a review of two sources as of August 2015:
o   American Nurses Association. Workplace violence. http://nursingworld.org/workplaceviolence.


o   Emergency Nurses Association. 50 state survey: Criminal laws protecting health professionals. https://www.ena.org/government/State/Documents/StateLawsWorkplaceViolenceSheet.pdf.


  States are labeled “Yes” if their laws explicitly impose penalties for assaulting a healthcare worker. Oregon is listed as “No” because its law is limited to emergency medical service workers. 
Altogether, more than 30 states provide some type of penalty for assaulting a healthcare worker.


• Other information is based on a review of state laws and regulations.



http://nursingworld.org/workplaceviolence

https://www.ena.org/government/State/Documents/StateLawsWorkplaceViolenceSheet.pdf

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/bills_125th/chapters/PUBLIC254.asp

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/93-94/bill/asm/ab_0501-0550/ab_508_bill_931008_chaptered

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140SB1299

http://www.cga.ct.gov/2011/ACT/PA/2011PA-00175-R00SB-00970-PA.htm

http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=49.19

http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/654.412

http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/2014RS/bills/sb/sb0483t.pdf

ftp://www.njleg.state.nj.us/20062007/PL07/236_.PDF

http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=2719&ChapterID=34





4


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


Accreditation
Many healthcare organizations pursue accreditation by an independent 
accreditation body, The Joint Commission being the largest. While The Joint 
Commission’s healthcare standards and accreditation process have long focused 
on protecting patient safety, many of the standards and management systems 
designed to ensure patient safety can also be adapted and applied to worker 
safety. In addition, efforts to improve worker safety often have the result of 
improving patient care. Joint Commission–accredited healthcare organizations 
often already have building blocks in place to reduce workplace violence and 
other worker safety risks. 


The Joint Commission’s accreditation manual has several standards related to 
workplace violence, spread across four chapters of the manual.1 The manual 
lists the accreditation requirements specific to workplace violence in different 
healthcare organizations, including hospitals, doctors’ offices, nursing homes, 
office-based surgery centers, behavioral health treatment facilities, and providers 
of home care services. Particularly relevant standards include:


• Environment of Care (EC)


• Emergency Management (EM)


• Leadership (LD)


• Performance Improvement (PI)


For example, developing a strong safety culture, addressed in Joint Commission 
Standard LD.03.01.01 for hospitals (“Leaders create and maintain a culture 
of safety and quality throughout the hospital”), is a key aspect of ensuring 
both worker and patient safety.2 A strong safety culture includes managing 
and mitigating the risk of harm as reflected in Standard EC.02.01.01 (“The 
hospital manages safety and security risks”). It also includes empowering 
staff to report incidents without fear of reprisal, which is included in Standard 
LD.04.04.05 (“The hospital has an organization wide, integrated patient safety 
program within its performance improvement activities”). Reporting enables 
healthcare organizations to track and analyze incidents to inform both proactive 
and reactive risk reduction. Standard EM.02.02.05, EP 3 (“The Emergency 
Operations Plan describes how the hospital will coordinate security activities 
with community security agencies [for example, police, sheriff, National Guard]”) 
provides another connection, as it requires preparation for emergencies such as 
an active shooter situation. Although these three examples come from The Joint 
Commission’s hospital standards, safety expectations are also in place for other 
settings such as long-term care, ambulatory care, behavioral health, and home 
care.3


“The organizational culture, 


principles, methods, and 


tools for creating safety are 


the same, regardless of the 


population whose safety is 


the focus.”
 
–  The Joint Commission. 


Improving Patient and Worker 
Safety: Opportunities for 
Synergy, Collaboration and 
Innovation.


1  Joint Commission. 2015. 2015 Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Hospitals (CAMH). 2015. Oakbrook, IL: Joint Com-
mission Resources.


2  Joint Commission. 2015. 2015 Comprehensive Accreditation Manual for Hospitals (CAMH). 2015. Oakbrook, IL: Joint Com-
mission Resources.


3  Standards reprinted here with The Joint Commission’s permission.







5


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


The Joint Commission’s Improving Patient and Worker Safety: Opportunity for Synergy, Collaboration and Innovation4 high-
lights additional synergies between patient and worker health and safety activities. To successfully integrate patient and 
worker safety, the document recommends:


• Encouraging leaders to make patient and worker safety core organizational values.


• Identifying opportunities to integrate patient and worker safety activities across departments and programs.


• Understanding and measuring performance on safety-related issues.


• Implementing and maintaining successful worker and patient safety improvements.


The Joint Commission shares recommendations, policies, procedures, and other information to help facilities prevent work-
place violence. For example, it adopted a formal Sentinel Event Policy in 1996 to help hospitals that experience serious events 
learn from those events and implement actions to prevent future events.5 A sentinel event is a patient safety event that results 
in any of the following: death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm and intervention required to sustain life. In 2014, 
The Joint Commission added to its list of events considered sentinel: rape, assault (leading to death, permanent harm, or 
severe temporary harm), or homicide of a staff member, licensed independent practitioner, visitor, or vendor while on site at 
the hospital.6 Reporting a sentinel event to The Joint Commission is optional, but it can provide crucial data to help The Joint 
Commission and others identify causes, track trends, extract lessons learned, and ultimately contribute to better prevention 
strategies. The Joint Commission’s sentinel event data collection and analysis processes protect the confidentiality of the 
patient, the caregiver, and the hospital.


A comparison between broader safety and health management system elements and the elements of performance found in 
related Joint Commission standards can be found in OSHA’s Safety and Health Management Systems and Joint Commission 
Standards.7


OSHA and The Joint Commission have established an alliance to provide healthcare workers and others in the healthcare 
industry with information, guidance, and access to training resources to help protect employees’ health and safety. Free 
resources, including many articles, are available at www.jcrinc.com/about-jcr/osha-alliance-resources. 


Similar connections between accreditation and worker safety can be found in standards from other accrediting organizations, 
such as the Healthcare Quality Association on Accreditation (HQAA), Accreditation Association for Ambulatory Health Care 
(AAAHC), Accreditation Commission for Health Care (ACHC), and Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities 
(CARF). For example, CARF accredits programs primarily in the areas of aging, behavioral health, substance abuse treatment, 
and child and youth services. Its Standard 1.H.13 refers to “comprehensive health and safety inspections” conducted by 
the external authorities, including OSHA. The standard requires a healthcare facility to submit a written report to CARF that 
identifies health and/or safety areas inspected, issues that were discovered during the inspection, and an action plan for 
improvement. The 2015 CARF-CCAC Standards Manual is available for download at bit.ly/1JBpOXD.


4  Joint Commission. 2012. Improving Patient and Worker Safety: Opportunities for Synergy, Collaboration and Innovation. 
www.jointcommission.org/improving_Patient_Worker_Safety.


5  Joint Commission. 2014. Sentinel event policy and procedures. www.jointcommission.org/Sentinel_Event_Policy_and_Procedures/default.aspx.


6  Reprinted here with The Joint Commission’s permission.


7  OSHA. 2013. Safety and Health Management Systems and Joint Commission Standards. www.osha.gov/dsg/hospitals/documents/2.2_SHMS-JCAHO_comparison_508.pdf. 



http://www.jcrinc.com/about-jcr/osha-alliance-resources/

http://bit.ly/1JBpOXD

http://www.jointcommission.org/improving_Patient_Worker_Safety

http://www.jointcommission.org/Sentinel_Event_Policy_and_Procedures/default.aspx

http://www.osha.gov/dsg/hospitals/documents/2.2_SHMS-JCAHO_comparison_508.pdf





6


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


Patient Safety
Increasingly, healthcare facilities are integrating their patient safety and worker 
safety programs and managing them together using a common framework. 
Doing so makes sense, because many of the risk factors that affect patient safety 
also affect workers. For instance, a violent confrontation or intervention can 
result in injuries to both workers and patients, and caregiver fatigue, injury, and 
stress are tied to a higher risk of medication errors and patient infections.8


In addition, the tools used to monitor, manage, and improve patient safety have 
proven equally effective when applied to worker safety. For example, if your 
facility is Joint Commission accredited, you may be able to adapt existing compli-
ance monitoring tools and infrastructure to address occupational safety. Several 
hospitals use their “environment of care” rounds to monitor for conditions that 
could affect either patient or worker safety.


Strategies to improve patient safety and worker safety can go hand-in-hand—
particularly those that involve nonviolent de-escalation and alternatives such 
as sensory therapy. The nationwide movement toward reducing the use of 
restraints (physical and medication) and seclusion in behavioral health—which is 
mandated in some states—along with the movement toward “trauma-informed 
care,” means that workers are relying more on approaches that result in less 
physical contact with patients, intervening with de-escalation strategies before 
an incident turns into a physical assault, preventing self-harm by patients, and 
ultimately equipping patients with coping strategies that can help them for life. 
The results can be a “win-win” for patient and worker safety.


A Culture of Safety
An organization’s culture is the product of individual and group beliefs, values, 
attitudes, perceptions, competencies, and patterns of behavior that determine 
the organization’s commitment to objectives such as quality and safety. Many 
leading healthcare organizations are reducing injuries to both patients and 
workers by fostering a “culture of safety” characterized by an atmosphere of 
mutual trust, shared perceptions of the importance of safety, confidence in the 
efficacy of preventive measures, and a no-blame environment. Typical attributes 
of a culture of safety include:


• Staff and leaders who value transparency, accountability, and mutual respect


• Safety as everyone’s first priority


• Not accepting behaviors that undermine the culture of safety


• A focus on finding hazardous conditions or “close calls” at early stages before 
injuries occur


• An emphasis on reporting errors and learning from mistakes


• Careful language to facilitate conversation and communicate concerns


“Workplace safety is inextricably 
linked to patient safety. Unless 
caregivers are given the 
protection, respect, and support 
they need, they are more likely 
to make errors, fail to follow safe 
practices, and not work well in 
teams.” 


—National Patient Safety 
Foundation, Lucian Leape Institute. 
Through the Eyes of the Workforce: 


Creating Joy, Meaning, and Safer 
Health Care 


“Safety is safety. We don’t 
differentiate between patient 
and associate safety. We practice 
and encourage safety behaviors 
for both patients and associates. 
The behaviors we promote are 
exactly the same.”


—Kate Henderson, Vice President 
and Chief Operating Officer, UMC 


Brackenridge


“Where some hospitals 
would limit their approach to 
medication, we use a more 
holistic approach. We work with 
patients as individuals, to find 
out what has a calming effect 
on them, and help them put that 
into practice. The result can be a 
positive change that lasts the rest 
of their lives.”


—Cindy Chaplin, RN, BSN, Nurse 
Educator, Massachusetts Nurses 


Association Local Unit Chairperson, 
Workplace Violence Task Force Co-


Chair, Providence Behavioral Health 
Hospital (Holyoke, Massachusetts) 


8 Rogers, A.E., Hwang, W.T., and Scott, L.D. 2004. The effects of work breaks on staff nurse performance. Journal of Nursing 
Administration. 34(11): 512–519.







7


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


Many healthcare organizations have strengthened their cultures of safety by 
embracing two sets of principles:


• High reliability organization (HRO) principles arose from air traffic control, 
nuclear power, and other industries characterized by complex systems with 
innate risks that must be managed effectively to avoid catastrophe. The Joint 
Commission has endorsed the use of similar principles to transform healthcare 
into a high reliability industry.9 The Joint Commission promotes an environment 
of “collective mindfulness” in which employees look for and report small 
problems or unsafe conditions before they pose a substantial risk, and when 
they are easy to fix. The identification and careful analysis of errors can reveal 
weaknesses in protocols or procedures that can be remedied to reduce the risk 
of future failures.


• “Just Culture” involves creating an atmosphere of trust, encouraging and 
rewarding people for providing information on how errors occurred, so the 
sources of error can be analyzed. This can result in changes that improve safety. 
As Lucian Leape, MD, explains: “Approaches that focus on punishing individuals 
instead of changing systems provide strong incentives for people to report only 
those errors they cannot hide. Thus, a punitive approach shuts off the informa-
tion that is needed to identify faulty systems and create safer ones. In a punitive 
system, no one learns from their mistakes.”10 


In hospitals and other healthcare organizations, HRO and “Just Culture” can 
benefit both patients and workers, with the goal of improving safety for all. 


High Reliability 
Organizations: Five 
Operational Processes
Sensitivity to operations: 
Workers in HROs are mindful 
of procedures and interactions 
between team members. This 
heightened situational aware-
ness sensitizes them to minor 
deviations and enables them to 
respond appropriately. 


Reluctance to simplify:  
When outcomes deviate from 
established plans, HROs question 
conventional explanations for 
why things went wrong and 
explore the entire potential scope 
of the problem.


Preoccupation with failure:  
No matter how enviable their 
track records, HROs never let 
success breed complacency. They 
focus unceasingly on ways the 
system can fail, and encourage 
staff to always listen to their 
“inner voice of concern” and 
share it with others.


Deference to expertise: Team 
members and organizational 
leaders in HROs defer to the 
person with the most knowledge 
relevant to the issue they are 
confronting. This may involve 
deviating from the traditional 
physician, nurse, and technician 
hierarchy.


Resilience: HROs acknowledge 
that, despite considerable 
safeguards, errors will sometimes 
occur. By anticipating and plan-
ning for such situations, they can 
contain and minimize the adverse 
consequences.


Example: “Tapping Out”
Sometimes a healthcare worker finds him- or herself in a verbal power 
struggle with an agitated patient, or finds that he or she is getting 
frustrated and not making progress. At Providence Behavioral Health 
Hospital in Holyoke, Massachusetts, other colleagues are encouraged 
to recognize this type of situation and “tap in” by telling the first worker 
something like “You have a phone call—and it’s your supervisor.” Some-
times all it takes is a new face to get a patient to calm down, and the 
emphasis on caring language allows the first worker to exit the situation 
gracefully. This type of focus on collaboration and respectful language is 
a hallmark of a “culture of safety.”


9 See, for example, www.jointcommission.org/highreliability.aspx. 


10 Leape, L. 2000. Testimony, United States Congress, United States Senate Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services, 
and Education. January 25, 2000.



http://www.jointcommission.org/highreliability.aspx





8


Example: “Culture of Safety” at Ascension Health
Ascension Health is the nation’s largest Catholic and not-for-profit health system, with more than 150,000 employees 
(associates) at 1,900 locations, including more than 100 hospitals. Although all of these hospitals have dedicated safety 
professionals available, they cannot be everywhere at all times, nor can they expect to be experts in all the operations of a 
modern hospital. Recognizing this, several Ascension hospitals have adopted HRO principles to provide all associates with 
tools, resources, authority, and accountability that make it possible for everyone to integrate associate safety into their daily 
activities, just like they do for patient safety.


Key components of Ascension’s program include:


• Empowering associates


• Making safety routine and visible


• Training


• Management visibility and commitment


For example, University Medical Center Brackenridge (UMC Brackenridge) in Austin, Texas, provides high reliability 
safety training to 100 percent of staff and on-site contractors. Safety coaches throughout the hospital receive additional 
training. Training tools include videos, staff testimonials, and role-playing in an on-site simulation laboratory.


At St. Vincent’s Medical Center in Bridgeport, Connecticut, each day begins with a “safety huddle” led by a senior exec-
utive. Representatives from all departments, including both clinical and non-clinical services, are required to attend. Together 
they review any patient or associate safety events or concerns, recognize “good catches” (near-misses), and share updates 
on the status of safety-related projects or initiatives. These daily exchanges, fostered in an open, no-blame environment, help 
create an atmosphere of trust and cooperation. Several other Ascension hospitals use a similar approach. 


Any UMC Brackenridge associate who makes a 
“good catch” receives a thank-you note from 
the leadership team.


Ascension Health’s hospitals teach associates to intervene 
in situations using the “language of care.” For example, 
any associate can stop the process by saying “I have a 
concern”—akin to the idea that any employee in a factory 
can stop the assembly line if he or she sees something wrong. 
Other examples:


• It’s not a “near-miss”; it’s a “good catch.”


• With patients, “We’re doing [x] for your safety.”


Additionally, nurses—or even pastoral care staff—may take 
the lead in responding to certain security events, in partner-
ship with security staff, so as to keep the focus on caring for 
the patient.


To remove barriers to reporting, Ascension Health has 
adopted computer-based reporting systems that emphasize 
reporting of “good catches” to provide opportunities to 
proactively reduce hazards. An associate who reports a 
concern will likely be engaged in follow-up discussion, root 
cause analysis, and response. Saint Agnes Hospital in 
Baltimore, Maryland, increased reporting by 75 percent using 
this approach. At UMC Brackenridge, senior administrators 
show their appreciation by writing a thank-you note to any 
associate who makes a “good catch.” 







9


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


Safety and Health Management Systems:  
A Comprehensive Approach
A workplace violence prevention program can fit effectively within a broader safety and health management system, also 
known as an injury and illness prevention program. Under this type of program, employers and employees continually monitor 
the workplace for hazards and then cooperate to find and implement solutions. All of this happens within a Plan-Do-Study-
Act management system framework that should be familiar to healthcare administrators. A comprehensive safety and health 
management system can effectively manage a wide range of worker safety risks in healthcare, including workplace violence; 
patient handling (e.g., lifting); bloodborne pathogens; slips, trips, and falls; and more. This approach can go hand-in-hand with 
HRO principles and practices.


Almost all successful safety and health management systems include six core elements that are very similar to the elements of 
a workplace violence prevention program:


Safety and Health 
Management 
System Element


Overview
Workplace Violence 
Prevention Program 
Element


Management leadership Managers demonstrate their commitment to improved safety and 
health, communicate this commitment, and document safety and 
health performance. They make safety and health a top priority, es-
tablish goals and objectives, provide adequate resources and support, 
and set a good example. Management commitment 


and worker participation
Employee participation Employees, with their distinct knowledge of the workplace, ideally 


are involved in all aspects of the program. They are encouraged to 
communicate openly with management and report safety and health 
concerns.


Hazard identification and 
assessment


Processes and procedures are in place to continually identify work-
place hazards and evaluate risks. There is an initial assessment of 
hazards and controls and regular reassessments.


Worksite analysis and 
hazard identification


Hazard prevention and 
control


Processes, procedures, and programs are implemented to eliminate or 
control workplace hazards and achieve safety and health goals and 
objectives. Progress in implementing controls is tracked.


Hazard prevention and 
control


Education and training All employees have education or training on hazard recognition and 
control and their responsibilities under the program.


Safety and health training


System evaluation and 
improvement


Processes are established to monitor the system’s performance, 
verify its implementation, identify deficiencies and opportunities for 
improvement, and take actions needed to improve the system and 
overall safety and health performance.


Recordkeeping and 
program evaluation


OSHA’s Voluntary Protection Programs (VPP) recognize employers who have achieved excellence in occupational safety and 
health through adoption of a safety and health management system. Visit www.osha.gov/dcsp/vpp to learn more.



http://www.osha.gov/dcsp/vpp





10


Workplace Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture


Example: Integrating Workplace Violence into a Comprehensive Safety and 
Health Management System
Citizens Memorial Hospital/Citizens Memorial Health Care Foundation (CMH) operates six skilled nursing 
homes, a hospital, and several other healthcare services in southwest Missouri. Nursing homes can pose risks for work-
place violence, particularly when caring for patients with Alzheimer’s disease and/or other forms of dementia, which 
can lead to confusion and combativeness. Other significant safety challenges at nursing homes include patient lifting. 
CMH began to address these issues in 1997 by setting up comprehensive safety and health management systems to 
drive continual improvement. All six nursing homes became VPP Star worksites and have maintained this recognition 
ever since. 


Each of CMH’s nursing homes has an employee-based safety committee that meets monthly, conducts monthly inspec-
tions, and reviews incidents. Administrators and managers (including the CEO) go on frequent rounds to build relation-
ships with front-line staff and learn about their concerns, and they encourage employees to report all incidents and 
near-misses using an electronic system. All staff take a personal safety training course, and workers in the Alzheimer’s 
and dementia special care units and certain other employees take nonviolent crisis intervention training with periodic 
refreshers. As a result of these efforts, CMH has kept its injury rates consistently below the national average, which is 
a requirement to maintain VPP Star status. It has also achieved a turnover rate well below the national average in its 
skilled nursing facilities.11


“Keeping our employees and patients safe is at the core of who we are and what we do 
at CMH. Focusing on safety means our employees are prepared for the unexpected and 
our patients receive the high quality care they deserve.” 


—Donald J. Babb, CEO/Executive Director, Citizens Memorial Health Care Foundation 


Resources
• OSHA: Worker Safety in Hospitals (www.osha.gov/dsg/hospitals)—a suite of informational products and tools to help 


hospitals assess workplace safety needs, implement safety and health management systems, implement workplace violence 
prevention programs, and enhance their safe patient handling programs. In particular, see Preventing Workplace Violence: 
A Road Map for Healthcare Facilities for a detailed discussion of the core elements of a workplace violence prevention 
program.


• OSHA: Workplace Violence (www.osha.gov/SLTC/workplaceviolence)—resources related to workplace violence, including 
OSHA’s Guidelines for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers.


• The Joint Commission: Improving Patient and Worker Safety: Opportunities for Synergy, Collaboration and Innovation 
(www.jointcommission.org/improving_Patient_Worker_Safety).


• The Joint Commission: Patient Safety Systems (www.jointcommission.org/patient_safety_systems_chapter_for_the_
hospital_program).


• The Joint Commission: Quick Safety, Issue 5, “Preventing Violent and Criminal Events” (www.jointcommission.org/
assets/1/23/Quick_Safety_Issue_Five_Aug_2014_FINAL.pdf).


• OSHA: Injury and Illness Prevention Programs (www.osha.gov/dsg/topics/safetyhealth).


This document is advisory in nature and informational in content. It is not a standard or regulation, and it neither creates new legal obligations nor alters 
existing obligations created by OSHA standards or the Occupational Safety and Health Act.


11  According to the national average for 2012 from the American Health Care Association’s Skilled Nursing Staffing Survey:  
www.ahcancal.org/research_data/staffing/Documents/2012_Staffing_Report.pdf.



http://www.osha.gov/dsg/hospitals

www.jointcommission.org/patient_safety_systems_chapter_for_the_hospital_program

www.jointcommission.org/patient_safety_systems_chapter_for_the_hospital_program

http://www.ahcancal.org/research_data/staffing/Documents/2012_Staffing_Report.pdf



		The Big Picture

		Regulatory Compliance

		Federal Requirements

		State Requirements



		Accreditation

		Patient Safety

		A Culture of Safety

		Safety and Health Management Systems: A Comprehensive Approach

		Resources






Caring for Our Caregivers 


Preventing Workplace Violence: 
A Road Map for Healthcare Facilities


December 2015


U.S. Department of Labor


www.osha.gov • (800) 321-OSHA (6742)
OSHA 3827



http://www.osha.gov





Contents


1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................1
Workplace Violence Prevention: A Pervasive Challenge .................................................................................................1


About This Road Map ..................................................................................................................................................1


2. Comprehensive Workplace Violence Prevention Programs: An Overview .........................3


3. Getting Started ..................................................................................................................4
Examples.....................................................................................................................................................................5


4. Management Commitment and Employee Participation...................................................7
Examples.....................................................................................................................................................................8


Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................10


5. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification ...................................................................11
Risk Factors for Workplace Violence in Healthcare ......................................................................................................11


Reviewing Records, Procedures, and Employee Input ..................................................................................................11


Patient Input .............................................................................................................................................................11


Walkthrough Assessment ...........................................................................................................................................12


Examples...................................................................................................................................................................12


Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................14


6. Hazard Prevention and Control .......................................................................................16
Examples...................................................................................................................................................................18


Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................24


7. Safety and Health Training ..............................................................................................25
Objectives and Topics ................................................................................................................................................25


Who Gets Trained ......................................................................................................................................................26 


Format and Frequency ...............................................................................................................................................27


Evaluating and Improving Training Programs ..............................................................................................................27


Active Shooter Preparedness ......................................................................................................................................28


Examples...................................................................................................................................................................29


Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................32


8. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation .........................................................................34
Reporting ..................................................................................................................................................................34


Recordkeeping ..........................................................................................................................................................34


Program Evaluation ...................................................................................................................................................35


Examples...................................................................................................................................................................37


Resources ..................................................................................................................................................................38


9. General Resources ............................................................................................................................................40


This document is advisory in nature and informational in content. It is not a standard or regulation, and it neither creates new 
legal obligations nor alters existing obligations created by OSHA standards or the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970.







1 


1. Introduction


Workplace Violence Prevention:  
A Pervasive Challenge
Workers in hospitals, nursing homes, and other healthcare 
settings face significant risks of workplace violence, which 
can refer to any physical or verbal assault toward a person 
in a work environment. Violence in healthcare facilities takes 
many forms and has different origins, such as verbal threats 
or physical attacks by patients, gang violence in an emer-
gency department (ED), a distraught family member who may 
be abusive or even becomes an active shooter, a domestic 
dispute that spills over into the workplace, coworker bullying, 
and much more. The healthcare industry has many unique 
factors that increase the risk of violence, such as working di-
rectly with people who have a history of violence or who may 
be delirious or under the influence of drugs. In some cases, 
employees or patients might perceive that violence is toler-
ated as “part of the job,” which can perpetuate the problem.


Statistics collected by the Bureau of Labor Statistics show the 
magnitude of the problem:


• From 2011 to 2013, U.S. healthcare workers suffered 
15,000 to 20,000 workplace-violence-related injuries ev-
ery year that required time away from work for treatment 
and recovery (i.e., serious injuries). Healthcare accounts for 
nearly as many injuries as all other industries combined.1 


• Violence is a more common source of injury in healthcare 
than in other industries. From 2011 to 2013, assaults 
constituted 10–11 percent of serious workplace injuries 
in healthcare, compared with 3 percent among the private 
sector as a whole.2 


• Healthcare and social assistance workers experienced 7.8 
cases of serious workplace violence injuries per 10,000 
full-time equivalents (FTEs) in 2013. Other large sectors 
such as construction, manufacturing, and retail all had 
fewer than two cases per 10,000 FTEs.3 


These statistics do not include the many additional assaults 
and threats that do not lead to time away from work. Studies 
also show that violence in healthcare workplaces is under-


reported; thus, the problem is considerably larger than the 
official statistics suggest.


Workplace violence comes with a high cost. First and fore-
most, it harms workers—often both physically and emotion-
ally—and makes it more difficult for them to do their jobs. 
Employers also bear several costs. A single serious injury can 
lead to workers’ compensation losses of thousands of dollars, 
along with thousands of dollars in additional costs for over-
time, temporary staffing, or recruiting and training a replace-
ment. Even if a worker does not have to miss work, violence 
can still lead to “hidden costs” such as higher turnover and 
deterioration of productivity and morale.


Despite the complex nature of the problem, many proven 
solutions exist. These solutions work best when coordinated 
through a comprehensive workplace violence prevention 
program.


About This Road Map
OSHA has developed this resource to assist healthcare 
employers and employees interested in establishing a 
workplace violence prevention program or strengthening 
an existing program. This road map is related to another 


Defining Workplace Violence


Organizations have defined workplace violence in vari-
ous ways. The National Institute for Occupational Safety 
and Health defines workplace violence as “violent acts, 
including physical assaults and threats of assault, di-
rected toward persons at work or on duty.” Enforcement 
activities typically focus on physical assaults or threats 
that result or can result in serious physical harm. Howev-
er, many people who study this issue and the workplace 
prevention programs highlighted here include verbal 
violence—threats, verbal abuse, hostility, harassment, 
and the like—which can cause significant psychological 
trauma and stress, even if no physical injury takes place. 
Verbal assaults can also escalate to physical violence.


1   Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics data for 2011–2013, covering injuries that required days away from work. These statistics are restricted 
to private industry to allow for proper comparison. “Healthcare” data cover three large industry segments: NAICS 621, “Ambulatory 
Health Care Services”; 622, “Hospitals”; and 623, “Nursing and Residential Care Facilities.” 


2 Ibid.
3  Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics data for 2013, covering injuries that required days away from work. These statistics are restricted to 


private industry to allow for proper comparison. They are also restricted to intentional injuries caused by humans, excluding self-inflicted 
injuries. These data cover the large industry group known as NAICS 62, “Health Care and Social Assistance.” 







2 


OSHA publication called Guidelines for Prevention of 
Violence in Healthcare—available at www.osha.gov/SLTC/
workplaceviolence—which introduces the five building 
blocks and offers recommendations on developing effective 
policies and procedures. Like the guidelines, this road map 
describes the five core components of a workplace violence 
prevention program. In addition, this road map is intended 
to complement OSHA’s guidelines by providing real-world 
examples of how healthcare facilities have put workplace 
violence policies and procedures into practice.


Examples have been drawn from about a dozen healthcare 
organizations nationwide, representing a range of facility 
types, sizes, geographic settings, and approaches to 
addressing workplace violence. Facilities profiled here 


include several privately run acute care hospitals, private and 
state-run behavioral health facilities, and a group of nursing 
homes. These facilities have agreed to share their successful 
models, tools, and “lessons learned” to help inform and 
inspire others. 


OSHA obtained some of the examples in this road map from 
published sources, but obtained most of the information from 
the facilities themselves through site visits, meetings, and 
interviews. OSHA appreciates the time and knowledge the 
facilities shared. In deciding what information to use, OSHA 
highlighted selected components of each facility’s program. 
All facilities acknowledged that their violence prevention 
programs were “in progress” and that “continuous improve-
ment” is an important goal.



https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

http://www.osha.gov/SLTC/workplaceviolence

http://www.osha.gov/SLTC/workplaceviolence





3 


2.  Comprehensive Workplace Violence Prevention Programs: 
An Overview


Although OSHA has no standard specific to the prevention 
of workplace violence, employers have a general duty to 
“furnish to each of his employees employment and a place of 
employment which are free from recognized hazards that are 
causing or are likely to cause death or serious physical harm 
to his employees.” This requirement comes from Section 5(a)
(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Act of 1970 
and is known as the General Duty Clause. 


OSHA has determined that the best way to reduce violence 
in the workplace is through a comprehensive workplace 
violence prevention program that covers five core elements or 
“building blocks”: 


• Management commitment and employee partici-
pation. Managers demonstrate their commitment to 
workplace violence prevention, communicate this commit-
ment, and document performance. They make workplace 
violence prevention a priority, establish goals and objec-
tives, provide adequate resources and support, appoint 
leaders with the authority and knowledge to facilitate 
change, and set a good example. Employees, with their 
distinct knowledge of the workplace, ideally are involved 
in all aspects of the program. They are encouraged to 
communicate openly with management and report their 
concerns without fear of reprisal.


• Worksite analysis and hazard identification. Pro-
cesses and procedures are in place to continually identify 
workplace hazards and evaluate risks. There is an initial 
assessment of hazards and controls, regular reassessments, 
and formal re-evaluations after incidents, through accident 
review boards or after-action reviews.


• Hazard prevention and control. Processes, proce-
dures, and programs are implemented to eliminate or 
control workplace hazards and achieve workplace violence 


prevention goals and objectives. Progress in implementing 
controls is tracked.


• Safety and health training. All employees have educa-
tion or training on hazard recognition and control, and on 
their responsibilities under the program, including what to 
do in an emergency.


• Recordkeeping and program evaluation. Accurate 
records of injuries, illnesses, incidents, assaults, hazards, 
corrective actions, patient histories, and training can help 
employers determine the severity of the problem, identify 
trends or patterns, evaluate methods of hazard control, 
identify training needs, and develop solutions for an effec-
tive program. Programs are evaluated regularly to identify 
deficiencies and opportunities for improvement.


The core elements are all interrelated, and each is neces-
sary to the success of the overall system. When integrated 
into a comprehensive workplace violence prevention pro-
gram, particularly a written program, these elements offer a 
systematic approach—used by employers and employees, 
working together—to find and correct workplace hazards 
before injuries occur and on an ongoing basis. These compo-
nents also align with the core elements of a safety and health 
management system (also known as an injury and illness 
prevention program, or I2P2), which can provide an overarch-
ing framework for planning, implementing, evaluating, and 
improving all workplace safety and health management ef-
forts—for example, programs addressing violence prevention, 
bloodborne pathogens, and patient handling.


To learn more about connections and synergies between 
workplace violence prevention, safety and health 
management systems, and patient safety, see Workplace 
Violence Prevention and Related Goals: The Big Picture at 
www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3828.pdf.



http://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3828.pdf





4 


3. Getting Started


Some healthcare organizations have begun to take serious 
action on workplace violence after an “eye-opening” inci-
dent—e.g., a shooting or a hostage situation—or after car-
ing for a particularly challenging patient. Others have taken 
action after learning about incidents elsewhere in the news, 
or perhaps simply as a result of gaining a greater awareness 
of the problem. Whether an organization’s decision to create 
or strengthen its workplace violence prevention program is 
more reactive or proactive, it can be difficult to know where 
to start in crafting a strategy that affects so many aspects of 
an organization, from the physical environment to policies, 
procedures, and management priorities. 


Developing a workplace violence prevention program typi-
cally begins by convening a planning group or task force to 
tackle the issue. Alternatively, an organization may charge an 
existing safety and health committee with addressing work-
place violence. No matter the starting point, management 
needs to ensure that whoever is leading the initiative has the 
authority and knowledge to convene the group and require 
participation, facilitate the necessary changes to policies and 
procedures, and ensure that adequate resources are avail-
able and committed for building and sustaining an effective 
program. 


The composition and commitment of the committee or task 
force are key factors in its success or failure. Management 
must be committed to creating an effective program. Staff 


from all affected areas should be included to bring important 
knowledge and perspectives to the planning process. In addi-
tion, involving them from the outset can ensure buy-in when 
the plan is enacted. If the workforce is unionized, labor/
management discussions can provide an important forum for 
voicing employees’ concerns, making collaborative decisions, 
and bringing significant expertise and resources to the table. 
Patient advocates and other stakeholders can also provide 
valuable input.


Once the group is convened, the development process 
typically requires the collection of baseline data and other in-
formation to identify issues and inform decisions. Employees’ 
opinions and experiences, which can be gathered through 
surveys, interviews, and focus groups, are crucial in assessing 
conditions and tailoring a program that will serve the needs 
of the specific healthcare setting. 


When drafting questions for an employee or patient survey, 
it is important to consider how the data will be used and 
to frame questions in a way that will elicit the most help-
ful information. Responses should be confidential, and the 
survey should be simple to complete. Allowing employees to 
complete surveys on work time can increase participation. 
Focus groups, in which small groups of staff meet with a 
neutral facilitator, can also generate robust discussion about 
perceived risks and potential solutions. 







5 


Examples


Veterans Health Administration: convening stakeholders across a large organization


The Veterans Health Administration (VHA) is America’s largest integrated healthcare system, with more than 1,700 sites serv-
ing 8.76 million veterans each year. The VHA has faced several challenges in addressing workplace violence: the vast size of 
the organization, a wide variety of settings (inpatient, outpatient, community settings, and specialty services), and a special 
population with notable incidence of post-traumatic stress disorder and other trauma. In 2000, the VHA formed a National 
Taskforce on Violence with representation from a variety of stakeholders from important VHA organizational units, labor 
partners, and outside agencies and experts. The taskforce reviewed violence within VHA, identified policy weaknesses and po-
tential solutions, and made recommendations that included conducting a national survey. Results of this survey are described 
in “Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification” on page 11.


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital: from labor concerns to collaborative action


In the late 1990s and early 2000s, registered nurses at Providence Hospital—a 104-bed behavioral health facility in Holyoke, 
Massachusetts—raised concerns about rising levels of violence and high rates of assaults by patients. With assistance from 
their union, the Massachusetts Nurses Association, the nurses brought their concerns to the bargaining table during con-
tract negotiations. The union proposed research-based changes to hospital policies to address workplace violence. Through 
detailed negotiations, the nurses and hospital administrators worked together to include the following definitions and policies 
in the nurses’ new contract: 


Violence is assaultive behavior from patients, visitors, other workers, physicians, or even family members. 
Violence is defined as, but not limited to, physical assaults, battering, sexual assaults, or verbal or non-verbal 
intimidation. ID badges will not reveal last name. The Hospital will have a policy and procedure relating to 
the detection, removal, storage, and disposition of potential or actual weaponry at admission or at any time 
during the Hospital stay. The Hospital agrees to provide security surveillance of Hospital grounds and parking 
areas. Both will be well lighted. Upon request, the Hospital will provide escorts to cars and physical protec-
tion to workers if necessary.


The Hospital will initiate a policy and procedure for the prevention of violence or potential violence. It will 
also give training programs on how to safely approach potential assaults and prevent aggressive behavior 
from escalating into violent behavior. Consistent with the Hospital “Code Yellow” policy the Hospital will 
form a trained Response Team, available 24 hours and 7 days a week that, similar to a code team, can be 
immediately called to assist a nurse in any situation that involves violence. The employer will report the injury 
or illness to the appropriate agencies, i.e., Department of Industrial Accidents, police, etc. The employee also 
has the right to notify the police if he/she is being physically assaulted. Incidents of abuse, verbal attacks 
or aggressive behavior—which may be threatening to the nurse but not result in injury, such as pushing 
or shouting and acts of aggression towards other clients/staff/visitors—will be recorded on an assaultive 
incident report. The incident will be reported to the Risk Manager, the Providence Hospital Safety Committee, 
[and] Injury Review Committee for review and appropriate intervention. Copies of any documents relating to 
the incident will be given to the nurse affected. The employer will provide and/or make available to workers 
injured by workplace violence medical and psychological services.


The joint efforts of labor and management have led to more than a decade of collaboration on preventing workplace 
violence, a multidisciplinary task force, an open dialogue, a greater emphasis on prevention and de-escalation instead of 
restraint, and ultimately a decrease in the number and severity of assaults by patients. 







6 


New Hampshire Hospital: recognizing and adapting to change 


As a state-run behavioral health hospital in operation since 
1842, New Hampshire Hospital in Concord, New Hampshire, 
has a long history of treating patients with severe psychi-
atric conditions. However, a changing landscape has led to 
new challenges related to workplace violence. Until a few 
decades ago, the hospital had many more patients than it 
does today, and staff became very familiar with their patients 
because they were often committed for life. Now the hospital 
sees patients for shorter stays, and some of these patients 
have more acute challenges and pose more serious threats 
and problems than in the past, particularly with an uptick 
in involuntary commitments and referrals from EDs. New 
Hampshire Hospital has become more of a “last resort” as 
other facilities have closed or become full; at the same time, 
the medical community has pushed to reduce the use of 
restraints and seclusion. These changes in patient popula-
tion, acuity, and treatment techniques—along with concerns 
raised by staff—led New Hampshire Hospital to realize that 
they needed to give their workers new tools to prevent and respond to workplace violence. 


Nursing managers began with a series of focus groups to solicit input from direct care staff on all three shifts. To encourage 
employees to speak freely, meetings were conducted without supervisors present and were separated by discipline (nurses, 
physicians, mental health workers). This input helped managers to realize that many workers believed that violence was part 
of the job, which perpetuated acceptance of violence. The hospital addressed these issues over a few years by discussing 
workplace violence in labor/management meetings, adapting existing models to create a “Staying Safe” program (see Section 
6: “Hazard Prevention and Control”), fostering dialogue and collaboration between clinical staff and campus police, imple-
menting daily safety briefings, and creating a robust training program. New Hampshire Hospital now helps other hospitals 
start their own violence prevention efforts by writing articles, presenting at conferences, and sharing data and strategies with 
similar facilities in other states.


The front entrance of New Hampshire Hospital.







7 


4. Management Commitment and Employee Participation


A strong commitment by management is critical to the overall 
success of the workplace violence prevention program. It is 
important for administrators, safety managers, and front-line 
supervisors not only to show that aggressive or violent be-
havior is unacceptable and will result in appropriate conse-
quences, but also to provide an environment of trust where 
errors and incidents are viewed as opportunities to learn, 
with the overall goal of continuous improvement. 


By creating a written workplace violence policy and posting 
it in publicly visible locations, management can provide a 
clear statement of the organization’s position on workplace 
violence, explain the consequences for violation, and inform 
patients, visitors, and others of their responsibilities and the 
conduct that is expected of them.


Clearly defined policies and procedures and visible manage-
ment involvement can also help encourage employees to 
report violent incidents or related concerns. Visible responses 
from management can help reassure workers that proper 
action will be taken to address their concerns, without fear of 
reprisal for reporting incidents. 


All employees can bring important knowledge and perspec-
tives to the workplace violence prevention program—espe-
cially caregivers who interact directly with patients. A joint 
management–employee committee can foster a participatory 


approach where employees and management work together 
on worksite assessment and solution implementation. The 
structure of management–employee teams varies based on 
the facility’s size and the availability of personnel. Commit-
tees can include representatives from direct care staff; human 
resources, safety, security, and legal departments; unions; and 
local law enforcement departments. In addition, a focus on 
patient-on-employee versus employee-on-employee violence 
may require somewhat different human resources, legal, and 
clinician skills. It is essential that staff be given release time 
from patient care activities to attend meetings and conduct 
other committee work. To meet shared objectives, the com-
mittee can: 


• Hold regular meetings and consider whether “ad hoc” 
meetings would be useful as well.


• Strongly encourage worker involvement in the decisions 
that affect their health and safety.


• Address employees’ safety concerns in a timely manner.


Research has shown that interventions such as improved 
management commitment to a violence prevention program 
and employee engagement can lead to enhanced employee 
perceptions of safety.4 


4  Lipscomb, J., McPhaul, K., Rosen, J., Brown, J.G., Choi, M., Soeken, K., Vignola, V., Wagoner, D., Foley, J., and Porter, P. 2006. Violence 
prevention in the mental health setting: The New York State experience. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research. 38(4): 96–117.







8 


Examples


Saint Agnes Hospital: a strong stance against violence
At Saint Agnes Hospital—an urban acute care facility in Baltimore, Maryland—administrators have put many policies and 
procedures in place to encourage associates to raise concerns and report violent incidents, and they have also taken steps to 
clearly show associates, patients, and visitors that violence is unacceptable and will have consequences. For example:


• Saint Agnes uses a secure, accessible electronic incident reporting program and requires a follow-up discussion to reflect on 
why an incident occurred and how it could have been prevented—all taking place in a blame-free environment. 


• Managers encourage victims of violence to use the Employee Assistance Program (EAP), even if the victim says that he 
or she does not need to do so. Referring an associate to the EAP might be particularly important in the case of a serious 
incident such as a sexual assault. Managers also encour-
age victims to request an alternative provider if they feel 
the hospital’s EAP does not have the expertise or approach 
needed to address the incident.


• With top administrators’ support, Saint Agnes has notified 
some of its most violent repeat offenders that they are no 
longer welcome at the facility, and the hospital will not 
readmit them. This does not include the ED, though, as the 
hospital is required by law to see a patient who requires 
emergency care. 


• If an associate wishes to press charges against a patient 
who assaulted them, the hospital helps them navigate the 
legal process and provides financial support. 


• Managers and front-line staff speak openly about their 
concerns during Emergency Department Performance Im-
provement Committee (EPIC) meetings, monthly leadership 
meetings, daily opening and closing “flash meetings,” and 
unit-level huddles.


At Saint Agnes Hospital, everyone signs a nonviolence 
pledge: administrators, front-line associates, and affili-
ates (e.g., contractors). Signs and posters throughout the 
facility emphasize the hospital’s mission and the roles 
that staff, visitors, and patients can all play in creating a 
healing environment.


St. John Medical Center: commitment from the top, input from the front line, and a stand against 
bullying


In 2013, administrators at St. John Medical Center—a large urban hospital with affiliated facilities in Tulsa, Oklahoma—met 
with all three nurse shifts to discuss action plans for dealing with a behavioral health patient who needed round-the-clock 
observation. Managers met with caregivers and listened to their concerns; based on these meetings, the hospital convened a 
workplace violence prevention group. 


Now, nursing leadership, physician leadership, and other administrators all support workplace violence prevention. The CEO 
of each facility or another designated administrator leads an interdisciplinary safety meeting every morning to review activity 
from the past 24 hours and discuss potential concerns during the next 24 hours. The CEOs also periodically accompany physi-
cians and others on daily rounds, and a Threat Assessment Committee brings physicians, nursing, behavioral health, security, 
occupational safety and health, and human resources staff together to address workplace violence issues twice a month, or 
more often if needed.


St. John’s leaders have recognized that a nonviolent workplace also requires action against bullying. Because bullying 
sometimes stems from clinical hierarchies—for example, a physician behaving dismissively toward a nurse—it is particularly 







9 


important to engage physicians when designing and implementing anti-bullying policies. At St. John, this engagement starts 
at the top, where the head of the medical staff has stated unequivocally that bullying will not be tolerated. St. John’s elec-
tronic incident reporting system allows staff to report bullying and to route this report around their supervisor if he or she is 
the perpetrator. Nurses have become confident enough to report occasional bullying events by physicians, thanks to a “no 
fear” environment.


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital and the Massachusetts Nurses Association (MNA): lasting 
collaboration


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital’s joint labor/management workplace violence task force has been collaborating on this 
issue since 2004. The hospital has developed a written “culture of safety” policy that emphasizes everyone’s responsibility to 
look for safety concerns and bring them forward, a “stop the process” policy that allows any employee to speak up if they 
feel uncomfortable with a situation, and a joint labor/management safety manual that describes hospital policies, employees’ 
rights, incident reporting tools, and other resources.


Administrators, managers, and front-line workers meet together in several forums:


• The workplace violence task force meets quarterly to maintain the safety manual, review incident reports, and develop new 
solutions as needed. All departments are represented on the task force, along with human resources and union representa-
tives.


• Managers and front-line staff speak openly at monthly leadership meetings to discuss concerns, acknowledge mistakes, and 
develop solutions.


• Daily “flash meetings” at the start and end of each day allow staff and managers to discuss concerns and strategies for 
specific patients.


• Administrators show their commitment to safety by participating in these meetings, taking an official stance on violence 
prevention in their labor contracts (see Section 3, “Getting Started,” for contract language), making frequent rounds, and 
providing funds for training. Staff have strong champions for safety in both their MNA chief representative—an RN with 
29 years of experience, including as an inpatient psychiatric nurse—and the senior vice president who oversees the entire 
facility. The senior vice president worked as a nurse in community mental health for 30 years and understands the chal-
lenges firsthand.







10 


Resources


Author Title Description URL


OSHA Guidelines for Preventing 
Workplace Violence for 
Healthcare and Social Service 
Workers


Voluntary guidelines for re-
ducing workplace violence in 
the healthcare and social ser-
vice sectors. The guidelines 
emphasize the importance 
of management support and 
employee engagement.


https://www.osha.gov/Publi-
cations/osha3148.pdf


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


Workplace Violence Toolkit Toolkit with templates and 
examples designed specifi-
cally for the ED.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
toolkitpg1.htm


American Nurses Association Model “State” Bill: “The 
Violence Prevention in Health 
Care Facilities Act”


Example bill that requires 
healthcare entities to es-
tablish programs to protect 
workers from violence.


http://www.nursingworld.
org/MainMenuCategories/
Policy-Advocacy/State/
Legislative-Agenda-Reports/
State-WorkplaceViolence/
ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.
pdf 


ASIS International Healthcare 
Security Council


Managing Disruptive Behav-
ior and Workplace Violence 
in Healthcare


White paper that provides 
supporting documentation 
on workplace violence for 
healthcare security profes-
sionals.


http://www.g4s.us/~/
media/Files/USA/PDF-
Articles/Hospitals%20
and%20Healthcare/
Council_Healthcare_
WorkplaceViolence.ashx


American Nurses Association Incivility, Bullying, and Work-
place Violence


Position statement containing 
detailed recommendations 
and suggested resources 
for registered nurses and 
employers.


http://www.nursingworld.
org/MainMenuCategories/
WorkplaceSafety/
Healthy-Nurse/
bullyingworkplaceviolence/
Incivility-Bullying-and-
Workplace-Violence.html



https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/Policy-Advocacy/State/Legislative-Agenda-Reports/State-WorkplaceViolence/ModelWorkplaceViolenceBill.pdf

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.g4s.us/~/media/Files/USA/PDF-Articles/Hospitals%20and%20Healthcare/Council_Healthcare_WorkplaceViolence.ashx

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/WorkplaceSafety/Healthy-Nurse/bullyingworkplaceviolence/Incivility-Bullying-and-Workplace-Violence.html





11 


5. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification


Ongoing worksite analysis and hazard identification is criti-
cal to the success of a comprehensive workplace violence 
prevention program. Many facilities have found it useful to 
engage senior management, supervisors, and both clinical 
and non-clinical employees to assess risks together. A com-
prehensive assessment can include a records review, a review 
of the procedures and operations for different jobs, employee 
surveys, and a workplace security analysis.


Risk Factors for Workplace Violence in 
Healthcare
A risk assessment will often reveal many factors that could 
contribute to violence in the workplace. Some of these risk 
factors relate to patients, clients, and settings, including:


• Working directly with people who have a history of vio-
lence, people who abuse drugs or alcohol, gang members, 
or distressed relatives or friends of patients or clients.


• Lifting, moving, and transporting patients and clients.


• Working alone in a facility or in patients’ homes.


• Poor environmental design of the workplace that may 
block employees’ vision or interfere with their escape from 
a violent incident.


• Poorly lit corridors, rooms, parking lots, and other areas.


• Lack of a means of emergency communication.


• Prevalence of firearms, knives, and other weapons among 
patients and their families and friends.


• Working in neighborhoods with high crime rates.


Other risk factors are more organizational in nature, includ-
ing: 


• Lack of facility policies and staff training for recognizing 
and managing escalating hostile and assaultive behaviors 
from patients, clients, visitors, or staff.


• Working when understaffed in general—and especially 
during mealtimes, visiting hours, and night shifts.


• High worker turnover.


• Inadequate security and mental health personnel on site.


• Long waits for patients or clients and overcrowded, uncom-
fortable waiting rooms.


• Unrestricted movement of the public in clinics and 
hospitals.


• Perception that violence is tolerated and victims will not be 
able to report the incident to police and/or press charges.


• An overemphasis on customer satisfaction over staff safety.


Reviewing Records, Procedures, and 
Employee Input
Facilities may find it useful to review the following types of 
records to identify trends and risk factors:


• Violence-related medical, safety, threat assessment, work-
ers’ compensation, and insurance records.


• Logs of work-related injuries and illnesses, as required by 
OSHA (OSHA Forms 300 and 301).


• First reports of injury, incident/near-miss logs, and other 
incident reports, including police reports, general event 
logs, or daily logs.


In addition to reviewing records, the workplace violence pre-
vention committee can review procedures and operations for 
different jobs and conduct employee surveys to identify vio-
lence hazards. Employee questionnaires and detailed baseline 
screening surveys are useful tools for pinpointing tasks that 
put workers at risk of violence. Periodic anonymous employee 
surveys, conducted at least annually or whenever operations 
change or incidents occur, can help to monitor the effective-
ness of previously implemented hazard control measures and 
identify new or previously unnoticed risk factors and deficien-
cies in the environment, training, or work practices.


Patient Input
Patients and their families can also provide valuable input 
to help the workplace violence prevention team identify risk 
factors, understand patients’ perspectives, and design effec-
tive solutions. Facilities have sought patient input in many 
different ways, such as:


• Patient surveys or other formal surveys.


• Informal surveys or focus groups. For example, one behav-
ioral health hospital asked patients for input about what 
type of security presence in their unit (uniformed, etc.) 
would make them feel most comfortable and safe.


• Interviewing or surveying patients both before and after an 
intervention. For example, one behavioral health hospital 
installed a metal detector at its methadone clinic, and 
learned from clients that this intervention made many of 
them feel safer.


• Enlisting patients to participate in research to identify trig-
gers to violence, daily activities that may lead to violence, 
and effective responses. (See New Hampshire Hospital’s 
story on page 13.)







12 


Walkthrough Assessment 
Regular walkthrough assessments (such as environment of 
care rounds) can play a vital role in identifying and assess-
ing workplace hazards. Walkthroughs may be conducted by 
members of the workplace violence prevention committee, 
including staff from each area and each shift, as well as facil-
ity maintenance or management personnel. They should cover 
all facility areas. The walkthrough itself is not the end of the 


assessment and review process: a complete process also 
includes post-assessment feedback and follow-up. 


Violence can occur anywhere, but psychiatric services, 
geriatric units, and high-volume urban EDs, admission areas, 
and waiting rooms often present the highest risks. The key 
to protecting employees and patients is inspecting all work 
areas, including exterior building areas and parking areas, as 
well as evaluating security measures. 


Examples


Veterans Health Administration: a comprehensive employee survey


In 2000, the VHA formed a National Taskforce on Violence with representation from VHA organizational units, labor partners, 
and outside agencies. After reviewing violence within the VHA and identifying policy weaknesses and potential solutions, the 
Taskforce conducted a national survey that generated responses from more than 70,000 full- and part-time VHA employees at 
142 facilities.5 The survey asked employees about job satisfaction, perceptions of safety, and whether they have experienced 
various types of violence in the workplace. Responses were analyzed by department/unit and by job category. The survey 
revealed the highest-risk departments (geriatrics, mental health, rehabilitation, and acute/specialty care) and occupations 
(registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, nursing assistants, and police/security) for assaults by patients. It also found that 
facilities with higher penetration of alternative dispute resolution training tended to have lower rates of assaults. Other results 
included information about coworker violence, including prevalence, the most common triggers, and the groups of employees 
who appear to be at the highest risk.


St. Cloud Hospital: from systematic “failure modes” analysis to proactive solutions


At St. Cloud Hospital, a 489-bed acute care hospital in St. Cloud, Minnesota, a string of violent events in 2010 prompted the 
Medicine care center director to conduct a chart review and start a dialogue with a wide range of colleagues to learn more 
about the prevalence of violence and try to identify precipitating factors or warning signs. The director’s initial findings led 
administrators to establish an interdisciplinary workplace violence prevention group. This group used a technique called failure 
modes and effects analysis (FMEA) to identify and prioritize vulnerabilities. FMEA was originally created by reliability engineers 
for military and aerospace applications, and it has since spread to many other industries that are concerned with safety or 
quality. The technique takes various forms, but it generally involves a stepwise process to anticipate potential problems, 
identify causes and effects, and prioritize recommendations for improvement. At St. Cloud, an interdisciplinary team composed 
of leaders and direct care providers looked at each unit in the facility, then identified what could possibly go wrong (“failure 
modes”), root causes, and effects. Next, they scored each failure mode based on its probability of occurrence and the severity 
of the effects, which allowed the team to develop and prioritize a set of recommendations for proactive controls. One example 
of a potential failure mode was communication among the staff from one care area to another or from shift to shift about 
patient’s risk of violence. FMEA tools are available from a variety of organizations, including a few that have tailored the 
approach for healthcare facilities.


5  For more information about the VHA’s survey methods and results, see: Hodgson, M.J., Reed, R., Craig, T., Murphy, F., Lehmann, L., Belton, 
L., and Warren, N. 2004. Violence in healthcare facilities: Lessons from the Veterans Health Administration. Journal of Occupational and 
Environmental Medicine. 46(11): 1158–1165.







13 


New Hampshire Hospital: exploring triggers for violence through research


New Hampshire Hospital, a state-run behavioral health facility, serves as a teach-
ing hospital through its affiliation with the Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth 
College. This connection allows New Hampshire Hospital to serve as a living 
laboratory for ongoing research to identify precursors to violence and test new 
practices. Physicians engage patients as partners in their research, which is part of 
the hospital’s drive for continual improvement. This connection to academic studies 
also helps to raise awareness of other new research and encourage staff members 
to adopt the best available evidence-based approaches. 


One ongoing example is “Project Pause,” which is examining whether a smart-
phone app can predict violence among a select group of acutely ill patients. 
During the research phase, patients carried smartphones (with cameras and games 
disabled) for seven days. Every two hours, the app would prompt them to answer 
questions about how they felt. The phones could detect ambient sounds (for 
example, if someone was screaming or talking to themselves) and track the loca-
tion and movement of patients. Ultimately, the researchers aim to compare these 
self-assessment data with violent incidents and restraint and seclusion reports to 
determine whether the self-assessment tool has predictive value.


New Hampshire Hospital’s “Project 
Pause” is a smartphone app for 
predicting violence. Patients answer 
self-assessment questions like the one 
shown here, and researchers compare 
the data with violent incident reports.







14 


Resources


Author Title Description URL
General information and risk assessment tools


ECRI Institute Violence in Health Care 
Facilities


Risk analysis report that 
discusses workplace violence 
and prevention strategies. 
The Western Health Risk 
Assessment Screening Tool is 
included under “Supplemen-
tary Materials.”


https://www.ecri.org/
components/HRC/Pages/
SafSec3.aspx


Minnesota Department of 
Health


Preventing Violence in 
Healthcare: Gap Analysis


Worksheet designed to help 
healthcare facilities identify 
risks and implement best 
practices to prevent patient-
on-worker violence.


http://www.health.state.
mn.us/patientsafety/ 
preventionofviolence/
preventingviolencein 
healthcaregapanalysis.pdf


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


Emergency Department 
Assessment Tool


Checklist to help assess 
threats in the ED.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
EDAssessmentToolSample.pdf


New York State Department 
of Labor


Workplace Violence Preven-
tion Program Guidelines


Guide to assist public 
employers and employees 
in understanding key steps 
in establishing a workplace 
violence prevention program. 
Appendix 3 provides a work-
place security checklist.


http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s


Institute for Healthcare 
Improvement


Failure Modes and Effects 
Analysis (FMEA) Tool


Downloadable and interac-
tive online tools designed 
to help healthcare facilities 
apply the FMEA technique for 
worksite analysis and hazard 
identification.


http://www.ihi.org/resources/
pages/tools/uremodesand 
effectsanalysistool.aspx 


Employee surveys


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


Workplace Violence Staff As-
sessment Survey


Survey to assess how staff 
view workplace violence and 
violence prevention. This 
resource is part of the Asso-
ciation’s Workplace Violence 
Toolkit.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
Staff%20Assessment%20
Survey_V1.doc



https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/preventingviolenceinhealthcaregapanalysis.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/preventingviolenceinhealthcaregapanalysis.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/preventingviolenceinhealthcaregapanalysis.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/preventingviolenceinhealthcaregapanalysis.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/preventingviolenceinhealthcaregapanalysis.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/EDAssessmentToolSample.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/EDAssessmentToolSample.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/EDAssessmentToolSample.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/EDAssessmentToolSample.pdf

http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s

http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/failuremodesandeffectsanalysistool.aspx

http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/failuremodesandeffectsanalysistool.aspx

http://www.ihi.org/resources/pages/tools/failuremodesandeffectsanalysistool.aspx

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Staff%20Assessment%20Survey_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Staff%20Assessment%20Survey_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Staff%20Assessment%20Survey_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Staff%20Assessment%20Survey_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Staff%20Assessment%20Survey_V1.doc





15 


Author Title Description URL
Washington State Depart-
ment of Labor and Industries


Workplace Violence: Aware-
ness and Prevention for 
Employers and Employees


Guidebook to help employ-
ers and employees recognize 
workplace violence, minimize 
and prevent it, and respond 
appropriately if it occurs. A 
sample employee survey on 
workplace violence hazard 
assessment is included in 
Appendix B.


http://www.lni.wa.gov/
IPUB/417-140-000.pdf


New York State Department 
of Labor


Workplace Violence Preven-
tion Program Guidelines


Guide to assist public 
employers and employees 
in understanding key steps 
in establishing a workplace 
violence prevention program. 
A sample employee ques-
tionnaire and focus group 
information are included in 
Appendix 4.


http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s


Civil Service Employees Asso-
ciation, Local 1000, AFSCME, 
AFL-CIO


Workplace Violence Preven-
tion


1.  General information on 
workplace violence


2.  Workplace Violence Survey


3.  Workplace Violence Focus 
Group Activity


1.  https://cseany.org/osh/
violence


2.  https://cseany.org/wp-
content/uploads/2013/02/
Survey.pdf


3.  https://cseany.org/wp-
content/uploads/2013/02/
Focus-Group-Activity.pdf


Walkthrough assessment


OSHA Guidelines for Preventing 
Workplace Violence for 
Healthcare and Social Service 
Workers


Voluntary guidelines for 
reducing workplace violence 
in the healthcare and social 
service sectors. The publica-
tion includes a set of inspec-
tion checklists.


www.osha.gov/Publications/
osha3148.pdf


Civil Service Employees Asso-
ciation, Local 1000, AFSCME, 
AFL-CIO


Workplace Violence Inspec-
tion Checklist


Checklist for inspecting work-
places for risk factors.


https://cseany.org/wp-
content/uploads/2013/02/
Inspection-Form.pdf



http://www.lni.wa.gov/IPUB/417-140-000.pdf

http://www.lni.wa.gov/IPUB/417-140-000.pdf

http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s

https://cseany.org/osh/violence

https://cseany.org/osh/violence

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Survey.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Survey.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Survey.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Focus-Group-Activity.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Focus-Group-Activity.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Focus-Group-Activity.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Inspection-Form.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Inspection-Form.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Inspection-Form.pdf





16 


6. Hazard Prevention and Control


Once the records review and a walkthrough assessment are 
complete, the workplace violence committee can work to-
ward addressing the hazards identified. To do so, healthcare 
facilities can choose from a variety of methods, procedures, 
and technologies intended to prevent violent incidents or to 
respond to them in the most effective manner when they do 
occur. Prevention and control allows employers to minimize 
or eliminate risks and liabilities as well as to meet their legal 
obligation to provide employees with a safe and healthy work 
environment.


In the field of workplace safety, the ideal choice is gener-
ally to eliminate a hazard altogether or to substitute a safer 
work practice. In healthcare, one example may be transfer-
ring patients to a more appropriate facility if they exhibit 
violent behavior that may not be appropriate in a less secure 
environment. Substitution is not always possible in a health-
care environment, though, but other options are available. 
These options fall into two major categories, engineering 
controls and administrative and work practice con-
trols, which are best when used in combination to maximize 
prevention and control. 


Engineering controls are physical changes to the work-
place that either remove a hazard or create a barrier between 
workers and the hazard. These controls are often the next 
best option if elimination and substitution are not possible. 
Examples include:


• Changing floor plans to make exits more accessible and/or 
improve sightlines for staff.


• Improving lighting in remote areas or outdoor spaces for 
better visibility.


• Installing mirrors.


• Installing security technologies such as metal detectors, 
surveillance cameras, or panic buttons.


• Controlling access to certain areas (e.g., ICU, ED, birthing 
center, pediatric unit) with locked doors.


• Enclosing the nurses’ station or installing deep counters.


• Replacing furniture with heavier or fixed alternatives that 
cannot be easily used as weapons.


Administrative and work practice controls are changes 
to the way staff perform jobs or tasks, both to reduce the 
likelihood of violent incidents and to better protect staff, 
patients, and visitors should a violent incident occur. Adminis-
trative and work practice controls are appropriate when engi-
neering controls are not feasible or not completely protective. 
Examples include:


• Procedures and tools for assessing and periodically reas-
sessing patients with regard to their potential for violent 
behavior. Some facilities conduct threat assessments on a 
patient’s admission and periodically afterwards. Research 
confirms the importance of formally assessing mitigating 
factors (including work, financial, psychological, social, and 
physical factors) as well as factors that increase risk (in-
cluding anger and trauma, history of violence and arrests, 
alcohol use, and financial instability).6,7 Such tools can im-
prove the structuring and organizing of risk-relevant data 
and may enhance communication and decision-making.8,9 


Panic buttons can provide additional security in high-
risk areas. 


6  Meloy, J.R., White, S.G., and Hart, S. 2013. Workplace assessment of targeted violence risk: The development and reliability of the WAVR-
21. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 58(5): 1353–1358.


7   Douglas, K.S., Ogloff, J.R., and Hart, S.D. 2003. Evaluation of a model of violence risk assessment among forensic psychiatric patients. 
Psychiatric Services. 54(10): 1372–1379.


8  Meloy, J.R., White, S.G., and Hart, S. 2013. Workplace assessment of targeted violence risk: The development and reliability of the WAVR-
21. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 58(5): 1353–1358.


9  Meloy, J.R. 2006. Empirical basis and forensic application of affective and predatory violence. Australian and New Zealand Journal of 
Psychiatry. 40(6–7): 539–547.







17 


• Procedures for tracking and communicating information 
regarding patient behavior.


• Special procedures for patients with a history of violent 
behavior.


• Adequate staffing on all units and shifts. 


• Providing training in de-escalation techniques, workplace 
safety practices, and trauma-informed care. Trauma-
informed care recognizes the lasting impacts of physical, 
psychological, and emotional trauma on a survivor, and 
it actively seeks to avoid re-traumatization. For example, 
caregivers should minimize coercive interventions and 
avoid introducing stimuli or cues that might remind the 
victim of a previous traumatic experience.


• Emergency procedures so all staff know what to do if an 
incident occurs.


• Policies and procedures that minimize stress for patients 
and visitors.


Engineering and administrative controls for various healthcare 
settings are discussed in more detail in OSHA’s Guidelines 
for Preventing Workplace Violence for Healthcare and Social 
Service Workers.


Engineering controls and administrative controls often work 
in concert to address risk in the healthcare setting. Both kinds 


of controls should be selected with careful regard to the na-
ture of the hazard identified and the nature of the healthcare 
setting. For example, controls suitable for an urban ED might 
not be appropriate for a community care clinic. Instituting any 
combination of control and prevention methods requires a 
careful balance between providing a safe healthcare setting 
and maintaining a calming, welcoming, and workable envi-
ronment for staff, patients, and visitors.


Implementing controls does not conclude the process of 
addressing workplace violence. Once controls are in place, 
periodic review and evaluation can ensure that they are 
adequately addressing hazards identified during the site 
assessment process, highlight areas of weakness, and help 
to identify new or emerging risks that might require modifica-
tion of existing controls or adoption of additional measures. 
In addition, if an incident occurs, employers can help their 
workers by providing timely medical and/or mental health-
care services (as appropriate) and conducting a post-incident 
debriefing where all involved or affected staff meet to 
conduct a blame-free root cause analysis that considers what 
happened, what should have happened, why the difference, 
and how to prevent a similar problem in the future. Access 
to an employee assistance program can help a worker cope 
with the ongoing trauma and stress that often accompany an 
assault or injury.



https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf





18 


Examples


St. Cloud Hospital: assessing every patient’s risk of violent behavior


When St. Cloud Hospital’s workplace 
violence committee convened in 
2010 to review their incidents and 
risk factors, they recognized that 
their staff could benefit from a tool 
to assess individual patients and 
identify those who might require 
special precautions to prevent violent 
behavior.


The team reviewed existing tools 
and found one that was specific to 
behavioral health. They modified 
this tool to include identifying if 
the patient has any risk factors for 
violence; if risk factors are present, 
additional questions are asked. The 
tool is efficient to complete. It is 
now integrated within the hospital’s 
regular nursing assessment for all 
adult patients, which is completed 
electronically and tied into patients’ 
electronic medical records. Each 
patient is assessed for potential violence risk when admitted to the hospital and again every 12 hours thereafter. A nurse re-
cords risk factors and signs of impending violence, such as irritability or confusion. A risk level is then assigned to each patient 
depending on how many risk factors and signs of impending violence he or she exhibits. If a patient is marked as “high risk,” 
a list of potential interventions will appear in his or her electronic medical record, based on the individualized treatment plan 
that the staff develops. For example, the record might advise removing extra furniture from the patient’s room. Some high-risk 
patients also have magnets on their doorframes to alert staff to take precautions. St. Cloud’s patient assessment tool has been 
recognized as a model by the Minnesota Department of Health.


St. Cloud Hospital’s electronic medical records include a violence risk assessment 
conducted by a nurse every 12 hours, along with special precautions on the right 
side of the screen for patients deemed to be “high risk.”


Veterans Health Administration: assessing patients and flagging records


The cornerstones of the VHA’s violence prevention program are Disruptive Behavior Committees (DBCs) and the patient as-
sessment process. A multidisciplinary DBC at each facility reviews incident reports referred by staff who are concerned that 
a patient may pose a safety risk to himself, other patients, and staff. As per VHA policy, the DBC, which is chaired by a senior 
mental health clinician, determines whether a specific consistent approach, which may include a security escort, is warranted 
for each patient visit. If a patient is determined to present “an immediate safety risk for seriously disruptive, threatening, or 
violent behavior,” a Patient Record Flag (PRF) may be put on the patient’s electronic health record to alert staff to the safest 
and most therapeutic approach for handling their visit. VHA facilities nationwide use a standardized definition and criteria for 
“disruptive behavior” to ensure a consistent assignment of PRFs and avoid overusing this designation.10 DBCs are encour-
aged to convene at least monthly, and PRFs are activated in patients’ electronic medical records the day after the DBC assigns 
them. PRFs are shared across all facilities that might treat a given patient.


10  See VHA Directive 2010-053 (http://www.va.gov/vhapublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub_ID=2341) for specific criteria and other 
requirements related to PRFs.



http://www.va.gov/vhapublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub_ID=2341





19 


The VHA’s threat assessment process combines clinical and actuarial approaches that are informed by the empirical literature. 
The VHA incorporated veteran-specific risk factors, both static (e.g., gender, prior assault status) and dynamic (e.g., recent 
alcohol abuse, homelessness, and employment status); risk mitigation factors; and setting risk factors (e.g., staffing issues) 
into its violence risk assessment instrument. The VHA’s approach also requires professional judgment. Studies have found that 
this type of structured professional judgment instrument is significantly predictive of violence and performs as well as or better 
than other types of violence risk assessment. 


The VHA continues to review and improve its threat assessment process. For example, VHA researchers recently worked on a 
quick screening tool that will help clinicians identify candidates in need of a more comprehensive assessment.11 They evalu-
ated a rapid five-item screening tool, called the Violence Screening and Assessment of Need (VIO-SCAN), to determine its 
predictive validity. This evidence-based screen covers a combination of factors such as probable post-traumatic stress disorder, 
alcohol misuse, financial instability, combat experience, arrests, and history of violence.


Example: One large regional VHA system set up a DBC that includes key managers as well as representatives 
from five labor unions, police/security, and people with a full spectrum of clinical and service expertise. They took 
the lead and created a “Behavioral Rapid Response Team” (BRRT) to identify and address escalating behaviors 
through the intervention of a rapid response Mental Health Consult Team. The DBC also instituted a police check-in 
form for those outpatients who carry this order of behavioral restriction. The organization also addressed environ-
mental design by using the Workplace Behavior Risk Assessment process to identify areas where physical safety 
aids such as panic alarms, locked doors, and furniture configuration should be considered. It created an “environ-
mental risk assessment” in which an interdisciplinary team assesses a work site and recommends ways to mitigate 
risk. It also created a “Green Flag” alert system in which ancillary staff check with the inpatient’s primary nurse to 
learn how to work safely with a patient who has a behavioral flag. Finally, the organization’s Behavioral Emergency 
Review Committee evaluates all “code green” (mental health) emergencies and BRRT calls, as well as assault data.


Sheppard-Pratt Health System: “doing your homework” and lending a watchful eye


At Sheppard-Pratt, a large behavioral health system headquartered in Towson, 
Maryland, many patients arrive upon referral from an ED. For these patients, violence 
prevention starts before they even arrive. Admissions staff can look up a patient’s 
criminal record, and they take a detailed report from the ED, with nurses at Sheppard-
Pratt talking with nurses at the ED, and physicians talking with physicians. These lat-
eral conversations promote an open exchange of information. If the criminal record or 
ED report indicates a history of violence or aggressive behavior, Sheppard-Pratt can 
be prepared with extra clinical and security staff, and they can be ready to promptly 
administer emergency medications if needed to protect the patient or staff.


Sheppard-Pratt has also taken a unique approach with what it calls “Milieu Safety 
Officers”—specially trained, uniformed security staff who work in the milieu (com-
mon areas) in high-risk units. Milieu Safety Officers have no other assigned duties, so 
they can focus solely on the activity and mood in the unit, chatting with patients and 
keeping an unobtrusive eye on the area.


Milieu Safety Officers are specially recruited and trained for the job. Some have 
experience working in the Department of Corrections, so they can help other staff 
learn how to recognize and deal with criminal culture. They are also chosen for their 


interpersonal and verbal de-escalation skills, and they receive training in both security and mental health. They meet with new 
patients to get to know them and set expectations; they also participate as members of the treatment team and receive daily 
clinical patient information.


Milieu Safety Officers create a 
safe environment for staff and 
patients at Sheppard-Pratt.


11  Elbogen, E.B., Cueva, M., Wagner, H.R., Sreenivasan, S., Brancu, M., Beckham, J.C., and Van Male, L. 2014. Screening for violence risk in 
military veterans: Predictive validity of a brief clinical tool. American Journal of Psychiatry. 171(7): 749–757.







20 


Sheppard-Pratt’s Milieu Safety Officers have succeeded on many fronts. Units with Milieu Safety Officers have seen a de-
crease in violent injuries to workers, and staff report feeling safer where Milieu Safety Officers are present. Patients have also 
expressed that they feel safer with a uniformed officer present, and they often approach the officer to discuss their concerns 
or to get help—a testament to the rapport these people are able to build. 


“Staying Safe” at New Hampshire Hospital


Like other leading behavioral health facilities, New Hampshire 
Hospital emphasizes the use of comfort rooms that include com-
fortable furniture, soothing colors, soft lighting, quiet music, and 
other sensory aids to help reduce patients’ stress levels. Patients 
are free to access these rooms as they wish.


Staff participate in the “Staying Safe” program, which trains staff 
to listen to patients, try to answer questions, and provide help to 
calm people and de-escalate situations before they turn violent. 
Before physical intervention with a patient, “Staying Safe” training 
demands that at least five staff be present and requires them to 
have a plan to manage the situation as safely as possible. Before 
the hospital implemented the five-person requirement, intervening 
alone was a major cause of injuries to staff.


Security is also an important part of New Hampshire Hospital’s 
hazard control efforts. Campus police officers are commissioned 
by the state police force and are specially screened and trained 
for working in a mental health setting. Officers have been trained 
to respond to “code gray” (psychiatric) emergencies and assume a supportive role to staff. This type of response allows the 
officers to be present and immediately available if their services are needed. Campus police officers use defensive measures 
only when clinical staff have been unable to control the situation safely, there is extreme and imminent danger, and the nurse 
in charge specifically requests police assistance. This approach prevents the unnecessary use of force, which could escalate a 
situation and trigger a traumatic experience.


A member of New Hampshire Hospital’s staff shows 
one of the facility’s sensory rooms—a de-escalation 
strategy that has helped the hospital reduce 
patient-on-staff injuries. 


St. Vincent’s Medical Center: technological solutions and a behavioral response team


While hospital administrators can implement engineering and administrative 
controls to mitigate hazards present within a healthcare facility, protecting workers 
who work outside the hospital, such as in patients’ homes, presents a different set 
of challenges. These challenges include being able to ascertain whether a worker 
is in a violent or potentially violent situation, and being able to quickly locate and 
respond to the incident. In 2015, St. Vincent’s Medical Center in Bridgeport, Con-
necticut, evaluated the implementation of a GPS duress alarm system that case 
workers can wear while making home visits. The hospital plans to implement these 
GPS units in the year ahead.


GPS alarms are just the latest in a line of technologies that St. Vincent’s Medical 
Center has adopted to keep its associates safe. The threat of violence is elevated at 
St. Vincent’s hospital because this large urban hospital frequently treats “forensic” 
patients from nearby correctional institutions. Some of these patients are known to 
have histories of violent behavior, but all such patients must be considered a risk 
because they may view the hospital as an escape opportunity. St. Vincent’s director 
of safety and security has implemented a multi-pronged strategy to minimize risk to 


Associates at St. Vincent’s Medical 
Center wear badges with alarms 
that will alert the security office if 
they feel threatened.







21 


employees, patients, visitors, and the community, including:


• Protocols for information exchange before patient arrival.


• A locked vestibule system where incoming forensic patients disrobe and change into hospital attire while being observed by 
trained staff through a one-way mirror.


•  Electronic staff identification badges with a card that can be removed to trigger an alert to the security office. These badges 
carry GPS locators so that security staff can respond to the exact location of the alarm without delay.


St. Vincent’s Medical Center also formed a Behavioral Response Team to help reduce risks. This multidisciplinary team com-
prises a forensic psychologist, ethics staff, human resources, security, and others. They meet ad hoc to review specific patient, 
associate, and family risk cases, and they also meet monthly to recap workplace violence issues and identify new solutions. For 
example, St. Vincent’s hospital removed last names from many staff identification badges in the behavioral health unit after 
a stalking incident. Within the broader community, St. Vincent’s Medical Center participates in an initiative called Street Safe 
Bridgeport, which aims to reduce gang violence.


Saint Agnes Hospital: a wide array of engineering and administrative controls


Saint Agnes employs a variety of engineering controls to prevent violent inci-
dents at its urban campus in Baltimore, Maryland, including security cameras 
and panic buttons. The hospital has also incorporated subtle environmental 
details such as soothing wall colors, designated quiet areas, and noise reduction 
pads on doors to help keep patients and visitors more calm.


The hospital uses several administrative controls, too. Hospital-wide safety 
policies allow all patients to be searched for weapons and contraband upon 
admission or return from a pass. Patients at risk of violence or development are 
indicated with flags in their medical records, gray door signs, and gray gowns 
that are secured with three arm holes instead of strings, to reduce suicide risk. 
The hospital also uses color-coded lights installed above patient room doors 
throughout its “co-attending” unit for patients being treated for a medical 
diagnosis who also have behavioral challenges. The different colors of lights 
indicate who from the staff (e.g., a nurse, sitter, or maintenance worker) is with 
the patient in the room.


Saint Agnes worked for several years to get off-duty police officers from the lo-
cal community to serve in the ED. The hospital specifically wanted officers from 
Baltimore’s Southwest district, as they know the community, they are familiar 
with some of the hospital’s more challenging patients, and they have positive 
relationships with staff. The CEO successfully pushed to get these officers in the 
ED because their presence can help to deter bad behavior. 


Patients at risk of violent behavior 
wear gray gowns so Saint Agnes’s 
associates can quickly identify them 
and make sure to take extra precau-
tions. The gowns are also designed 
with no strings, to reduce suicide risk.


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital: de-escalation and openness to new methods


Providence’s de-escalation strategies start with the nursing assessment and getting to know each patient—what stimuli 
might trigger a violent episode and what approaches can help to calm them—then communicating this information to staff 
(for example, on patient care boards) and using it as a basis for personalized therapeutic interventions. 


Providence has successfully employed alternatives to restraints, an effort spurred in part by a Massachusetts state mandate to 
reduce the use of restraints. The most common form of restraint used is the “geriatric chair”: a chair with a built-in tray that 
is placed in front of the patient to prevent a patient with dementia from wandering. Beyond the requirements of the state 
mandate, the hospital has implemented a no-restraint policy in its child and adolescent units. 







22 


As it works to continually reduce violence and improve patient care, Providence benefits from its medical and nursing staff’s 
willingness to embrace new methods, more holistic approaches, biofeedback methods such as heart-brain coherence, and sen-
sory strategies. Staff create individualized crisis prevention plans for patients and employ a variety of therapy options, includ-
ing a sensory room with a cabinet full of activities that can occupy and calm patients, a weighted blanket (a known calming 
intervention), ball massage, a swing, talk therapy, and music therapy. These approaches have an added benefit because they 


can help patients learn coping strategies that will help them in 
their own lives after they leave the hospital.


Engineering controls also help Providence prevent violence. In 
addition to installing many security cameras, the hospital has 
installed a swipe card system on key entryways, the main stair-
case, and elevators. As a result of the MNA-negotiated labor/man-
agement violence task force, the hospital added metal detectors 
at two methadone clinics that it runs, where drug dependency 
and the anxiety of waiting in line had historically led to violent 
incidents. In a survey, patients reported that the metal detectors 
make them feel safer. 


To provide a calmer environment for its patients, the hospital has 
reduced noise by limiting overhead pages and trying to reduce 
the instability and stress that can surround a shift change. For 
example, the children’s unit runs a group activity at shift change 
time, led by someone who is not changing shift.


Providence Hospital’s sensory rooms provide a 
soothing environment for patients. The cabinet con-
tains a variety of activities that can help to reduce a 
patient’s stress and aggression.


Holy Cross Hospital: a layered code system to drive appropriate response


Holy Cross Hospital—an urban acute care hospital in Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida—recognized that a single code (such as “code gray”) does not 
capture the wide range of situations that could involve a potentially violent 
person. A uniform code could lead to responses that are excessive in some 
situations but insufficient in others. Thus, the safety team developed a more 
precise set of “subcodes” to indicate the degree of assistance needed. They 
use three levels:


• Code Assist: calls for one security officer.


• Code Strong: calls for more support staff, including first responders, the 
nurse supervisor, and engineering staff. Engineering staff have been a 
helpful addition because they are available around the clock and can 
typically stop what they are doing and respond immediately. All of these 
responders take 8-hour training on crisis intervention and de-escalation.


• Code Strong with Intensivist: calls for the same response as a Code 
Strong, but also summons an intensive care physician who can 
immediately order medication or physical restraints if needed. Intensive 
care physicians are on site all day and night, and their participation in code response has eliminated what was previously 
a 20- to 60-minute wait that could leave caregivers vulnerable to an actively violent patient who needs more than just 
de-escalation.


This nuanced code system works in conjunction with several other controls. For example, Holy Cross has a cross-organizational 
Violence Prevention Advisory committee that reviews every Code Strong event and can choose to flag the electronic chart of 
a patient who repeatedly demonstrates violent behavior. The hospital’s electronic medical record software is connected to a 


“Here at Holy Cross, we have a 
strong commitment to the safety of 
our patients and our associates. We 
want the staff to always feel their 
calls for assistance for their personal 
safety will be heard and acted on. The 
healthcare world is ever changing: 
providing a safe workplace is a lead-
ing initiative for us.”


—Taren Ruggiero, Vice President and 
Chief Nursing Officer, Holy Cross Hospital 







23 


marker on the ED tracking board that is visible 
if one of the flagged patients checks in, thus 
alerting staff to the presence of those patients. 
Holy Cross has also configured its software to 
scan the daily census; if any of these particu-
lar patients are on site, the system generates 
an email alert to key staff. Holy Cross has 
also developed a protocol to protect patients 
who may be domestic violence victims—for 
instance, by not giving out information about 
them over the phone. Executives, security staff, 
and others often tell people that violence is not 
tolerated. The message: “We love our patients, 
but patients have responsibilities too.”


Altogether, Holy Cross’s program has generated 
positive results. The hospital has experienced 
an increase in the number of Code Strong calls, 
likely due to staff becoming familiar with the 
system and recognizing that it generates a 
response. A recent “Culture of Safety” survey 
found that staff have a substantially stronger perception of safety than they did a few years ago. Holy Cross’s parent organiza-
tion, Trinity Health, is using Holy Cross’s program as a model for other facilities nationwide. 


Green highlighting and a “Yes” indicator in the left column on Holy 
Cross’s electronic patient tracking board indicate when a patient in the 
ED has a history of violence against staff.


St. John Medical Center: access control and color-coding


Like other leaders in workplace violence prevention, St. John Medical Center has employed a variety of engineering controls 
and administrative controls throughout its facilities. Engineering controls include installing access controls on the ICU, ED, and 
pediatric areas, and employing panic buttons in most of the hospital’s nursing units and all ICUs. In addition to the fixed-place 
alarms, nurse calls can now be sent from mobile devices, which set off alarms at the nurses’ station. The ED’s reception area is 
enclosed and locked, and the department is provided with impact-resistant glass.


Frequent patient assessments help staff assess risks. Staff assess patients on admission and every two hours thereafter using 
a risk assessment tool the hospital adapted from an Australian model found in a workbook called “Prevention and Manage-
ment of Aggression in Health Services” (see “Resources” on page 24). For patients deemed to pose a risk of violence, St. John 
developed a “code orange” system in which orange magnets are placed on doorframes as a warning. Upon seeing an orange 
magnet, nurses look up a patient’s history and enter the room with a team or a security officer, depending on the patient’s 
care plan. Support staff consult the nurse’s station to learn the appropriate protocol.







24 


Resources


Author Title Description URL
Patient assessment


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


High Risk Screening Sample project plan to help 
healthcare facilities put a 
process in place to screen 
high-risk patients. This re-
source is part of the Asso-
ciation’s Workplace Violence 
Toolkit.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
ENAactionplan9.doc


Veterans Health Administra-
tion


Directive 2010-053 Patient assessment checklist, 
criteria, and other require-
ments related to identifying 
and caring for patients at 
risk of violent or disruptive 
behavior.


http://www.va.gov/
vhapublications/
ViewPublication.asp?pub_
ID=2341 


WorkSafe Victoria A Handbook for Workplaces: 
Prevention and Manage-
ment of Aggression in Health 
Services


Handbook with a behavior 
assessment form (page 76) 
that St. John Medical Center 
adapted to create its patient 
risk assessment.


https://www.worksafe.vic.
gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_
file/0012/10209/Aggression_
in_health_care.pdf


Other control and prevention strategies


OSHA Guidelines for Preventing 
Workplace Violence for 
Healthcare and Social Service 
Workers


Voluntary guidelines for 
reducing workplace violence 
in the healthcare and social 
service sectors, including lists 
of possible controls.


www.osha.gov/Publications/
osha3148.pdf


Facilities Guidelines Institute 2014 Guidelines for Design 
and Construction of Hospitals 
and Outpatient Facilities


Design and construction 
guidelines that may help 
reduce the risk of workplace 
violence by promoting safer 
lighting, building layout, 
furniture, and more.


http://www.fgiguidelines.org/
guidelines2014_HOP.php


The Joint Commission Improving Patient and 
Worker Safety: Opportunities 
for Synergy, Collaboration 
and Innovation


Monograph discussing the 
connections between patient 
safety and worker safety. 
Section 3.4 provides informa-
tion and case studies about 
violence prevention.


http://www.jointcommission.
org/assets/1/18/TJC- 
ImprovingPatientAnd 
WorkerSafety-Monograph.pdf


CDC and NIOSH Violence: Occupational Haz-
ards in Hospitals


Brochure designed to 
increase awareness of risk 
factors and prevention strate-
gies for violence in hospitals.


http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/
docs/2002-101



https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan9.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan9.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan9.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan9.doc

https://www.worksafe.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/10209/Aggression_in_health_care.pdf

https://www.worksafe.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/10209/Aggression_in_health_care.pdf

https://www.worksafe.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/10209/Aggression_in_health_care.pdf

https://www.worksafe.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/10209/Aggression_in_health_care.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

http://www.fgiguidelines.org/guidelines2014_HOP.php

http://www.fgiguidelines.org/guidelines2014_HOP.php

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/18/TJC-ImprovingPatientAndWorkerSafety-Monograph.pdf

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/18/TJC-ImprovingPatientAndWorkerSafety-Monograph.pdf

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/18/TJC-ImprovingPatientAndWorkerSafety-Monograph.pdf

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/18/TJC-ImprovingPatientAndWorkerSafety-Monograph.pdf

http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2002-101/

http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2002-101/





25 


7. Safety and Health Training


Training is a key component of a successful workplace 
violence prevention program. It helps healthcare workers 
learn to recognize potential hazards and learn how to protect 
themselves, their coworkers, and their patients. Training and 
reinforcement though role-playing and other means can 
provide employees with strategies that increase their confi-
dence for handling potentially violent incidents before they 
arise and reduce the likelihood of violent incidents occurring. 
Education also reinforces that violence is not an acceptable 
part of healthcare work. 


“Practicing strategies before issues occur helps 
ensure the safety of all involved and the best 
outcome for the patient(s).”


—Papa and Venella, 201312


Objectives and Topics
Training programs are most effective when they are designed 
specifically for a facility or unit’s particular risk profile—for 
example, training ED nurses within the ED and focusing on 
the most common threats they face at their facility. Organi-
zations can study, adapt, and combine elements of model 
programs that are relevant to their facilities’ conditions and 
needs.


Common training objectives include increased confidence 
among workers in de-escalating aggressive behavior and in 
managing aggressive behavior when it occurs. Specific topics 
might include:


• A review of the facility’s workplace violence prevention 
policies and procedures.


• Policies and procedures for obtaining a patient’s risk profile 
before admission, when feasible.


• Risk factors that cause or contribute to assaults.


• Policies and procedures for assessing and documenting 
patients’ or clients’ change in behavior.


• Location, operation, and coverage of safety devices such 
as alarm systems, along with the required maintenance 
schedules and procedures.


• Recognition of escalating behavior, warning signs, or situa-
tions that may lead to assaults.


• De-escalation techniques to prevent or defuse volatile situ-
ations or aggressive behavior.


• Approaches to deal with aggressive behavior in people 
other than patients and clients, such as relatives, visitors, or 
intruders.


• Proper use of safe rooms or areas where staff can find 
shelter from a violent incident.


• A standard response action plan for violent situations, 
typically referred to as “codes,” including the availability of 
assistance, response to alarm systems, and communication 
procedures.


• More generally, what to do in case of a workplace vio-
lence incident—i.e., responsibilities of others who are not 
directly responding to the event.


• Self-defense procedures where appropriate.


• Progressive behavior control methods, including when and 
how to use medications or physical restraints properly and 
safely when necessary.


• Ways to protect oneself and coworkers, including working 
in teams when necessary.


• Importance of getting early assistance.


• Policies and procedures for reporting and recordkeeping.


• Policies and procedures for obtaining medical care, coun-
seling, workers’ compensation, or legal assistance after a 
violent episode or injury.


General recommendations for training content include:


• Add information about facility-specific policies, procedures, 
and potential risk factors when using existing packaged 
training programs.


• Ensure that training and policies cover all types of work-
place violence, not just violence by patients against 
employees. Many training programs, policies, and proce-
dures focus exclusively on the latter. These programs fail 
to address employee-on-employee or employee-on-patient 
violence, robbery and theft (such as theft of drugs, or of 
hospital or employee property), and domestic violence.


• Provide frequent opportunities to practice skills and dem-
onstrate competency.


12  Papa, A., and Venella, J. 2013. Workplace violence in healthcare: Strategies for advocacy. The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing. 18(1): 
Manuscript 5.







26 


Who Gets Trained
All workers who are reasonably expected to interact with 
patients, including admissions staff, can benefit from work-
place violence prevention training. So can supervisors and 
managers. Other support staff can benefit from awareness 
about their responsibilities in the event of a workplace 
violence incident. Affiliated physicians, temporary staff, and 
contract workers should receive the same training as perma-
nent staff, and new and reassigned workers should receive an 
initial orientation that includes training in the prevention of 
workplace violence. 


Because duties, work locations, and patient interactions vary 
by job, violence prevention training can be more effective if 
it is customized to address the needs of different groups of 
healthcare personnel, particularly:


• Nurses and other direct caregivers


• ED staff


• Support staff (e.g., dietary, housekeeping, maintenance)


• Security personnel


• Supervisors and managers 


Nurses and other direct caregivers
Nurses, nursing assistants, mental health workers, and other 
direct caregivers spend much of their time interacting directly 
with patients, and they are often the first to encounter dif-
ficult situations. They can benefit from training in: 


• The facility’s workplace violence prevention plan


• Warning signal recognition


• Threat assessment


• Working with patients with violent behavior


• Violence escalation cycle and violence-predicting factors


• Verbal and physical de-escalation techniques


• Self-defense, with a hands-on component 


Direct caregivers can also benefit from specialized violence 
prevention training tailored to the specific patient popu-
lations they work with—for example, behavioral health 
patients, the developmentally disabled, and geriatric patients 
with Alzheimer’s and other forms of dementia.


Emergency department staff
ED nurses experience physical assaults at one of the high-
est rates of all nurses. Nurses in the ED may find themselves 


exposed to patients who have a history of violence, aggres-
sive behavior associated with certain psychotic disorders, 
substance abuse, dementia, and other conditions. The ED is a 
fast-paced, unpredictable environment; when patients arrive, 
the staff must treat them—sometimes without knowing 
much about their history or what drug(s) might be influenc-
ing their behavior. Many EDs, particularly those in large urban 
settings, treat patients who are themselves the victims of 
traumatic violence, and the background level of violence 
in the community can spill over into the ED. Moreover, the 
experience of traumatic injury or mental illness, pain, and 
the anxiety of an emergency room visit can trigger aggres-
sive reactions. In addition to general training common to 
all direct caregivers, ED nurses should be trained in safety 
procedures related to restricting access or movement in the 
physical environment, such as locking access doors to prevent 
secondary violence from retribution in cases of gang violence 
or domestic violence. 


Support staff
Housekeeping, food service, maintenance, and other support 
staff can benefit from workplace violence prevention train-
ing, especially if their duties take them to patient areas or if 
they otherwise have contact with patients. All staff should be 
aware of systems that rely on environmental symbols, such 
as color codes to convey safety information about individual 
patients, as well as what code situations announced over 
the public address system (e.g., “code gray”) mean and how 
they should respond. Other safety precautions include staying 
a safe distance from the patients, not leaving maintenance 
tools unattended, and not allowing patients to reach for 
gowns and bags with strings while delivering laundry. 


Security personnel 
Security personnel need to know the layout of the facility, 
including entrance and exit points and how to restrict or con-
trol access. They need specific training on the unique needs 
of providing security in the healthcare environment, including 
the psychological components of handling aggressive and 
abusive behavior, and ways to handle aggression and defuse 


“Security training must balance the need to pro-
vide patient-focused care with the need to protect 
one’s personal safety.”


—The Joint Commission, 200913


13  The Joint Commission. 2009. Preventing violence in the emergency department—ensuring staff safety. Environment of Care News. 
12(10): 1–3,11.







27 


hostile situations. They also need training in policies and pro-
cedures detailing how and when security personnel interact 
with patients during code situations. 


Supervisors and managers
Supervisors and managers must be trained to recognize high-
risk situations, reduce safety hazards, encourage employees 
to report incidents, and ensure that employees seek appro-
priate care after experiencing a violent incident. Additional 
training should involve the process for post-event manage-
ment of employees who were directly involved in a workplace 
violence event.


Format and Frequency
Safety training can take several forms:


• Classroom plus hands-on instruction. Workplace 
violence prevention training has traditionally taken the 
form of classroom instruction (e.g., seminars) combined 
with active “learning by doing” in the form of role-plays, 
simulations, and drills. Interactive exercises make training 
more effective by allowing participants to practice and ap-
ply the skills they have learned, such as de-escalation and 
self-defense techniques.


• Just-in-time training. Some facilities have designated 
one or more trainers or “safety coaches” for each unit or 
floor. These individuals can offer guidance and coaching in 
real-time—for example, if they see a colleague struggling 
to de-escalate an agitated patient. They can also run ad 
hoc or scheduled refresher sessions, which may be particu-
larly useful and relevant to workers because the training 
takes place in their own work environment. 


• Web-based training. This increasingly popular approach 
offers fidelity of presentation and automated documenta-
tion while requiring minimal supervision and allowing 
flexible timing and pace. However, it does not provide 
hands-on practice with physical skills, which are widely 
considered to be an essential element of many programs. 
Thus, Web-based training may be more effective when 
paired with live instruction and practice—a “blended” 
approach. The National Institute for Occupational Safety 


and Health (NIOSH) has developed a Web-based train-
ing program (www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/violence/train-
ing_nurses.html) to help healthcare workers learn about 
the key elements of a comprehensive workplace violence 
prevention program, how organizational systems impact 
workplace violence, how to apply individual strategies, and 
how to develop skills for preventing and responding to 
workplace violence.


Regardless of format, healthcare organizations often find it 
helpful to have a team of trained workplace violence preven-
tion trainers in-house. These trainers can attend a more 
in-depth course offered by an outside training provider, then 
become certified to train others.


Many healthcare organizations have improved results by 
providing annual refresher training for their direct caregiv-
ers. In high-risk settings and institutions, refresher training 
may be needed more often, perhaps monthly or quarterly, 
to effectively reach and inform all workers. For example, in a 
review that evaluated the effect of nonviolent crisis interven-
tion (NCI) training on the number of code purple (security) 
incidents in an acute-care tertiary ED, the authors expected 
code purples to decrease as progressively larger numbers of 
staff were NCI trained. However, this did not occur. Rather, 
reduction of code purples was correlated with the number of 
staff who had been recently trained (in the past 90 days), im-
plying a temporary effect of NCI training and suggesting that 
more frequent training is needed.14 Managers can increase 
participation by compensating employees for the time they 
spend in training and by making the training available for all 
shifts.


Evaluating and Improving Training 
Programs
All training programs should include an evaluation compo-
nent. At least annually, the team or coordinator responsible 
for the program should review the content, methods, and 
frequency of training. Program evaluation may involve 
supervisor and employee interviews, testing, observing, and 
reviewing reports of how staff have responded to threatening 
situations. 


14  Gillam, S. 2014. The quantitative impact of nonviolent crisis intervention training on the incidence of violence in a large hospital emer-
gency department: A quality improvement study. Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on Violence in the Health Sector: 
Towards Safety, Security and Wellbeing for All.116–120.



http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/violence/training_nurses.html

http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/violence/training_nurses.html





28 


Active Shooter Preparedness 
An increasing number of healthcare facilities have begun to incorporate violence-themed situations called “active shoot-
er” scenarios into their training programs. An active shooter is a person who is actively engaged in killing or attempting 
to kill people in a confined and populated area, such as a hospital ED. The shooter might target specific people or choose 
victims randomly. Scenarios that could lead to an active shooter situation might include rival gang members being treated 
in the ED, an estranged ex-husband visiting the maternity unit in violation of a restraining order, or a former patient or 
family member distraught over perceived misdiagnosis or mistreatment of a relative. 


Although active shooter situations are rare, they can have a huge impact on a healthcare organization and the broader 
community. Because these situations are often over quickly before law enforcement arrives, healthcare organizations 
must prepare and train their staff to respond appropriately. The Joint Commission identifies the following steps that 
healthcare organizations can take to prepare for active shooter incidents:15 


• Involve local law enforcement in your plans


• Develop a communication plan


• Assess and prepare your building


• Establish processes and procedures to ensure patient and employee safety


• Train and drill employees


• Plan for post-event activities


Some hospitals have obtained funding for active shooter exercises through grants from the Department of Homeland 
Security. See “Resources” on page 33 for more information about active shooter preparedness.


15  The Joint Commission. 2014. Preparing for active shooter situations. Quick Safety. Issue Four (July). http://www.jointcommission.org/
assets/1/23/Quick_Safety_Issue_Four_July_2014_Final.pdf.



http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick_Safety_Issue_Four_July_2014_Final.pdf

http://www.jointcommission.org/assets/1/23/Quick_Safety_Issue_Four_July_2014_Final.pdf





29 


Examples


Veterans Health Administration: standardizing training nationwide


The VHA has been a leader in the training and education in prevention and management of disruptive behaviors. VHA work-
place violence training comprises four modules: 


• Overview and introduction


• Verbal de-escalation


• Personal safety skills (including physical “break-away” or self-defense skills)


• Therapeutic containment


All employees complete mandatory introductory training, and facilities assign additional modules to each employee based on 
the type and severity of risk for exposure to disruptive and unsafe behaviors. Each VHA facility has certified trainers on staff, 
and they track all training in a national training database. Employees assigned to additional levels of training undergo bien-
nial skills assessments by certified trainers. If unable to pass these assessments, they must repeat the training. Employees can 
request additional training above their assigned level.


Saint Agnes Hospital: “train the trainer” and creative approaches


Training for associates at Saint Agnes Hospital addresses de-escalation, personal protection, bullying, domestic violence, 
and active shooter scenarios. In addition to introductory training for most associates, security staff and workers in high-
risk areas—the ED, a “co-attending” unit for patients being treated for a medical diagnosis who also have behavioral 
challenges—receive six-hour nonviolent crisis intervention (de-escalation) training. Patient sitters also receive six-hour 
training; they are certified nursing assistants who are assigned to stay with a patient at all times, based on the patient’s 
needs (for example, suicidal patients and right-sided stroke victims). Instruction is delivered by a group of Saint Agnes staff 
who have been certified as trainers. Managers purposely selected a diverse group of trainers—bedside nurses, team leaders, 
nursing supervisors, human resources staff, critical care personnel, medical/surgical staff, and security workers—with the aim 
of providing mentors, coaches, and “champions” throughout the hospital.


Saint Agnes has made efforts to extend training to support staff and affiliates (e.g., contractors), and they use a variety of 
methods to keep the message fresh. For example, ED staff go through a panic button scavenger hunt as part of their orienta-
tion, and the staff newsletter includes information about a “code of the month.” 


New Hampshire Hospital: de-escalation, trauma-informed care, and mental health training for 
security officers


As part of its “Staying Safe” program, New Hampshire Hospital places a strong emphasis on de-escalation training to mini-
mize the need for physical intervention. This behavioral health hospital offers nonviolent crisis intervention and de-escalation 
training, along with custom modules based on best practices and research. All staff receive some form of training, including 
administrators. Trauma-informed care training has become mandatory for nursing staff, and all staff receive training on cultural 
diversity and boundaries. All campus police officers must go through five weeks of mental health worker education in addition 
to their state police training.







30 


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital: training for all staff


Providence Behavioral Health Hospital provides all medical and nursing staff, mental health workers, and security person-
nel with nonviolent de-escalation training. They also use a Massachusetts Department of Mental Health–sponsored training 
program called the Collaboration, Assessment, Recovery Environment (CARE) curriculum. CARE is a four-hour training focused 
on restraints and seclusion. The hospital makes de-escalation training available to workers in support services, such as dietary 
and housekeeping. The hospital has in-house trainers who are certified by an outside training provider, which allows for more 
flexibility in scheduling. Sessions are offered three or four times per month, and staff take an annual refresher. 


The hospital pays for hands-on self-defense training for everyone whose work takes them out into the community, and it also 
offers “community awareness” training that focuses on situational awareness. Managers get specialized training on work-
place violence too, including information about the investigation process and other legal matters related to filing workplace 
violence reports.


Citizens Memorial Health Care: de-escalation training in long-term care


Citizens Memorial Hospital/Citizens Memorial Health Care 
Foundation (CMH) operates six skilled nursing homes, a 
hospital, and several other healthcare services in southwest 
Missouri. Nursing homes can pose risks for workplace vio-
lence, particularly when caring for patients with Alzheimer’s 
disease and/or dementia, which can lead to confusion and 
combativeness. As part of its comprehensive safety and 
health management system, CMH provides nonviolent crisis 
intervention and de-escalation training to all workers in its 
Alzheimer’s and dementia special care units, as well as to 
security staff and workers in certain other areas. As a result 
of these efforts and others, CMH has kept its injury rates and 
turnover rates below the national average. CMH’s continu-
ous improvement shows how many of the same techniques 
that can be used to prevent violence in hospitals can also be 
applied to long-term care. 


CMH incorporates role-play into its nonviolent crisis 
intervention and de-escalation training.


Sheppard-Pratt Health System: training in real time


Sheppard-Pratt has offered de-escalation training and annual refreshers to workers for many years, but its trainers have 
found that they can achieve even stronger results by offering training directly at the unit level throughout the year. This large 
behavioral health system has a team of trained trainers embedded in units throughout its facilities. These trainers, known as 
the “Green Team” because they wear lanyards with green beads, are available to coach and mentor their colleagues in real 
time. For example, a trainer might step in to help a colleague who is having difficulty with charting or with de-escalating a 
patient. They also provide monthly refresher training to their colleagues regarding holds. Real-time, in-unit training offers the 
benefit of realistic demonstration, an immediate opportunity to apply a skill, and the relevance that comes with learning in 
one’s actual work environment.


Active shooter training at Mercy Medical Center 


In 2015, Mercy Medical Center in Springfield, Massachusetts, conducted a full-scale active shooter exercise with three sce-
narios: gang violence in the ED, a behavioral health escalation incident, and an estranged ex-boyfriend in the maternity unit. 
Staff from many units participated in the drill, including managers and staff from the ED, the Family Life Center, Providence 







31 


Behavioral Health Hospital, the security team, and human resources. The hospital coordinated the drill with the Massachusetts 
State Police and Springfield city police (including their Special Weapons and Tactics [SWAT] team), local tactical EMTs, and af-
filiated private security companies. Observers included other regional hospitals, school and college security, the Massachusetts 
Emergency Management Agency, the Homeland Security Council, long-term care facility representatives, and the Air Force 
Reserves, all seeking to learn and apply information to their own exercises. Evaluators noted participants’ situational aware-
ness, law enforcement response, communication, emergency operations, and treatment and triage. The exercise was followed 
by an open and blame-free evaluation that identified opportunities for improvement.


Mercy Medical Center’s active shooter drill involved a large number of people in realistic scenarios—fake blood and all. 


Active shooter training at Centennial Hills Hospital


At Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center in Las Vegas, Nevada, the Emergency Preparedness and Trauma Coordinator 
designed and developed an active shooter exercise in collaboration with the Las Vegas Metro Police MACTAC (Multi Assault 
Counter Terrorism Action Capabilities) initiative and experts from the Nevada National Security Site. The exercise was called 
Operation Wilcox, in memory of a victim of a 2014 Las Vegas–area active shooter incident, and it received national attention. 
The exercise was part of Centennial Hills’s innovative LIVE 
Project, which provides training, education, resources, and 
options for healthcare workers on how to handle an active 
shooter. “LIVE” is an acronym that stands for:


• L—Leave (or Lockdown). Have an escape route and 
plan in mind. Leave your belongings behind. Lock down in 
your area.


• I—Invisible. Hide in an area out of the shooter’s view. 
Block entry to your hiding place.


• V—Violence. As a last resort and if your life is in danger, 
use violence to stop the shooter.


• E—Evade. Evading detection from the shooter is the best 
option.


The LIVE Project was presented at The Joint Commission’s 
2015 Emergency Preparedness Conference, and it includes a 
video that the hospital produced. 


Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s LIVE Project 
trains healthcare workers on how to deal with an active 
shooter. The training includes a video, from which this 
screenshot was taken.







32 


Resources


Author Title Description URL
General training materials


NIOSH Workplace Violence Preven-
tion for Nurses


Free Web-based training 
program to help healthcare 
workers learn about the key 
elements of a comprehensive 
workplace violence prevention 
program, how organizational 
systems impact workplace 
violence, how to apply 
individual strategies, and 
how to develop skills for 
preventing and responding 
to workplace violence.


http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/
topics/violence/training_
nurses.html


International Labour Organi-
zation, International Council 
of Nurses, World Health 
Organization, and Public 
Services International


Framework Guidelines for 
Addressing Workplace 
Violence in the Health Sector: 
The Training Manual


Workplace violence training 
manual for the healthcare 
industry, developed by 
a group of international 
organizations.


http://www.ilo.org/
wcmsp5/groups/public/-
--ed_protect/---protrav/-
--safework/documents/
instructionalmaterial/
wcms_108542.pdf


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


Emergency Department 
Workplace Violence Training: 
Competency Documentation


Checklist for evaluating an 
employee’s comprehension 
and competency as it relates 
to workplace violence pre-
vention. This resource is part 
of the Association’s Work-
place Violence Toolkit.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
Competency_V1.doc


The Joint Commission Preventing Violence in the 
Emergency Department: 
Ensuring Staff Safety


Article on violence prevention 
in EDs.


Available for purchase at: 
http://www.ingentaconnect. 
com/content/jcaho/09/ 
00000012/00000010/
art00001


The Joint Commission Sentinel Event Issue 45: 
Preventing Violence in the 
Healthcare Setting


Sentinel Event Alert identify-
ing underlying causes and 
ways to reduce violence.


http://www.jointcommission.
org/sentinel_event_alert_
issue_45_preventing_
violence_in_the_health_
care_setting_/default.aspx


Health Services Executive 
Ireland


Linking Services and Safety: 
Together Creating Safer 
Places of Service


Findings and recommenda-
tions from a working group 
on violence and aggression 
in the healthcare sector.


http://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/
safetywellbeing/policyteam/
strategyworkrelated 
Aggression.pdf 



http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms_108542.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Competency_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Competency_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Competency_V1.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/Competency_V1.doc

http://www.jointcommission.org/sentinel_event_alert_issue_45_preventing_violence_in_the_health_care_setting_/default.aspx

http://www.jointcommission.org/sentinel_event_alert_issue_45_preventing_violence_in_the_health_care_setting_/default.aspx

http://www.jointcommission.org/sentinel_event_alert_issue_45_preventing_violence_in_the_health_care_setting_/default.aspx

http://www.jointcommission.org/sentinel_event_alert_issue_45_preventing_violence_in_the_health_care_setting_/default.aspx

http://www.jointcommission.org/sentinel_event_alert_issue_45_preventing_violence_in_the_health_care_setting_/default.aspx

http://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/safetywellbeing/policyteam/strategyworkrelatedAggression.pdf

http://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/safetywellbeing/policyteam/strategyworkrelatedAggression.pdf

http://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/safetywellbeing/policyteam/strategyworkrelatedAggression.pdf

http://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/safetywellbeing/policyteam/strategyworkrelatedAggression.pdf





33 


Author Title Description URL
Active shooter preparedness


Hospital Association of 
Southern California


Active Shooter Drill Materials Table of resources for plan-
ning an active shooter drill.


http://www.hasc.org/active-
shooter-drill-resources


Healthcare and Public Health 
Sector Coordinating Council


Active Shooter Planning and 
Response in a Healthcare 
Setting


Guidance document intended 
to help healthcare facilities 
prevent, respond to, and re-
cover from an active shooter 
event.


https://www.fbi.gov/about-
us/cirg/active-shooter-and-
mass-casualty-incidents/
active-shooter-planning-and-
response-in-a-healthcare-
setting


U.S. Department of Health 
and Human Services, U.S. 
Department of Homeland 
Security, Federal Bureau of 
Investigation, and Federal 
Emergency Management 
Agency


Incorporating Active Shooter 
Incident Planning into Health 
Care Facility Emergency 
Operation Plans


Report designed to encour-
age facilities to consider 
how to better prepare for an 
active shooter incident.


http://www.phe.gov/
Preparedness/planning/
Documents/active-shooter-
planning-eop2014.pdf


MESH Surviving an Active Shooter 
in a Healthcare Environment


Training video based on 
guidelines established by the 
Department of Homeland 
Security.


https://vimeo.com/meshco-
alition/review/108575641/
dd69fdb233


The Joint Commission Quick Safety: Preparing for 
Active Shooter Situations


Advisory article on active 
shooter situations. This 
“Quick Safety” feature is 
not a standard or a Sentinel 
Event Alert, but rather an 
effort to raise awareness 
and provide assistance to 
Joint Commission–accredited 
organizations.


http://www.jointcommission.
org/issues/article.aspx?Article
=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15a
XCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTK
fNWE%3D


California Hospital Associa-
tion


Hospital Code Silver Activa-
tion; Active Shooter Planning 
Checklist


Checklist to help plan for an 
active shooter event.


http://www.calhospitalpre-
pare.org/sites/main/files/
file-attachments/cha_active_
shooter_checklist_12-19-12.
doc


New York State Health Emer-
gency Preparedness Coalition


Active Shooter: Tools/Re-
sources


Web page with resources 
related to active shooter 
training.


https://www.urmc.
rochester.edu/emergency-
preparedness/preparedness-
and-response-tools-
resources/active-shooter.aspx



http://www.hasc.org/active-shooter-drill-resources

http://www.hasc.org/active-shooter-drill-resources

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cirg/active-shooter-and-mass-casualty-incidents/active-shooter-planning-and-response-in-a-healthcare-setting

http://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/Documents/active-shooter-planning-eop2014.pdf

http://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/Documents/active-shooter-planning-eop2014.pdf

http://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/Documents/active-shooter-planning-eop2014.pdf

http://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/Documents/active-shooter-planning-eop2014.pdf

https://vimeo.com/meshcoalition/review/108575641/dd69fdb233

https://vimeo.com/meshcoalition/review/108575641/dd69fdb233

https://vimeo.com/meshcoalition/review/108575641/dd69fdb233

http://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15aXCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTKfNWE%3D

http://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15aXCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTKfNWE%3D

http://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15aXCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTKfNWE%3D

http://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15aXCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTKfNWE%3D

http://www.jointcommission.org/issues/article.aspx?Article=h1wY0qOAjXjKMD9Np15aXCoh6JDFt4iaFxb%2F%2FTKfNWE%3D

http://www.calhospitalprepare.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/cha_active_shooter_checklist_12-19-12.doc

http://www.calhospitalprepare.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/cha_active_shooter_checklist_12-19-12.doc

http://www.calhospitalprepare.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/cha_active_shooter_checklist_12-19-12.doc

http://www.calhospitalprepare.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/cha_active_shooter_checklist_12-19-12.doc

http://www.calhospitalprepare.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/cha_active_shooter_checklist_12-19-12.doc

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/emergency-preparedness/preparedness-and-response-tools-resources/active-shooter.aspx

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/emergency-preparedness/preparedness-and-response-tools-resources/active-shooter.aspx

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/emergency-preparedness/preparedness-and-response-tools-resources/active-shooter.aspx

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/emergency-preparedness/preparedness-and-response-tools-resources/active-shooter.aspx

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/emergency-preparedness/preparedness-and-response-tools-resources/active-shooter.aspx





34 


8. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation


Recordkeeping and evaluation are vital to assessing the ef-
fectiveness of workplace violence prevention programs, iden-
tifying overlooked hazards, and determining what additional 
preventive measures could be adopted to ensure continual 
improvement. Regular review and reevaluation of policies 
and procedures, as well as additional review and evalua-
tion when new violent incidents occur, can help a workplace 
violence prevention committee keep its program current and 
responsive to changing circumstances and needs. 


Managers can improve program performance by sharing data 
with all employees. Discussion of safety trend data involves 
employees in safety awareness, creates opportunities for 
improvement, and provides motivation to achieve continuous 
improvement. Staff can help to identify deficiencies and offer 
suggestions to improve the program. Changes to the pro-
gram can be discussed at regular meetings of the workplace 
violence prevention committee, with union representatives, 
and with other employee stakeholder groups. 


Reporting 
Accurate records of incidents, assaults, hazards, corrective 
actions, patient histories, and training can help employers to:


• Determine the severity of their workplace violence prob-
lems


• Identify any trends or patterns in particular locations, job 
categories, or departments 


• Evaluate methods of hazard control


• Determine whether programs are working


• Identify training needs 


Accurate tracking of workplace violence depends on the ease 
with which employees can report a wide range of incidents 
or “near-misses”—and the extent to which employees per-
ceive that reporting will lead to positive results. 


Clearly defined policies and procedures that encourage work-
ers to report violent incidents or present their other concerns 
to management are one key to effective reporting. Examples 
include procedures to ensure that, pursuant to the OSH Act, 
employees are not retaliated against for voicing concerns 
or reporting injuries (Section 11c, 29 U.S.C. 660(c)). Section 
11(c) of the OSH Act and implementing regulations at 29 
CFR 1904.36 prohibit discrimination against an employee for 
reporting a work-related fatality, injury, or illness. Addition-
ally, reporting procedures must protect employee and patient 
confidentiality, either by presenting only aggregate data or 


by removing personal identifiers if individual data are used, 
so that individual data are only available to those staff who 
need to follow up on the incident. Prompt follow-up can also 
encourage more reporting because it shows employees that 
their reports are taken seriously. 


A variety of different report forms are used in different 
healthcare settings—some electronic, some paper-based—
and the content and format of the incident report can be 
tailored according to the facility needs. Some facilities use 
the same reporting system for all types of safety and health-
related incidents. See the “Resources” table at the end of 
this section for samples of violent incident report forms that 
can be customized to suit a facility’s needs.


Recordkeeping
OSHA’s regulation at 29 CFR 1904 requires private sector 
employers and many public sector employers, including many 
healthcare establishments, to record and report work-related 
injuries or illnesses. First, employers with 10 or fewer employ-
ees at all times during the calendar year are partially exempt 
from keeping records. Second, establishments in certain 
lower-hazard industries, including medical offices, are also 
partially exempt. 


Employers covered by Part 1904 must record work-related 
injuries and illnesses that result in:


• Death


• Days away from work


• Restricted work 


• Transfer to another job


• Medical treatment beyond first aid


• Loss of consciousness


• Significant injury or illness (e.g., cancer, chronic irrevers-
ible disease, fractured or broken bones, or a punctured 
eardrum) diagnosed by a physician or other licensed 
healthcare professional


Injuries and illnesses that are caused, contributed to, or 
significantly aggravated by events or exposures in the work 
environment are considered work-related for OSHA record-
keeping purposes. Work-relatedness is presumed for injuries 
and illnesses resulting from events or exposures in the work 
environment, unless an exception in Section 1904.5(b)(2) 
specifically applies.


Employers keep records using the following forms:







35 


• OSHA Form 300: Log of Work-Related Injuries and 
Illnesses. Employers covered by this regulation must 
record each recordable injury or illness on the OSHA 300 
Log. 


• OSHA Form 301: Injury and Illness Incident Report. 
For each case recorded on the 300 Log, employers must 
also prepare a 301 Incident Report. This form provides ad-
ditional detailed information about each case entered on 
the 300 Log. 


• OSHA Form 300A: Summary of Work-Related Inju-
ries and Illnesses. At the end of each year, employers are 
required to prepare a summary report of all injuries and 
illnesses on the 300 Log. Employers must post this form 
from February 1 through April 30 of the following year.


OSHA makes these forms available on its public website at 
www.osha.gov/recordkeeping and provides guidance on how 
to record cases. Employers may use alternate forms to record 
injuries and illnesses, provided such forms include the same 
information as the OSHA forms. Many healthcare facilities 
use their workers’ compensation forms as equivalent forms. 
All OSHA recordkeeping forms, or equivalent forms, must be 
maintained by the employer for five years. The recordkeep-
ing regulation also gives employees the right to review their 
injury and illness records, and employers must provide copies 
to employees within one business day of a request.


In accordance with Section 18 of the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act of 1970, 21 states and Puerto Rico have elected 


to develop and operate State Plans for occupational safety 
and health programs, which must be at least as effective as 
federal standards and must cover public sector workers (see 
the map below). Healthcare facilities in these states should 
consult their state programs for additional recordkeeping 
guidance. Five other states and the U.S. Virgin Islands have 
State Plans that only cover public sector employment.


A 2014 update to OSHA’s recordkeeping regulation requires 
all employers, including those in partially exempt industries, 
to report any work-related fatality to OSHA within 8 hours of 
learning of the incident. The revised regulation also requires 
all employers to report work-related inpatient hospitaliza-
tions, amputations, and losses of an eye to OSHA within 
24 hours of learning of the incident. These events can be 
reported to OSHA in person, by phone, or by using the report-
ing application on OSHA’s public website at www.osha.gov/
recordkeeping.


Program Evaluation
According to OSHA’s Guidelines for Preventing Workplace 
Violence for Healthcare and Social Service Workers, processes 
involved in a comprehensive workplace violence prevention 
program evaluation typically include:


• Establishing a uniform definition of violence, reporting 
system, and regular review of reports. 


• Reviewing reports and minutes from staff meetings on 
safety and security issues.


OSHA-Approved State Plans


WA


ID


CA


NV


AZ
NM


TX


OK
AR


MOKSCO


UT


WY


MT ND


SD


NE IA


MN


WI MI


IN


KY


TN


MS AL GA


SC


NC


VA


PA


NY


ME


WV


FL


OH
IL


LA


OR


NH


VT


MA


RI


NJ
DE


MD


DC


CT


AK


HI
Puerto Rico


Virgin Islands


OSHA-approved state plans 
(private sector and public employees)


OSHA-approved state plans (for public employees only; 
private sector employees are covered by Federal OSHA)


Federal OSHA (private sector 
and most federal employees)  Source: www.osha.gov/dcsp/osp



http://www.osha.gov/recordkeeping

http://www.osha.gov/recordkeeping

http://www.osha.gov/recordkeeping

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

http://www.osha.gov/dcsp/osp





36 


Bulletin boards in staff areas can help keep employ-
ees aware of program performance. For example, 
this board in a behavioral health hospital shows 
employees how they are doing in their quest to 
reduce the use of restraints and seclusion. 


• Analyzing trends and rates in illnesses, injuries, or fatalities 
caused by violence relative to initial or “baseline” rates 
and sharing data with management at all levels.


• Measuring improvement based on lowering the frequency 
and severity of workplace violence.


• Keeping up-to-date records of administrative and work 
practice changes to prevent workplace violence to evaluate 
how well they work.


• Surveying workers before and after making job or worksite 
changes or installing security measures or new systems to 
evaluate their effectiveness.


• Tracking recommendations through to completion.


• Keeping abreast of new strategies available to prevent and 
respond to violence as they develop.


• Surveying workers periodically to learn if they experience 
hostile situations while doing their jobs.


• Complying with OSHA and state requirements for record-
ing and reporting injuries, illnesses, and fatalities.


• Establishing an ongoing relationship with local law 
enforcement and educating them about the nature and 
challenges of working with potentially violent patients. 


• Requesting periodic law enforcement or outside consultant 
review of the worksite for recommendations on improving 
worker safety.


Records that should be analyzed during program evaluation 
include the following:


• OSHA Log of Work-Related Injuries and Illnesses and Injury 
and Illness Incident Report (OSHA Forms 300 and 301).


• Medical reports of work injury, workers’ compensation 
reports, and supervisors’ reports for each recorded assault.


• Records of incidents of abuse, reports filed by security 
personnel, and records of verbal attacks or aggressive 
behavior that may be threatening.


• Information recorded in the charts of patients with a his-
tory of past violence, drug abuse, or criminal activity.


• Documentation of minutes of safety meetings, records of 
hazard analyses, and corrective actions recommended and 
taken.


• Records of all training programs, their attendees, and the 
qualifications of the trainers.


Additional evaluation tips include:


• Using the same tools for re-evaluation as for the initial 
worksite assessment and hazard identification process, to 
allow for consistent data comparison 


• Working closely with the workplace violence prevention 
committee to learn what has worked in reducing violence 
or to learn about barriers that have been encountered.


• Examining only those incident reports that have been 
submitted since the last assessment took place, to avoid 
any overlap.


• Documenting all assessments as well as all changes intro-
duced based on the results.


• Making sure to assess the quality and effectiveness of 
training programs rather than simply noting their presence.


It is important to evaluate all aspects of the workplace vio-
lence program systematically. Regular review is necessary to 
identify deficiencies and opportunities for improvement. The 
core elements are all interrelated, and each is necessary to 
the success of the overall system.







37 


Examples


Ascension Health: standardizing reporting and definitions


Ascension Health is the nation’s largest Catholic and not-for-profit health system, with more than 150,000 associates at 
1,900 locations, including more than 100 hospitals. Ascension has standardized a definition of workplace violence across its 
locations, which has helped to ensure consistency in reporting and subsequent data analysis. The definition includes lateral 
(employee-on-employee) violence. Ascension defines workplace violence as: 


A threat or act of violent behavior, against oneself, another person, or a group that either results in or has a 
high likelihood of resulting in injury, death or psychological harm. These events may involve patients or family 
members, visitors, volunteers, vendors, physicians or other associates. Examples include bullying, hostility, 
intimidation, or use of physical force, weapons or power.


All Ascension hospitals use an electronic incident reporting system for occupational injuries and illnesses called DOERS 
(Dynamic Online Event Reporting System), which is intended to be a point of entry resource available from any computer con-
nected to the hospital’s intranet. Every associate can enter a report using a secure login. Each report is routed to the hospital’s 
occupational health staff, security director, and human resources. A report will also go to the associate’s manager. However, in 
events of workplace violence the associate can check a box to exclude his or her manager if the report concerns a sensitive is-
sue such as bullying by a supervisor. Hospital policies require managers to follow up promptly with any employee who submits 
a report.


By encouraging reporting, making it easy and accessible, providing confidentiality, following up on every report, and empha-
sizing a “no fear” environment, Ascension’s hospitals have increased the number of reports they receive, even while injury 
rates and incident severity have decreased or remained steady. For example, at St. John Medical Center in Tulsa, Oklahoma, 
reporting more than doubled when components of a comprehensive workplace violence prevention initiative were adopted; 
Saint Agnes Hospital in Baltimore, Maryland, saw a 75 percent increase in reports of workplace violence. Many of the reports 
involve “near-misses” or precursor events, which Ascension encourages associates to report because they provide opportuni-
ties for learning and proactive intervention.


Veterans Health Administration: systematic annual program evaluation


Every fiscal year, each VHA facility conducts a Workplace Behavioral Risk Assessment (WBRA) to evaluate the level of risk for 
behavioral incidents and the mandatory training processes. An interdisciplinary team conducts the WBRA, including the DBC 
chair, a Veterans Affairs (VA) police officer, the patient safety officer or his/her designee, and often a labor partner or union 
workplace safety representative. The team reviews DBC records, VA police data, and data from the VHA’s Automated Safety 
Incident Surveillance and Tracking System. After completing a WBRA, a facility receives guidance on continual improvement 
from national program staff.







38 


Resources


Author Title Description URL
Incident reporting and recordkeeping


Minnesota Department of 
Health


Metropolitan Hospital 
Compact: Management of 
Violence in the Healthcare/ 
Workplace Setting Template


Policy template and guide 
to implementing a violence 
prevention program. The ap-
pendices include the Threat 
or Event Assessment Tool, 
Incident Response Form, Do-
mestic Violence Assessment, 
Violence in the Workplace 
Response Algorithm, and 
Hospital Violence Data Track-
ing form.


http://www.health.state.
mn.us/patientsafety/
preventionofviolence/
mcviolenceprevtoolkit.pdf


Civil Service Employees Asso-
ciation, Local 1000, AFSCME, 
AFL-CIO


Workplace Violence Incident 
Report Form


Form for reporting a violent 
incident in the workplace.


https://cseany.org/wp-
content/uploads/2013/02/
Incident-Report.pdf


New York State Department 
of Labor


Workplace Violence Preven-
tion Program Guidelines


Appendix 2 contains a 
Workplace Violence Incident 
Report.


http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s


North Carolina Department 
of Labor, Occupational Safety 
and Health Division


Workplace Violence Preven-
tion Guidelines and Program 
for Health Care, Long Term 
Care and Social Services 
Workers


Guide to identifying risk 
factors and implementing an 
effective violence prevention 
program. The Violence Inci-
dent Report Form is included 
at the end.


http://www.nclabor.com/
osha/etta/indguide/ig51.pdf


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


Sample Safety Event Form Sample incident report filled 
out with example responses. 
This resource is part of the 
Association’s Workplace 
Violence Toolkit.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
SampleSafetyEventForm.pdf


Washington State Depart-
ment of Labor and Industries


Workplace Violence Aware-
ness and Prevention for 
Employers and Employees


Guidebook to help employ-
ers and employees recognize 
workplace violence, minimize 
and prevent it, and respond 
appropriately if it occurs. 
A sample assault incident 
report form is included in 
Appendix B.


http://www.lni.wa.gov/
IPUB/417-140-000.pdf


OSHA Injury and Illness Record-
keeping and Reporting 
Requirements


Official federal regulations, 
explanatory text, train-
ing forms, and answers to 
frequent questions regarding 
an employer’s obligations 
to record and report certain 
types of injuries that occur in 
the workplace.


www.osha.gov/
recordkeeping



http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/mcviolenceprevtoolkit.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/mcviolenceprevtoolkit.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/mcviolenceprevtoolkit.pdf

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/mcviolenceprevtoolkit.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Incident-Report.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Incident-Report.pdf

https://cseany.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Incident-Report.pdf

http://tinyurl.com/q6x5t3s

http://www.nclabor.com/osha/etta/indguide/ig51.pdf

http://www.nclabor.com/osha/etta/indguide/ig51.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/SampleSafetyEventForm.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/SampleSafetyEventForm.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/SampleSafetyEventForm.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/SampleSafetyEventForm.pdf

http://www.lni.wa.gov/IPUB/417-140-000.pdf

http://www.lni.wa.gov/IPUB/417-140-000.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/recordkeeping

https://www.osha.gov/recordkeeping





39 


Author Title Description URL
Other program evaluation resources


CDC and NIOSH Violence: Occupational Haz-
ards in Hospitals


Brochure designed to 
increase awareness of risk 
factors and prevention strate-
gies for violence in hospitals.


http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/
docs/2002-101


OSHA Guidelines for Preventing 
Workplace Violence for 
Healthcare and Social Service 
Workers


Voluntary guidelines for 
reducing workplace violence 
in the healthcare and social 
service sectors. Example 
checklists are included.


www.osha.gov/Publications/
osha3148.pdf


ECRI Institute Violence in Health Care 
Facilities


Risk analysis report that 
discusses workplace violence 
and prevention strategies.


https://www.ecri.org/
components/HRC/Pages/
SafSec3.aspx


Emergency Nurses Associa-
tion


ED Workplace Violence 
Project Plan: Post-Incident 
Response Program


Sample project plan for a 
post-incident response pro-
gram. This resource is part of 
the Association’s Workplace 
Violence Toolkit.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
ENAactionplan16.doc



http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2002-101

http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2002-101

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

https://www.ecri.org/components/HRC/Pages/SafSec3.aspx

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan16.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan16.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan16.doc

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/ENAactionplan16.doc





40 


9. General Resources


Author Title Description URL
OSHA Guidelines for Preventing 


Workplace Violence for 
Healthcare and Social Service 
Workers


Voluntary guidelines for 
reducing workplace violence 
in the healthcare and social 
service sectors.


www.osha.gov/Publications/
osha3148.pdf


Emergency Nurses 
Association


Workplace Violence Toolkit Toolkit with templates and 
examples designed specifi-
cally for the ED.


https://www.ena.org/
practice-research/Practice/
ViolenceToolKit/Documents/
toolkitpg1.htm


Minnesota Department 
of Health


Prevention of Violence in 
Health Care Toolkit


Website with a variety 
of resources and models 
for preventing violence in 
healthcare settings. Tools and 
examples have been devel-
oped by various hospitals and 
agencies and compiled by the 
state of Minnesota.


http://www.health.state.
mn.us/patientsafety/
preventionofviolence/toolkit.
html


The Joint Commission Emergency Management 
Resources—Violence/
Security/Active Shooter


Web page with resources on 
violence prevention.


http://www.jointcommission.
org/emergency_
management_resources_
violence_security_active_
shooter



https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.osha.gov/Publications/osha3148.pdf

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

https://www.ena.org/practice-research/Practice/ViolenceToolKit/Documents/toolkitpg1.htm

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/toolkit.html

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/toolkit.html

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/toolkit.html

http://www.health.state.mn.us/patientsafety/preventionofviolence/toolkit.html

http://www.jointcommission.org/emergency_management_resources_violence_security_active_shooter/

http://www.jointcommission.org/emergency_management_resources_violence_security_active_shooter/

http://www.jointcommission.org/emergency_management_resources_violence_security_active_shooter/

http://www.jointcommission.org/emergency_management_resources_violence_security_active_shooter/

http://www.jointcommission.org/emergency_management_resources_violence_security_active_shooter/









www.osha.gov  
(800) 321-OSHA (6742)





		Cover

		Table of Contents

		1. Introduction

		Workplace Violence Prevention:  A Pervasive Challenge

		About This Road Map



		2. Comprehensive Workplace Violence Prevention Programs: An Overview

		3. Getting Started

		Examples



		4. Management Commitment and Employee Participation

		Examples

		Resources



		5. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification

		Risk Factors for Workplace Violence in Healthcare

		Reviewing Records, Procedures, and Employee Input

		Patient Input

		Walkthrough Assessment 

		Examples

		Resources



		6. Hazard Prevention and Control

		Examples

		Resources



		7. Safety and Health Training

		Objectives and Topics

		Who Gets Trained

		Format and Frequency

		Evaluating and Improving Training Programs 

		Active Shooter Preparedness 

		Examples

		Resources



		8. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation

		Reporting 

		Recordkeeping 

		Program Evaluation 

		Examples

		Resources



		9. General Resources



		Back Cover

		OSHA 3827 WPV Roadmap 12-2015 rev.pdf

		Cover

		Table of Contents

		1. Introduction

		Workplace Violence Prevention:  A Pervasive Challenge

		About This Road Map



		2. Comprehensive Workplace Violence Prevention Programs: An Overview

		3. Getting Started

		Examples



		4. Management Commitment and Employee Participation

		Examples

		Resources



		5. Worksite Analysis and Hazard Identification

		Risk Factors for Workplace Violence in Healthcare

		Reviewing Records, Procedures, and Employee Input

		Patient Input

		Walkthrough Assessment 

		Examples

		Resources



		6. Hazard Prevention and Control

		Examples

		Resources



		7. Safety and Health Training

		Objectives and Topics

		Who Gets Trained

		Format and Frequency

		Evaluating and Improving Training Programs 

		Active Shooter Preparedness 

		Examples

		Resources



		8. Recordkeeping and Program Evaluation

		Reporting 

		Recordkeeping 

		Program Evaluation 

		Examples

		Resources



		9. General Resources



		Back Cover











COPY

Current Status: Active PolicyStat ID: 5208385 

Approved: 07/2018 
Review Due: 07/2021 
Document Area: Employee Policies 
Reg. Standards: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - WORKPLACE ANTI-
VIOLENCE 

PURPOSE 

POLICY 

I. All MHSC employees bear the responsibility of keeping our work environment free from violence, threats 

of violence, intimidation, bullying or other acts of aggression or potential violence. 

A. Any employee who witnesses or is the recipient of violence, threats of violence, intimidation, bullying 

or other acts of aggression that causes the employee to be fearful for his/her safety or the safety of 

those around her must be promptly reported to her supervisor, the Human Resources Department 

and Security. No employee will be subject to retaliation, intimidation or disciplined as a result of 

reporting violent threats, behavior, or other violent actions if the report was made in good faith. 

B. Any patient, patient family member or community member engaging in violence, threats of violence, 

intimidation, bullying or other acts of aggression, at MHSC or any of it's other campuses/property, 

that causes an employee or patient to be fearful for his/her safety must be promptly reported to 

Human Resources and Security. 

1. All acts will be investigated, and the appropriate action will be taken. 

2. Any such act or threatening behavior by an employee may result in disciplinary action up to and 

including termination. 

3. Such acts may also result in criminal prosecution as determined by appropriate law enforcement 

agencies. 

C. MHSC prohibits the possession of "dangerous or deadly weapons" by employees on hospital 

property at all times, including hospital parking lots and hospital vehicles. A "dangerous or deadly 

weapon" is one that is likely to cause death or great bodily harm. 

1.  However,  hospital security officers, who have been properly trained and certified to carry and 

use/discharge a Taser, may carry a Taser while on duty.   

2. The hospital reserves the right to inspect all belongings of employees on its premises, including 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC)  is committed to providing a safe, violence-free workplace 

for our employees.  MHSC has a zero tolerance policy for violence, threats, intimidation, bullying, or any other 

acts of aggression or violence. This policy also applies to MHSC off-campus sponsored functions and events. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - WORKPLACE ANTI-VIOLENCE. Retrieved 10/19/2020. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/5208385/. Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 2

33/55

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



COPY

briefcases, purses and handbags, gym bags, and personal vehicles on hospital property. 

D. Commitment to Safety 

1. Protecting the safety of our employees, patients and visitors is a top priority of MHSC. 

2. All MHSC employees have the responsibility to contribute to a safe work environment by using 

commonsense rules, safe practices and by notifying the employee's supervisor, HR and/or 

Security when safety and security issues are discovered. 

Approved: Board 6.6.18 

Attachments 

No Attachments 

Approval Signatures 

Approver Date 

Kristy Nielson: Chief Nursing Officer 07/2018 

Irene Richardson: CEO 07/2018 

Amber Fisk: HR Director 07/2018 

Suzan Campbell: In House Legal Counsel 07/2018 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES - WORKPLACE ANTI-VIOLENCE. Retrieved 10/19/2020. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/5208385/. Copyright © 2020 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 2

34/55



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Meeting – Minutes Draft 
Monday - October 19, 2020 
Zoom 
 
Trustee Members Attending by Zoom: Barbara Sowada & Ed Tardoni 
Members Present by Zoom: Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson, Suzan Campbell 
Guests by Zoom: Amy Lucy, Kari Quickenden, Tami Love, Ann Clevenger 
 
Ed called the meeting to order.  
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
I. MINUTES APPROVED: 
 

The motion to approve the September 28, 2020, meeting minutes was made by Barbara, second 
by Irene. Motion carried.  

 
II. TURNOVER REPORT: 
 

Amber reviewed the report reflecting updates through the end of August. She said we had a 
couple of calculations that were incorrect so the corrected information was included in the Board packet 
for October. She wanted to make sure everyone had the updated information for review. The Clinic 
turnover data is based on 110 employees and those that have left within the last month. Amber said we 
are in a great place especially during Covid. She said the average turnover rate for hospitals in the nation 
is 26% and during Covid it has gone up closer to 30%. She said we were at 15% pre-Covid and have kept 
ourselves to 20% or less since June. Amber said we continue to include the breakdown information for 
reasons and we encourage people to come back if possible. Barbara asked if we are experiencing Covid-
fatigue. Amber said she thinks we are seeing a lot of that. She said we are seeing a lot of people asking 
about our employee assistance program. Amber said we have had so many people reach out with so 
many resources so we are sending that out to staff as much as possible. Irene shared information from a 
recent article she read about Covid-fatigue regarding people retiring earlier than planned. She said there 
are so many changes with Covid and so much risk as well as the financial implications of everything. 
Mentally, it is draining. Irene referenced the information shared during the Person-Centered Care 
Workshops and said we don’t know how long this will last and we need to give staff the resources they 
need to take care of themselves. We are trying to wrap our minds around the changes but want to make 
sure we take care of our staff. Barbara said she trusts leaders are taking care of themselves and each 
other. Irene said we are trying. Barbara shared the story of the shoemaker. Ed said from the perspective 
of a civilian, when you look at the numbers, he can understand the disregard for the prevention 
measures from the general public. He said staff are actually warriors on the front. There have been 
some victories and he hopes that encourages people moving forward. Irene said she hopes we can ride 
out this storm because it has been a challenge. Ed said in this day in age our work is not where the office 
is, it is what we do unless you have direct patient impact. Irene said technology has had an impact.  

Irene shared the overall updated turnover information on the screen. Amber said the information 
is as of September 30. Receptionists are in the higher category. She said the data reflects January 1 
through September 30, 2020. Amber said people usually leave between their 91st and 365th day. We 
have about 530 employees currently. The rolling twelve-month overall rate is 18%. She reminded the 
Committee the national average with healthcare hospitals is 26% but with Covid has been closer to 30%. 

35/55



 

Amber said the rehire rate is 15%. Amber said the Clinic through September is not that different than 
last month. Ed said we are at 53 separations and it looks like it has tapered off but projecting to be 
middle-range on losses for the year compared to other years. Amy said she thinks we will be under 
because we are lower with terminations than we were at this time last year.  

 
III. OPEN POSITIONS: 
 

Amy reviewed openings and the current status. She said we have 13 positions open currently: 
12 FT and 1 PRN. We have some extra help for the ultrasound positions because they are typically hard 
to fill. It has been open since June.  
 
IV. EMPLOYEE POLICIES: 
 

a. Workplace Violence Prevention Policy – Amber said there is a lot of information in the 
packet sent by Suzan regarding workplace violence. Ed said what he sees is that he doesn’t see a bunch 
of changes from what they considered last time. Suzan has provided information and resources for a 
plan. Ed said his feeling is what the Committee needs to decide is does that plan have to be submitted to 
the Board for approval. He knows the policy cites the plan so there should be a plan before we submit 
the policy to the Board for approval so he is asking how is hospital staff coming along on developing this 
plan. Suzan said she suggested the HR Committee create a working group and she would provide 
information but there hasn’t been a group started and the plan hasn’t been started. Ed said the way he 
sees it is staff develops the plan and the committee asks questions and refines. He doesn’t see using 
committee time to develop the plan. Barbara agreed and said an ad-hoc committee as Suzan 
recommended would be very valuable. Irene agreed. Ed said the policy is basically on-hold until such 
time hospital staff can assure the Committee they have a plan in place. Ed asked Suzan if there is 
anything in this workplace violence policy before them that she thinks needs consideration today. Suzan 
said no, there have been no changes. Ed said we are ready to go once the hospital staff is ready to go 
and says they are ready to talk about the plan. Ed said the 135 pages of information should not go to the 
board packet. Irene said Amber should form the ad-hoc committee of Senior Leaders, Amber, anyone 
else from HR, Suzan, and Noreen Hove. There was discussion of including Stevie Nosich and Des Padilla. 
Barbara suggested David Beltran. Kari suggested a front-line nurse from the ED or ICU. Amber suggested 
the Clinical Coordinators from those areas. Amber will set up the committee and schedule a Zoom 
meeting.  

b. Others needing discussion - Amber said the only other thing she had were a couple of e-
mails back and forth with Suzan that we are holding off on.  
 

Political Activity Policy - Ed said the Board sent the policy back to the Committee to look 
at employees running for public office or being elected to public office. Irene shared on-screen an e-mail 
from Marty Kelsey to Ed Tardoni and Irene. Ed said we have a lot of things to consider including what 
our budget will bear. He asked that when it is developed, bring it back to the Committee and he and 
Barbara will ask questions about it. Barbara clarified the policy is to be expanded to include information 
for running for office. Barbara said we need to decide what is the best thing for the organization. Irene 
shared her opinion and said she feels it is like a second job.  
 
V. NEW BUSINESS 
 

None 
 

36/55



 

 
 
VI. COMMITTEE MEMBER REPORTS: 
 

None.  

 
VII. NEXT MEETING DATE: 
 
The next meeting is Monday, November 16, 2020. 
 
Ed thanked everyone for participating. The meeting adjourned at 3:40 PM. 

37/55



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Date:  October 24, 2020 
Subject: Chair’s Report…October Buildings and Grounds Committee Meeting 
 
Below are some highlights of the October Building and Grounds Committee meeting; the 
minutes given the Board provide more information and detail. 
 
Regarding the Central Plant Expansion project: Discussion ensued regarding why the project is 
at least four months behind schedule. About $300,000 is being retained at this time. Still no 
substantial completion but a preliminary punch list has been achieved. Mr. Blevins stated they  
have learned a lot of lessons and next contract will include liquidated damages for late 
completion. 
 
Regarding the HVAC & UV Project: Groathouse Construction, the general contractor, was to be 
on site last week. The GMP is expected soon. Mr. Blevins gave an overall update on progress, 
including needed governmental approvals. It was noted that now is a great time to begin a 
phased remodeling of a portion of medical imaging as this function will be relocated. Mr. 
Blevins and MHSC staff will present a recommendation to the Board at an appropriate time. 
 
Regarding the Laboratory project, Mr. Blevins stated that schematic design documents should 
be ready in a few days. 
 
Some discussion occurred regarding the Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room issue. More reviews 
will be forthcoming to determine an appropriate course of action. 
 
The Pharmacy Compounding Room project should be started in about two weeks. 
 
The Grounds Lean-To Project is almost done. Waiting on a chain link fence and gate to be 
installed. 
 
Regarding the fencing around the cooling towers discussed last meeting. It was decided to bid 
this out as a separate project rather than issue a change order to the contractor. 
 
Mr. Horan reported that since the new chiller plant is up and running, MHSC has experienced a 
savings of about $8,000 per month in electricity charges. 

38/55



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

October 20, 2020 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on October 20, 2020, at 

3:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

Dr. Barbara Sowada, Trustee 

Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. Jim Horan, Facilities Director 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Facilities Supervisor 

   Mr. Jake Blevins, ST&B Engineering 

   Ms. Leslie Taylor, Clinic Director 

 
    

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Ms. Richardson made a motion to approve the agenda.  Mr. Horan seconded; motion passed. 

 

Dr. Sowada made a motion to approve the minutes from the September 15, 2020 meeting, Ms. 

Richardson seconded; motion passed. 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Horan presented the maintenance metrics.  All metrics have been standard and steady.  

Overtime is expected to increase with the arrival of the winter months.  The Facilities department 

is slightly over budget each month but we continue to submit requests for reimbursement from our 

County Maintenance fund.  

 
 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Central Plant Expansion 

 

Mr. Blevins said the preliminary punch list was issued to the Contractor.  Subcontractors are onsite 

this week to work through the punch list.  He said he would also be onsite this week and will check 

in with BHI.  His Site Observation Specialist will also be onsite to review the project.  He said 

BHI is pushing the subs to be done by the end of the month. Harris still needs to run through the 

functional testing of the controls.  Dr. Sowada asked why the subcontractors were so slow.  Mr. 

Blevins said they struggled to find pipefitters in the market once we asked them to ramp up.  She 

asked if our experience with these subcontractors will be considered with future projects.  Mr. 

Blevins said there have been lessons learned and we will be including liquidated damages in future 

contracts.  Mr. Kelsey thanked Mr. Blevins for his report.  

 

 

 

 

39/55



 

 

Minutes of the October 20, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

SLIB/CARES Act Projects 

 

HVAC & UVC – Mr. Blevins provided an update. The general contractor, Groathouse, will be 

onsite this week to discuss mobilization and to meet with staff regarding expectations.  He said 

submittals are being reviewed as they come in.  We did receive a response from the State for the 

permitting and have a few minor issues to respond back.  The asbestos report came back and we 

will need abatement on the roof area.  The City of Rock Springs should release the electrical permit 

by the end of this week.  Mr. Blevins said we are expecting the GMP from Groathouse soon.  Mr. 

Kelsey asked about items we can purchase directly.  Mr. Blevins responded the air handler unit 

was the only item to be direct purchased and the hospital has already made that purchase.  The 

architect and engineer fees will also be direct purchases of the owner.  Mr. Horan asked if about 

considering remodeling a portion of Medical Imaging as these areas will be relocated for this 

project.  Dr. Sowada asked for a recommendation to the Committee and Ms. Richardson 

commented we would highly recommend moving forward with a phased remodel of the areas.  She 

said we have preliminary cost figures and have the funds available.  Mr. Kelsey agreed it was a 

perfect time to look at this project and would like to see a recommendation to the Board.  Mr. 

Blevins said he will need to talk to Plan One Architects to review scope overlay with the current 

project.  He also gave Groathouse a courtesy heads up of the possibility of the new project and that 

the ceiling scope may change.  

 

MOB Entrance – Mr. Kelsey said the decision was made to put this project on hold.  Ms. 

Richardson said we may revisit if SLIB changes their rules and timelines.  

 

Laboratory – Mr. Blevins said the architect schematic design documents should be ready by the 

end of this week.  He is working with Will Wheatley of Plan One to look at options for the HVAC 

unit servicing this area.  

 

Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room – Mr. Horan and Mr. Blevins met with staff and it was agreed to 

wait until the new year to start this project.  Mr. Kelsey asked if it was determined there is no 

imminent danger to justify bringing in an industrial hygienist at this time.  Mr. Blevins there has 

not been an analysis done at this time.  Ms. Richardson and Mr. Blevins agreed we would circle 

back around and look at our contacts to make this happen.  

 

Pharmacy Compounding Room – Mr. Johnston said the doors have been ordered.  Once we are 

notified of shipping, we will start.  He estimates a start date in about two weeks.  

 

Grounds Lean-To – Mr. Horan said we are waiting on the chain link fence and gate to be installed.  

We should be able to close this project out by the next meeting. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked about the status of the potential change order on the Central Plant for fencing.  

Mr. Blevins said he didn’t want to move forward with that under the current BHI contract.  It was 

decided to work with Mr. Wheatley on a design and we would bid it out as a separate project. 

 

Emergency Room Outside Drainage – Mr. Johnston said they will start either this Thursday or 

next week.  It will take about four days to complete and they will also be working on some concrete 

replacement at 3000 College Hill. 

 

 

40/55



 

 

Minutes of the October 20, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

Tabled Projects   

 

Bulk Oxygen Renovation and Grading – Mr. Horan said there is nothing new to add at this point. 

Replacement Roofing for Power House – Mr. Horan said this is still on for the spring. 

OB Bathtubs to Showers – Mr. Horan said this is still on hold. 

 

 

New Business 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked if our snow removal equipment is ready to go.  Mr. Horan said yes and they are 

pleased to have the new Lean-To to store the equipment.  He also mentioned he did include a new 

truck in the capital budget for this year. 

 

Ms. Richardson asked about the need to have the SLIB grant capital requests brought to this 

Committee for approval. Mr. Kelsey and Dr. Sowada agreed they would not need to come to 

Building & Grounds as they will be ratified at the Board meeting. 

 

Mr. Kelsey thanked Mr. Blevins and the staff for all the work put into these projects.  He said he 

would like to come up for a tour of the projects. 

 

Mr. Horan said since the new chiller plant up and running, we have seen savings of $8,000 per 

month.  We will also be receiving an incentive of $90,000 from Rocky Mountain Power once the 

project is complete.  He will bring the graphs showing the tracking to the next meeting. We are 

actually using less electricity now then prior to building our MOB.   

 

The next meeting will be held November 17 at 3:30 p.m. 

 

Dr. Sowada made a motion to adjourn.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed. 

 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

41/55



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BUILDING & GROUNDS COMMITTEE AGENDA 

Tuesday ~ October 20, 2020  3:30 p.m.  Zoom teleconference     

Voting Board Committee Members: Marty Kelsey, Chairman Dr. Barbara Sowada 

Voting Staff Committee Members: Irene Richardson, Tami Love, Jim Horan 

Non-voting Members: Gerry Johnston, Stevie Nosich, Jake Blevins – ST&B, Jeff Smith, County Commissioner Liaison 

 

1. Call Meeting to Order      Marty Kelsey 

 

2. Approve Agenda      Marty Kelsey 

3. Approve Minutes – September 15, 2020   Marty Kelsey 

4. Maintenance Metrics      Jim Horan 

a. Work orders  

b. Amount of overtime for month 

c. Budget variance 

5. Old Business       Jim Horan 

a. Project Review 

i. Central Plant expansion 

ii. SLIB/CARES Act Projects  

1. HVAC/UVG 

2. MOB Entrance 

3. Laboratory 

iii. Pharmacy Chemo Mixing room 

iv. Pharmacy Compounding room 

v. Grounds lean-to 

vi. Emergency Room outside drainage 

b. Tabled projects 

i. Bulk Oxygen renovation and grading 

ii. Replacement roofing for power house  

iii. OB Bathtubs to Showers 

6. New Business       Marty Kelsey 

7. Next meeting schedule      Marty Kelsey 

a. November 17, 2020 Classroom 1 or Zoom; 3:30P – 4:30P 

8. Adjournment       Marty Kelsey 

42/55



 

Compliance Probe Audit of the Guest Relations Process 
 

Purpose: 
Evaluate the equitable, efficient response to patient grievances from intake to resolution. 
 
Introduction: 
A probe audit has been conducted for compliancy in MHSC’s process of grievance resolution. This 

process is outlined in MHSC policy “Guest Relations Policy and Procedure” (PolicyStat ID 3112659). It 

should be noted that this policy was replaced in July 2020, by “Grievance Process” (PolicyStat ID 

7972705). This audit specifically focuses on section II “Procedure”, part C subsection 1a, 3, 4, 5f iii, 6 and 

7 which will be discussed in detail below.  

 

Method and Sample: 
Data for this audit was collected from the MIDAS+ Care Management, Patient Relations tab. 110 

grievances were in the system for calendar year 2019. Using the website Calculator.net, 30 random 

numbers were drawn. Those numbers were then matched to the corresponding grievance in the MIDAS 

system.  Each grievance was audited using the “Grievance Policy Compliancy” checklist found in our 

compliancy manager program, Healthicity. The checklist consists of 8 questions directly related to 

compliancy with the policy “Guest Relations and Procedure”.  

 

Objective: 
1. After auditing the qualifying grievances, determine what percentage are compliant in the 

following areas; 

a. Documentation that the patient was contacted within one (1) business day of lodging their 

grievance. (Section II, part C, subsection 1a) 

b. Resolution of the grievance in 7-10 business days. (Section II, part C, subsection 3) 

c. Resolution of the grievance in 30 days. (Section II, part C, subsection 3) 

d. If a resolution could not be made in 30 days, the patient is notified regularly of this. (Section 

II, part C subsection 4) 

e. Review of the grievance by the Grievance Committee. (Section II, part F, subsection 5iii) 

f. The patient is notified of the resolution via their preferred method of contact. (Section II, 

part C, subsection 7) 

g. A resolution letter was sent to the patient. (Section II, part C, subsection 8) 

h. If a letter was not sent, documentation of the reason. (Section II, part C, subsection 8) 

i. Documentation of the resolution letter. (Section II, part C, subsection 8) 

 

 
Results: 
Of the 30 grievances reviewed, 100% (30/30) were contacted within one business day.  46.7% (14/30) 
were resolved within 7-10 business days and 63.3% (19/30) were resolved in 30 days. 20% (2/11) of the 
grievances had documentation indicating weekly correspondence when a resolution took longer than 30 
days. 90% (27/30) of the grievances were reviewed by the Grievance Committee.  93.3% (28/30) of the 
grievants were notified of the resolution via their preferred method of contact. A resolution letter was 

43/55



 

sent to 76.7% (23/30) of the grievants. Of the 7 that did not receive a letter, 3 requested no follow up, 3 
had no information on file and 1 was not sent at the request of the Grievance Committee. 76.6% (23/30) 
of the grievances had the resolution letter documented in MIDAS and 23.4% (7/30) did not. These 
letters could exist in a file on the hard drive, but that was not reviewed.  
 

Findings: 
Based on the results of this audit, MHSC is compliant more often than not in resolving patient 

grievances. Given that a new policy has since been implemented, this audit will be marked a passing 

grade with no further recommendations at this time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44/55



 

Grievance Policy Compliancy  

Answer Summary 

ID Question 

1712 

Is it documented that the patient was contacted within 24 hours of placing their 

grievance?  

100% Yes 

1713 

Was this grievance reviewed by the Grievance Committee and is this documented in 

MIDAS?  

90% Yes, Yes 10% No, No 

1714 
Was the grievance resolved within 7-10 business days?  

46.7%Yes, 53.3%No 

1715 
Was the grievance resolved within 30 days?  

63.3% Yes, 36.7% No 

1719 
If no, was adequate contact maintained with the patient (at least once a week)?  

20% Yes, 16.7% No, 63.3% Not Applicable 

1716 
Was the patient notified about the resolution via their preferred method of contact?  

93.3% Yes, 6.7% Not Applicable 

1717 
Was a resolution letter sent to the patient?  

76.7% Yes, 23.3% No 

1720 

If a letter was not sent, what reason was given?  

10% No info on file, 10% Patient requested no follow up, 3.3% Committee requested no 

follow up.  

  

45/55



 

ID Question 

1718 Is the resolution letter documented in MIDAS?  

76.6% Yes, 23.3% No 

 

 
 

46/55



Reports for Board Compliance Committee   10-22-2020 

1. 9 behavioral health patients. 0 were in seclusion or restrains.  The flow sheet has been created 

and is working well.  Added to the flow sheet will be suicide risk assessment, only 5 of the 9 

patients in September had a completed suicide risk assessment completed. 

 

2. There were 4 HIPPA violations reportable for the month of September. 2 came from 

Fairwarning, 1 was a HIPAA violation with remediation, and one was dismissed. 2 were reported 

to HR by staff with appropriate remediation. There has been a glitch with getting Suzan notified. 

I believe that has been resolved, but will continue to monitor it. 

 

3. The Grievance Committee reviewed 6 cases. Each of the cases were reviewed and resolved in a 

timely manner.  

 

 

4.  Ongoing Audits by April Prado 

a. Denial Management 

b. Peer review OPPE, FPPE 

47/55



 

 
 

 

 

 

Compliance Work Plan 

FY 2020-2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

Compliance Work Team 

Updated 6/2020 

Approved 6-24-2020 by Board Compliance Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

48/55



2 
 

 

 

 The following risks were identified by priority areas during the 2019 Compliance Risk 

Assessment.  This assessment was performed by the Compliance Work Team, a 

multidisciplinary group dedicated to compliance with legal and regulatory compliance.  What 

follows is the work plan for the calendar year 2020 that aims to address the largest compliance 

risk areas.  This work plan may change throughout the year in response to previously unknown 

risks.   

 

 

 

1. Identify Compliance Risk Areas/Emerging Risks 

Risk Score – 210 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Education – Educate staff members on reporting risks and the availability of the Compliance 

Hotline.  This will be completed by Director of Compliance and Risk Management in 

conjunction with the Director of Human Resources.  Task is due by December of 2020. 

Education will be completed by the Director of Compliance and Risk Management in 

conjunction with the Safety Committee chair. 

10/22/2020 update this will be included in annual education 

 

Audits – Five probe audits will be completed in 2020-2021 by Compliance Auditor in 

various topics using the Compliance Manager audit format.  One probe audit is to be 

completed each quarter, with a fifth one completed in any quarter of the year.  Topics can be 

randomly selected, or be selected by the work group if concern is noted on any of the topics. 

These audits will be presented to the Board Compliance Committee. 

10/22/2020 2 have been completed,  

Checklist – The work group and Compliance Committee will complete the Measuring 

Compliance Program Effectiveness guide by April 2020.  Completion of this checklist will 

likely create further actions.  

I am looking for the check list 

10/22/2020 check list presented in 7-22-2020 meeting 

 

 

2. Medical Malpractice Claim Submission 

Risk Score – 210 

Risk Choice – Accept/Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Insurance risk audit is currently being performed by Applied Risk Solutions.  The original 

plan was to audit the submission quarterly.  After discussion with legal, the new plan is to 

49/55



3 
 

await the results of the risk audit and create a new workflow based on the results.  Internal 

audits will be scheduled following this step.  

I am working with Suzan on this. 

Still working with Applied Risk Solutions. 

 

3. Professional Services Billing 

Risk Score – 208 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Work Group Formation – The Revenue Cycle Team was created internally to monitor 

various aspects of revenue cycle.  They have been tasked with forming a standardized 

process for appropriate professional services billing. 

 

Process Formation – A standardized process for professional services billing is being created 

to ensure common practice among the various providers.  

 

Audits – Once the process has been formed, audits will be scheduled quarterly to be 

performed by the Compliance Auditor. 

This is a current  audit. 

10/22/2020 presented 9/24/2020 

 

4. New Software Implementation 

Risk Score – 195 

Risk Choice – Mitigate  

 

Mitigations: 

 

Process Formation – The IT department will formulate a general process for the 

implementation of new software programs. 

This is being done by Rich Tyler. I am waiting for his response. 

10/22/20202 present at this meeting 

Audits – Internal audits will be performed on each implementation of new software in 2020 

by the established process. 

 

This will begin with implementation of new software. 

 

5. Coding Training and Education 

Risk Score – 154 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Process Formation – HIM Director has created a new education process for oncoming staff.  

Current staff has been educated to this new orientation plan. 

50/55



4 
 

 

Audits – One-time audits will be performed when a new employee is hired to this 

department.  Turnover is low in the department which does not present many opportunities. 

We should be able to do an audit in the near future. 

10/22/2020 HIM to report 11/2020 

 

 

6. HIPAA Privacy and Security Regulations 

Risk Score – 144 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Education - Educate staff members HIPAA Privacy and Security Regulations at staff 

meetings.  This will be completed by Director of Compliance and Risk Management in 

conjunction with the Director of Human Resources.  Task is due by December of 2020. 

This education will be incorporated into new hire as well as annual education. 

 

Monitoring – Monitoring will continue via reporting and the FairWarning automated system. 

More systems are being added to FairWarning monitoring. 

10/22/2020 Working with IT and HIM to stream line a process. 

 

Audit – HIPAA Security Risk Audit is being performed by a third party organization.  

Actions will follow this audit.  

This was put on hold because of COVID -19 and will resume as able.  We are continuing to 

monitor through Fairwarning as well as Healthicity for compliance. Health Information 

Management (HIM) is doing the investigations.  The Director of Compliance and Risk 

management will meet at least monthly, (this can be done via telephone), to discuss potential 

HIPAA violations. 

10/22/2020 This was accomplished I am waiting for an official report. We have two thirds of 

the report, this should be completed by next meeting. 

 

7. Denial Management 

Risk Score – 143 

Risk Choice – Accept 

 

Mitigations:  

 

Audits – Quarterly audits are to be performed on the established Patient Financial Services 

process for monitoring denials.  The audits will be due the last day of each quarter and will 

be performed by the Compliance Auditor.  

This is currently being audited and will be presented to the Board Compliance Committee 

when completed. 

 

10/22/2020 currently working on 

 

51/55



5 
 

8. Recovery Audit Contractor Readiness 

Risk Score – 135 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Process Formation – The Revenue Cycle Team has been tasked with creating a process for 

the efficient/accurate response to RAC audits.   

 

Audit – Semi-annual audits will be performed on the process for RAC audit readiness.  This 

will be contingent upon the presence of a RAC audit.  The audits will be performed by the 

Compliance Auditor and be due at the last day of the second and fourth quarter. This helps us 

to find out if we are prepared for RAC audit. 

10/22/2020 April will reach out to Tami to see what needs to be looked at. 

 

9. Patient Grievances and Guest Relations 

Risk Score – 132 

Risk Choice – Accept 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Process Formation – New process/group was formulated in September of 2019 to facilitate 

more standardized and efficient resolution of patient grievances. This process was revamped 

in January to accommodate transition to the new Director of Compliance and 

Risk/Management. 

 

Policy Update – Facility policy will be updated to reflect the new process.  

 

Audits – Quarterly audits will be performed internally on this established process.  The audits 

will be due by the last day of each quarter and be performed by a member of the work team.   

Audits will be performed by the Compliance Auditor 

10/22/2020 included in this meeting packet 

 

10. Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 

Risk Score – 130 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Audits – A third party HIPAA Security audit will be performed and report provided.   

 

Testing – Penetration testing will be performed using a third party organization.  Actions will 

likely follow this event.  

This process was put on hold because of COVID-19 and will resume as soon as able. Current 

work within the different units are commencing to secure downtime procedures are effective 

in case any one of the EMR’s are highjacked. 

52/55



6 
 

10/22/2020 Still on hold 

 

 

 

11. Anti-Kickback Law 

Risk Score – 126 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Policy Update – The Code of Conduct will be updated to include behavior management 

standards as well as an expanded explanation of the Anti-Kickback requirements.  This will 

be due by the last day of April 2020.  Draft is to be completed by the Director of Compliance 

and Risk Management and approved by all appropriate committees. Suzan has asked to work 

on this project. 

 

 

 

12. Workers Compensation Claim Submission 

Risk Score – 121 

Risk Choice – Accept 

 

Mitigations 

 

Audits – A semi-annual audit will be performed by the Compliance Auditor on this process.  

This will be contingent upon the presence of claims.  These will be due on the last day of the 

second and fourth quarters.  

10/22/2020 Due December 

 

 

13. Patient Safety Program 

Risk Score – 120 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Committee Formation – The Safety Committee has been formed to take a comprehensive 

view of safety concerns. This is an evolving committee and is moving forward. 

10/22/2020 Gabriell S. was chair of this committee and her last day is the 22nd. A request for 

replacement has been filed with HR and quality will continue with the culture of safety plan. 

This was presented on 10/21/2020 to the Quality Board. 

 

 

14. Stark Law – Education and Policy 

Risk Score – 117 

Risk Choice – Mitigate 

53/55



7 
 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Process Formation – In-house counsel has been tasked with creating a standardized process 

for proactively addressing Stark concerns through policy, contracts, and education.  

 

 

 

15. Contract Staff v. Employed Staff 

Risk Score – 110 

Risk Choice – Accept 

 

Mitigations: 

 

Audits – Semi-annual audits on the process for requesting/obtaining contract staff will be 

performed by the Internal Audit Specialist.  These will be due on the last day of the first and 

third quarter.  

 An audit was performed for the physicians, “Compliance probe audit of the Credentialing 

Process for MHSC Practitioners, and was presented in the November 18, 2019 board packet.   

 

The next audit will be done for employed vs. contract clinical staff, ie. Nursing, radiology, 

respiratory.   

10/22/202 Quality has indicated this shall be done every two years. 

 

 

54/55



 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Governance Committee Meeting 

October 9, 2020 

Zoom Meeting 

 

Voting Members Present: Richard Mathey, Irene Richardson, and Barbara Sowada 

Non-voting Members Present: Suzan Campbell 

Call Meeting to Order 

Richard Mathey called meeting to order at 2:00 pm. 

 

Discussion 

Agenda was created during the meeting. 

Minutes of last month’s meeting had previously been approved. 

New Business 

1. Revision of Bylaws was initiated. Chapter VII-Medical Staff was reviewed and revisions suggested. 

Suzan will research questions that arose during the discussion and bring the revised draft of this 

section to the next Governance Committee meeting. 

 

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:30 pm. 

Submitted by Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

 

55/55


	Agenda - October 29 2020 Mtg Workshop
	Our Mission 0&gt;d VisioD
	1. Maintenance of Board and Board Committee Meeting Minutes 
	Termination and Appeal Procedure for Oct 29 meeting
	Physicians
	Sentinel Event Policy
	SLIB Capital Expenditure Request
	Quality Committee...Chair&apos;s Report October 2020
	10.21.20 Quality Minutes
	Quality Risk Accrediation Safety Summary - October
	HR Committee Packet for Board - October 29 2020
	Human Resources Minutes October 19 2020 Draft
	Buildings and Grounds Committee...Chair&apos;s Report October 2020
	Building and Grounds Comm Minutes October 20 2020 Draft
	2020 Agenda October
	Compliance Probe Audit of the Guest Relations Process June 2020
	Reports 10.22.2020
	Compliance Work Plan FY 2020.2021 a
	Governance Committee

